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China Everbright Environment Group Limited (“Everbright
Environment” or the “Company”) is a flagship enterprise of
China Everbright Group Ltd. in the industrial sector, and is
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (257.HK). Since shifting
its business focus to the environmental sector in 2003, the
Company has grown into the largest environmental enterprise
in China, a leading player in Asia’s environmental protection
industry, the world’s largest waste-to-energy investor and
operator, and a world-renowned environmental group.

Everbright Environment has two listed subsidiaries: China
Everbright Water Limited, which is listed on the Mainboard of
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (U9E.SG & 1857.HK), and
China Everbright Greentech Limited, which is listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (1257.HK). As the first
one-stop integrated environmental solution provider in China,
Everbright Environment focuses on three major areas, namely
solid waste, water-related business and clean energy. Its
main businesses cover waste-to-energy and integrated waste
treatment, integrated biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid
waste treatment, new energy, environmental remediation,
water environment management, equipment manufacturing,
waste sorting, environmental sanitation integration, resource
recycling, development of zero-waste cities, research and
development relating to green technologies, ecological
and environmental planning and designing, as well as
environmental protection industrial parks. The Company has a
business presence in 229 cities, counties and districts across
25 provinces, municipalities, autonomous regions and one
special administrative region in China, as well as overseas
markets including Germany, Poland, Vietnam and Mauritius.

Everbright Environment is a strategic partner of the
International Coalition for Green Development on the Belt and
Road and the Ecological Protection and Green Development
of the Yangtze River Economic Belt. The Company adheres
to its corporate mission of being “Devoted to Ecology and
Environment for a Beautiful China”, and has been granted
various accolades at home and abroad. It has been ranked
the top among the “Top Ten Influential Solid Waste Treatment
Enterprises in China” for 14 consecutive years and top on the
list of China’s Top 50 Environmental Enterprises by Revenue.
With the aspiration of “Creating Investment Value and
Undertaking Social Responsibility”, the Company has been a
constituent member of Dow Jones Sustainability Indices for
nine years running and Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability
Benchmark Index for 14 years running. Everbright Environment
was also included as a member of S&P Global’s Sustainability
Yearbook multiple times.
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LI Shuk Yin, Edwina
ZHANG Xiang
(appointed on 26 March 2025)
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POON Yuen Ling
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DeHeng Law Offices (Hong Kong) LLP

Global Law Office

AUDITOR
KPMG
Certified Public Accountants
(Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council
Ordinance)

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
(with effect from 17 February 2025)
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Financial Highlights BA#Z#E5R

2024 2023 Percentage
> 111 = 5 s = Change
HK$'000 HK$'000 B
BETT BT T EE
RESULTS e
Revenue & 30,258,009 32,090,207 —-6%
EBITDA* BRAISIRIBNITER
BRI A A 10,074,731 12,827,961 -21%

Profit attributable to equity holders AT #EFZHFHA A

of the Company E{L R F 3,377,200 4,429,160 —24%
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) A% 58 & % [C]%R (%) 7.01 9.27 -2.26ppt?
Basic earnings per share ERERRT

(HK cents) B 54.98 72.10 —24%
FINANCIAL POSITION SR
Total assets B ELRRE 186,027,024 189,182,824 -2%
Total liabilities =REREE 119,610,448 123,659,603 -3%
Equity attributable to equity holders & AT #ZIFHAHE A

of the Company FE(L T 48,210,960 48,140,888 +0%
Net asset value per share KANBHERFTEA

attributable to equity holders EEEREEFE

of the Company (HK$) (&) 7.848 7.837 +0%
Gearing ratio (%)* BEEABBLE%) 64 65 -1ppt*
Current ratio (%) REN LR (%) 134 114 20ppt*

* Gearing ratio means the ratio of total liabilities to total assets.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited FREI}AIRE: (M) BRAF

ppt — percentage point

EBITDA is the profit for the year before deduction of interest, taxation,
depreciation and amortisation.

*OBRRE MBS TERBEA AN SRR E R

ENTERBIERZATFERA -

* ppt-ED

v EEAGHEXIEEERENEERE LR
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First Quarter of 2024
—E_NEE—FE

e Gansu Wuwei Waste-to-energy Project successfully e
registered as an international Verified Carbon Standard
(VCS”) project, marking the Group’s first VCS-certified
project and a new milestone in the Group’s practice in
carbon asset development and management

e Invested in and secured Guangdong Guangzhou Guangbao
Distributed Energy Storage Project, representing the
Group’s first project of this type, further expanding the
Group’s clean energy business scope

e Included in S&P Global's 2023 Sustainability Yearbook e
for the 7th time, another authoritative recognition for the
Group’s sustainable development performance

H AR R R LIR % B8 B a0 A& E R
ZEBEBHRE (TVCS ) HE  AE
EEEEVCSRBER  BHELEEH
EREERRAEERFEDEREMNER
DES

RELEIFEREMNER %%%ﬁﬁﬁ‘t{u%‘
FEER Bt AEEEEMERE

— S HERTEBRBEEREFLE

BERAEREEIK(2023F 0] &A%
REE) xEBRFKELRREBE
BEEE

China Everbright Environment Group Limited
China Everbright Environment Group Limited

Sustainability
Yearbook Member

S&P Global Corporate Sustainability
Assessment (CSA) Score 2023

S&P Global CSA Score 2023: 55100

Bcone date: February 7, 2024

The S&P Global Corpx Sustainabiity (CSA) Scone s the SEP
Giobal ESG Scone without the inclusicn of any modalling approaches.
Pesation and scores are indusiry specific and reflec! exclusion screening crilstia
Learn more al hitps www. spglobal comiesg! odelogy!

S&P Global Qg Sustainable1

China Everbright Environment Group Limited Bl AR &EE) BRAE



Second Quarter of 2024

—E_MEEFE

The Vietnamese Prime Minister Pham Minh Chinh attended
the completion ceremony of the Group’s Hue Waste-to-
energy Project and visited the project site, showcasing the
cooperation achievements between China and Vietnam in
the field of green economy

Secured biogas purification and refinement business by
unveiling value in operating projects, further enhancing
project operational synergies and efficiency

Convened the Company’s 2024 annual general meeting
Leveraged on project synergy effects and expanded Anhui
Xiao County Biomass Gasification Project, representing
the Group’s first project of this type, further enhancing the
overall utilisation level of biomass

Implemented Jiangsu Changzhou Waste Battery Recycling
and Resource Utilisation Project, marking the Group’s
inaugural project of this kind and also the first benchmark
project for the implementation of the national major
technical equipment of this kind in China

HERECRHRHEAEE-mMEIB(C
REHBEBRIEN  BM2SHERAR
% RIR T Pl B 7 A B A E SR B RY
EREES

ZBEEREER BREARFLRM
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Third Quarter of 2024
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China Everbright Greentech Limited, a subsidiary listed
company of the Group, completed its first green certificate
transaction, marking an important step for the Group in
exploring new pathways for green electricity and low-
carbon transformation

Shortlisted in the “2024 Top 500 Global New Energy
Enterprises”, ranking the 82th place

Supported by the Environment and Ecology Bureau of
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China, the Group
launched the “Green Wings Program”, a public
environmental education initiative aimed at inspiring the
youth and the general public in Hong Kong to develop
a passion for and understanding of environmental
protection, fostering a consensus on green and low-
carbon development

Mr. Wang Silian was appointed as the Executive Director
and Chairman of the board of the Company
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Fourth Quarter of 2024

—ENFEFENEFE

In the presence of the President of the Republic of
Uzbekistan (“Uzbekistan”) Uzbekistan President Shavkat
Mirziyoyev, a joint development agreement was signed
with Uzbekistan in relation to waste-to-energy projects in
Ferghana and Namangan Provinces, contributing to the
country’s environmental protection and green development
Developed the Group’s “15th Five-Year” preliminary
strategic plan and identified the three major development
directions, namely technology-driven development, an
internationalisation path and an industrial ecological
system, initiating a “Second-stage Entrepreneurship” to
gather momentum for high-quality development
Combined with the ongoing solid implementation of
safety and environmental management work, for the first
time, the Group arranged a dedicated duty room at the
headquarters, with the management on duty for 24 hours
and middle management staff presenting on-site, resulting
in zero production safety accidents or safety incidents of
level four or above occurring throughout 2024

Five self-developed and manufactured equipment projects,
including incinerators (small-scale furnaces inclusive),
water-cooled incinerators, a complete set of leachate
treatment equipment, a complete set of flue gas treatment
equipment, and rotary kilns for hazardous and medical
waste treatment, passed EU CE certificating, providing
strong support for further expansion into the European
market

Ranked the first in the “2024 Top 50 Chinese
Environmental Enterprises by Revenue”

Included in the Dow Jones Sustainability Indices for the
9th consecutive year

Ranked the first in the “Top Ten Influential Solid Waste
Treatment Enterprises in China” for the 14th consecutive
year
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Chairman’s Statement FEIRS

WANG SILIAN
F B Ek

Chairman of the Board
EFEFE

In 2024, the world was undergoing an accelerated evolution of great changes unseen in a century, posing
considerable development challenges for the environmental protection industry. China Everbright Environment
Group Limited (“Everbright Environment” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), a world-
renowned environmental group and a leading player in Asia’s environmental protection industry, continued to
uphold the philosophy of “Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful China”. Overcoming challenges
through perseverance, the Group was committed to strengthening core business management and building core
capabilities, thereby solidifying the foundation for stability and fostering a momentum for progress to achieve
robust and sustainable development. For six consecutive years, the Group remained at the top of the “Top 50
Chinese Environmental Enterprises” and has been ranked first in the “Top 10 Influential Solid Waste Treatment
Enterprises in China” for 14 consecutive years. The Group was also awarded the “Outstanding Enterprise
Contribution Award for the 75th Anniversary of the Founding of the PRC” and recognised as an “Outstanding
High-Quality Development Listed Company”.

TEINE HRAEFERMRELE BROTEDERANEENSH -FAERMLERRIBEER  NRR
TEBELE PENAAIRE (EB) BRAE (HAREBIRARE ERENBAR  RBIAEER)) #E
FARTEBRERRE REZETEINES BREE MBEELE EHNaRO0EREEMZOENER
FEMBIWRE EENE WA EREEMUFENEE BE \FEE TTHEIIRIEL 5058 HE  BE
+NEBETEE+ARENCE B BERHPERUSEESHCXSHMR BT a8 ELHA
Bl IFRES o

! The ranking was renamed to “Top 50 Chinese Environmental Enterprise by Revenue in 2024”.
U EBBERZE_NEELAHREIRIE RS IR6058]

China Everbright Environment Group Limited SEI¥ AR &EE) BRAE



This year, we focused on the well-being of the populace while making significant strides in
environmental protection. The Group actively engaged in the pursuit of blue skies, clear waters, and clean
lands, serving the major regional development strategies in China. The Group invested in and operated 193
waste-to-energy projects, 162 waste water treatment projects, and 31 integrated biomass utilisation projects, all
at a high-quality standard, diligently serving approximately 160 million residents. Throughout the year, the Group
generated 27.7 billion kWh of electricity from its projects, sufficient to meet the annual electricity needs of more
than 23 million households. This output is equivalent to saving more than 11 million tonnes of standard coal and
displacing Carbon Dioxide (CO2) emissions by over 13 million tonnes, which is equivalent to the volume of CO:2
absorbed by approximately 720 million trees in one year. The Group also treated 1.763 billion m® of waste water,
resulting in a reduction of chemical oxygen demand discharge by more than 850,000 tonnes.

E—F HRAREREGU FEPNRREFREZ- FABEEXR B2 FLREFE BEBERFEREKR
EHERBE SHEREEZIEANKREBEL 1625 KEEEE - S1EEYEGSFBES >
BORB1.60BAL - 2FEE277RTERF EME2 3002 BERE—FHAEFTE ; HENHORE
#1008 M B S CHHEREAET,3008 M > HERA7 208 RE —FREH —AIEHKRE? - EE 5K
17.63RIL K B MMEEFREHFNEBSSE M -

This year, we concentrated on strategic leadership while continuously exploring transformation
pathways. Adhering to a problem-oriented approach, we conducted in-depth research and proposed
the strategic goal of “Building a World-Class Integrated Environmental Service Provider with Chinese
Characteristics”, and reaffirmed the core development directions, namely technology as a driving force,
an internationalisation path, and an industrial ecological system, initiating the call for a “Second-stage
Entrepreneurship”.

E—F BRARKHRSIE FEFREESTE -BFEEER RABRBHE  2H TBREETEF B
R—MIRRGRERB ) BB R > B3k TR~ BIRE - R B9 TR — B #2038 R EBRS > BARR T — kA
R -

This year, our priority was to increase revenue while controlling costs in order to continuously
enhance operational quality and efficiency. Amid a growing gap in industry waste volumes, the Group
achieved a counter-trend growth in waste volumes by implementing the “12 Measures to Boost Waste Volume”.
Additionally, the Group increased electricity generation by 7% year-on-year through enhanced management
efficiencies. The average financing interest rate reached its lowest level in nearly five years. Furthermore, the
Group made significant breakthroughs in new business areas, including biomethane, battery recycling, zero-
carbon parks, virtual power plants, and green certificate trading.

E—F BABRKEWES FERAKEER -ETXUREROFTEMANET KT RAKE MK
TR BRUKEBYRARER - RZEENE  HBEERLIEM7 % FTHREN KA T HESFEREKT
EMRAR -BHMOW - SHREE - ERHBER GEXZSTHEFTIS KK -

2 According to the science popularisation channel of the People’s Daily web portal, a tree is capable of absorbing 18 kg of carbon
dioxide per annum.

2 REARGRE —RE—F0JRKR-AEHRIsTR

Annual Report 2024 —Z " [QFFH
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Chairman’s Statement R

This year, we committed ourselves to leading the industry through innovation, continuously
strengthening our technological capabilities. The Group established the Science and Technology
Committee to optimise the system and mechanisms for technological innovation, transforming dispersed
management into unified actions. The Group pushed ahead its major research projects, and implemented
the open competition mechanism to select the best candidate to lead research projects, in order to enhance
technological empowerment for traditional businesses while exploring transformative business models. Over the
year, the Group secured several provincial and ministerial-level technological honour awards and earned multiple
international certifications for ground-breaking and cutting-edge advancements. Several technologies were
successfully applied in practical projects, including the market launch of coke-cleaning robot service, which
enabled remote coke cleaning, eliminating safety pain points that have troubled the industry for years.

E—F RATRKANSIE HERERKBEN -ERAMIMKREZES  BIERRINERIEE & Thigalk
AIAH—F) RAMERRES B H8FEHA) > RIEMKHEGRES MFBEEBRR - 2GS
ZIRAERU LR E \BRBETKTEKTRE - 2EKMEEEBREBIEER BEATERRBEAS
5 BREINEETE HRRBTESENZ 2R -

This year, we prioritised investment-driven growth, continuously solidifying our market
position. By pursuing a dual internal-external strategy, the Group proactively expanded its market
presence, refined collaborative marketing frameworks, and established a three-tier marketing system
that includes headquarters, business sectors, and regional centres. The Group also implemented
the “Four Lists and One Ledger” system to secure multiple new investment projects while advancing
asset-light business, involving over RMB1.7 billion in investments and contracts valued at over
RMB1.8 billion. Significant progress was made in synergistic and light-asset projects, resulting in
an increasingly robust project portfolio. For the first time, the Group ventured into Central Asia,
signing a joint development agreement with the Republic of Uzbekistan in relation to waste-to-
energy projects in Ferghana and Namangan Provinces, actively establishing its presence in overseas
markets.

E—HF HAREREER FARADBHAU DR AT R BERAHETS  BICHBETHES  HBE2E
B EHBRIR BEH=RTHER BURESNE—GK - HEEZAREREREEEET I RKREER

D RSEHRHBRENEREZARER TAMMNMES TINIERFEERB NSRS NE BiBMHE B8 E
7% o

This year, our developmental foundations were further consolidated through risk prevention
efforts. For the first time, the Group proactively engaged with national ministries to devise
countermeasures, further reinforcing long-term mechanisms for dedicated working team(s), ledger
lists, assessments, and incentive measures. The annual recovery rate of accounts receivable rose
by nearly 7 percentage points compared to 2023. Collective efforts were mobilised to ensure safety,
strongly promoting the principle of “Start Safe, Finish Safe”. Notably, the Group achieved zero major
accidents for the first time in seven years.

E—HF AAREREVHE FEFELERER S NTHHEERLEZ SKEHZR E—FEEE
W AR FZ HE RUKS BURREFERER - _=FRATMMEAR DMK -BOWRNREE > K]
EERFPHE—FRH FREEEABR —FINER I7TERK BRER2FRBEREERER-

China Everbright Environment Group Limited FEI¥AIRE (M) BRAF



This year, our team grew stronger as we made significant efforts in team building. The Group
regards employees as the most valuable asset, deepening reforms in the personnel system and establishing
a comprehensive talent cultivation, management, and incentive mechanism to strengthen its professional
workforce. The Group has vigorously fostered a culture of execution characterised by “Real Action, Immediate
Implementation”, encouraging diligence and rewarding achievements, thereby uniting the Group to forge ahead
together.

E—F > BMBRERMER FERAEBNE-GEIACEEEENEE AR ASFIENRE B1L
TENATEE BEBRANMBKS REEXCHMER - ANEEENER B LB NRITHXE
WENENSE N BRI TNES 0 RO RIIERE D s WA BT RUHAZ

To incentivise innovation and entrepreneurship, salary adjustments were implemented for nearly
10,000 outstanding yet underpaid frontline employees. The Group remains committed to enhancing
employees’ sense of fulfilment and achievement in both professional and personal spheres.

HRARKBEE - HOBLRREFSNRARCNEBELETRAF SHEFEIN I - EEEAE=RER
MERFR -

This year, we spared no effort in our commitment to charitable initiatives that give back
to society. Leveraging our industrial expertise, the Group supported rural revitalisation through its
distinctive integrated biomass utilisation model, with Hunan Xinhua Waste-to-energy Project being
recognised as a “2024 China Livelihood Project”. In Hong Kong, the Group launched the “Green
Wings Program”, a public welfare initiative for environmental education, which integrated national
education for youth and earned the “Charity Case of the Year” at the China Charity Festival. Regular
public engagement activities, environmental workshops and energy-saving campaigns further
underscored the Group’s commitment to social stewardship.

E—H BMNEBEERBHE REEEQLGFTX -LYEAEXERPHIENRE  BENEVEGRENAE—
RBERAMMAEES  AEF L ENREBEEARE 2024FERE TR I B B MR R8I FBIR
REABAZTH REBERBEBAFT HREBFLERARABHE RETELAGH FEADEAE) -
FEREARAI RRIE REHESHTELE L AZ 8 ERFAEE-

These achievements are attributable to the dedication of every employee and the steadfast support from the

shareholders of the Company and partners of the Group. | hereby extend my deepest respect and gratitude to
all contributors.

BENBENEG AR —UEINFHTL URARTRRNAEBRSEBHINRE NXFFLIL R
7R AR B RB !
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Chairman’s Statement R

The path ahead is challenging, and we are acutely aware of this. The macroeconomic environment is full
of challenges and difficulties, and the environmental protection industry is facing significant developmental
bottlenecks. Additionally, the Group itself is encountering various new situations and challenges. In response,
the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) will nurture new opportunities amidst crises and establish
new strategies in a challenging landscape.

RAOBEMBHEE > RN BRLIFBR > RRGCEETNEE S DRBENNE RRITEERRANER
M AEEBSTEEHEZSTER MNB - HIL ARDEFERNCHPBEME RERTPREME -

In the next step of work, we will continue to pursue progress while maintaining stability and promoting stability
through progress. By focusing on its principal businesses and core responsibilities, the Group will deepen
the strategies of using technology as a driving force, pursuing an internationalisation path, and developing an
industrial ecological system. It will strive to vigorously increase revenue and create value, actively prevent and
mitigate risks in key areas, and consolidate its leading position in the environmental protection industry. By
enhancing its role in supporting ecological civilisation construction and social welfare, the Group will bolster
its core competencies and embark on a new journey of “Second-stage Entrepreneurship”, laying robust
foundations for a strong start to the 15th Five-Year Plan period.

AT —FPHIEFR BABBRFERARE UBREB BREXTE T FMETMIE—E) » KB KA iR
HHCHEBMEFRAR > ZEHREIRFITEREBM(D ERBESNHARZNT TR AEFIEBRZOINE =B
BOERE ) 2EBI ZRAIEIMIERE 28R+ AE A I RFHBSEE R

As Chairman of the Board, | feel a profound sense of responsibility. We will centre our efforts on comprehensive
benefits, strengthen governance transparency, enhance decision-making efficiency, to ensure the Group’s
stability and sustainability. At the same time, we pledge to actively engage with all stakeholders to shape a

brighter future for both the industry and the Group.

FREFEEIR RAMBEER - HMARLUGENmAZ0  BIEREERE  BIVRRMGE  BIREETT
REE BFRAMDBERERT HBTREEERFRR-

Thank you for your trust! May we work together in unity to achieve new heights!

BB AKBEEIBREFARORTT BAEE!

WANG SILIAN

Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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In 2024, the Group adhered to the principle of making steady progress and promoting stability through practical
measures. By focusing on its principal businesses and core responsibilities, it strengthened the core capabilities,
solidifying the foundation for stability and fostering an environment for progress. As a result, the Group drove
business performance improvement, and continuously consolidated its industry-leading position.

TECNF - FAEEBRFRDPRE - UBRB BRETEXTFER ENMBROEFEENRZOENER
BERINRE EEMEINES #HKEnFER FEEETEASEMA -
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Management Discussion and Analysis EIEfE 1R 04

In terms of operating performance, during the year under review, the Group, based on in-depth study and
research, as well as studies of domestic and international environment, formulated a preliminary strategic
development plan for the 15th Five-year Plan period, clearly identifying three major development directions,
namely technology as a driving force, an internationalisation path, and an industrial ecological system, initiating
the call for a “Second-stage Entrepreneurship”. The Group strengthened its investment and market expansion
efforts in both domestic and international markets, bolstering its growth momentum. It reinforced operations
management and optimised financial and budgetary coordination, enhancing revenue, controlling costs, and
improving the overall quality and efficiency of its business operations. The Group also emphasised technological
innovation, accelerating the transformation of technological achievements, empowering business development,
and fostering the establishment of a “Research Ecosystem”. Furthermore, the Group strengthened its
management foundation, utilising digitalisation and intelligence-driven tools to enhance governance capabilities.
Additionally, efforts were intensified to mitigate risks associated with existing assets of the Group and production
safety, thereby solidifying the foundation for its sustainable development.

Major operating indicators in 2024 are summarised below:

KEZRTE DBEFER AEERAFENR  HARNBED  GIE+ LRI BBRERTARE > AR
ME—2) (BRHRE-BERMEERE) ERrAS R AT ZRAIZFIMIER; RIEERINTHRERED
EoEgEEHt RtEEEE MHEARBEMS ST ENBIIEAR BAKLEEN ; BIER KA
FOHBRERREBE BEXFER HIBRMMALERE), RItEEER UHELEIFE BA
AEEN NRFERRREREE EEXEFHTENARBE  RFLERER-

TETNEFELKEXEERBRNT

2024 2023 Percentage
—E_NF = change
HKD’000 HKD’000 B
BETT BET T EE
Revenue I &= 30,258,009 32,090,207 -6%
Earnings before interest, BRAERIENTER
taxation, depreciation and BRI R A
amortisation (‘EBITDA”) 10,074,731 12,827,961 -21%
Profit attributable to equity ~ AT HIFHE AFEL
holders of the Company B 3,377,200 4,429,160 -24%
Basic earnings per share SRELRERN
(HK cents) (B 54.98 72.10 -24%

China Everbright Environment Group Limited FREI}AIRE: (M) BRAF



During the year under review, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$30,258,009,000, of which revenue from
operation services amounted to HK$19,429,550,000, representing an increase of 1% from 2023, while revenue
from construction services was HK$5,743,468,000, representing a decrease of 25% from 2023. The revenue
from operation services, construction services, and finance income accounted for 64%, 19% and 17% of the
total revenue, respectively.

During the year under review, the Group actively expanded its financing channels, and optimised its portfolio of
financing instruments. Through the Company and its listed subsidiaries, the Group timely secured window of
opportunity in the market in progressing the issuance of various types of bonds, including medium-term notes
(“MTNs”) and asset-backed securities (“ABS”) in an orderly manner, keeping the comprehensive capital cost
at a comparatively low level. The Group also strengthened its domestic and overseas credit line reserves and
foreign debt management. In 2024, the Group obtained various government funding subsidies amounting to
approximately RMB100 million. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had cash on hand amounting to HK$8.042
billion, representing a reasonable gearing level and a healthy financial position.

CEFERN > ZEEWD S HEERE30,258,009,0007T « H A > 8 = Ak # Wt /& B #19,429,550,0007T
RIZZ=F1ER1%; BERBWEABES,743,468,0000 M- B _=F H/D25% - FWmLES :
BERS WD BERTWE KM BWADHE64%19%K17% °

CNEFEN FEEEBERRERE TERELIRES BEREENHSEOMRIBERARATRE LS
MBAREFHETHER BEXFKESFIREFETIF SESESMAEH EBIEAKF ; MR
BRIEEEERBARIMBEEIF- S _NF AEEECHRIBESHPOARBIGT -BE
TETME+ A=+ —H cEBFEREABES0.42F7T BEKFEE  MB R RERE-
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In 2024, the major financing arrangements of the Group are summarised below:

—ENE AEERER

MEZBBEENT -

Issue date
1T HHA

Financing arrangements and uses of proceeds
MEZHRBEESETAR

Issue size (RMB)
BITRE (AR

January 2024
“EINE—A

China Everbright Water Limited (“Everbright Water”)
completed the issuance of the first tranche of MTNs for
2024 in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) for the
replenishment of working capital of its subsidiaries and
repayment of the interest-bearing debts of Everbright Water
or its subsidiaries.

FREIYERKBERRE (HERKHE) RPBRTHET S
_NEEF—HRBERER SEET AN AKBENE
REANEEEETREEARKBIENB LB EEH-

1.5 billion
158 7T

March 2024
—ZEmE=AR

The Company completed the issuance of the 2024 MTNs
(Series 1) in the PRC for the repayment of the interest-
bearing debts of the Group.
KABEFETHRET S _NEES
BETHANBEFAERNERER

—HTHHER 55

2 billion
20187t

April 2024
—EMEMNA

Everbright Water completed the issuance of the 2024 ABS
in the PRC for the repayment of the loans borrowed by
Everbright Water and its subsidiaries, as well as for their
replenishment of working capital.
HARKGBRABETERE T T _NFEER/RS 5EE
TAREENARKGRENBASMGERILMBRTEEES-

2 billion
20187t

May 2024
“ETNERA

The Company completed the issuance of the 2024 MTNs
(Series 2) in the PRC for the repayment of the MTNs
previously issued by the Company in the PRC.
AABEFETHRET S _NMFEE _HATHRER 55
BEAREEARSEPRAEETHNFERE-

2 billion
20187T

China Everbright Environment Group Limited Bl AR &EE) BRAE



Issue date
ZITHE

Financing arrangements and uses of proceeds
MEZHRBEESETAR

Issue size (RMB)
BITHRE (AR

May 2024
“ETNFERA

China Everbright Greentech Limited (“Everbright Greentech”)
completed the issuance of the first tranche green MTNs for
2024 in the PRC for the repayment of interest-bearing debts
of Everbright Greentech and its subsidiaries, replenishment
of working capital and/or investment in and construction of
their environmental protection projects and for other business
development purposes.
EPIﬁ%i( FBRERARAB (DEREBIRMR) EHEITME
T E_MEEF—HPgetRER BEETANERX
ﬁ%ﬁ@faf%&ﬁ[ffﬁﬁﬁjmﬁ,%fﬁ“ HWREEEE MR
RENEXRIRREEREMEBERRAR

1 billion
1018 7T

July 2024
—_E_WNELEAR

Everbright Greentech completed the issuance of the second
tranche MTNs for 2024 in the PRC for the repayment of
the interest-bearing debts of Everbright Greentech and
its subsidiaries, replenishment of working capital and/
or investment in and construction of their environmental
protection projects and for other business development
purposes.
NRGEIRRAERBETRET S _NFEF _HARBE
B EEESANEEARGEBRERRENBABTNEG B&
e ﬁEMﬁééﬁ/iﬁéﬁL SIRTRIE B M H =753
EAR

1 billion
1018 7T

September 2024
“ETHWEAA

Everbright Greentech completed the issuance of the third
tranche MTNs for 2024 in the PRC for the repayment
of interest-bearing debts of Everbright Greentech and
its subsidiaries, replenishment of working capital and/
or investment in and construction of their environmental
protection projects, and other business development
pUrposes.

NHAREBIRFRAERBETRET S _NFEE=_ARHAE
B EEETANEECAGBRARKENBATNERE
B -mneBEEek SEENELRRER KEMERE
R

1 billion
101275

September 2024
“ETWEAA

The Company completed the issuance of the 2024 MTNs
(Series 3) in the PRC for the replenishment of the Group’s
working capital and repayment of bank loans.
AABEFETHET S _NMFEE=_MATPHER 55
BETARNMAAERNEEES RERBITER -

1.5 billion
1518 7T
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The Group remains dedicated to sharing its development and operating results with shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”). To reward Shareholders for their support, and taking into account the Group’s
business development and strategic planning, the Board recommended the distribution of a final dividend of
HK9.0 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK8.0 cents per share), with the total
dividend for the year amounting to HK23.0 cents per share (2023: HK22.0 cents per share). The dividend payout
ratio stood at 41.8%, representing an increase of 11.3 percentage points compared to 2023.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a business presence in 229 cities, counties, and districts across
25 provinces, municipalities, autonomous regions, and one special administrative region in China, and
overseas markets spanning Germany, Poland, Vietnam, and Mauritius. The total number of environmental
protection projects invested in and held by the Group was 604, with an aggregate investment of approximately
RMB162.425 billion. Additionally, the Group undertook various asset-light services, including environmental
remediation, waste sorting, design and consulting, equipment supply, and technical services. The Group
secured a total of 193 waste-to-energy projects under its environmental energy and greentech sectors, with a
designed daily household waste processing capacity of 159,900 tonnes (including capacity under the operation
and management (“O&M”) model).

AEBRFAARTRE (TRE) PEZELEXELERNRNERS ANBREZF UACEBERBERL K
BRI A A EEERENBEE S _NME+ A=+ —HLEEREXRPBRESRIOEBWL (=2
T=F . 8R8.0EW 2FERESRKR23.0BW (ZE2EZ=F . §K22.0811) cKELLF41.8% RZ-E
T EEEMM3EE DR

BE_Z_NFT_A=+—H xEBEZFOMEMREEN26EE (H) BEAERFIITHE &
BB K229 HmMHRE BN THMBHEE  KE - BEMNEERE  HREZRBRMFRIEEHGC04E  BREN
ARM1,624.25870 ; FABIRIBEE MR DE RFEH REVE RTRFSIBEEEERS -
FEBERTERERERKGEBIRFAIRBEEHEENIREBRE193E R AEEEENIRI5.9098 M (B
LZEEERE) -
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The designed treatment and supply capacities of projects of major types under the Group as of 31 December
2024 are summarised below:

BE T NFES+_A=+—H FEEBETIEZEHHENBEENRAEERBEREREZLT :

Project Category
HE R

Designed Treatment/Supply Capacity
RETRIEHERE

Household waste*
A E N ik

159,900 tonnes/day
159,90008 " H

Food and kitchen waste*
B R S e Ikt

8,743 tonnes/day
8,743M8 /A

Water treatment and supply*

7,658,600 m?/day

KR ER R (L Y 7,658,6001L 753K, H
Biomass raw materials 8,209,800 tonnes/year
EWE R 8,209,800,/ 4F

Heat and steam supply
HEMHS

8,217,495 tonnes/year
8,217,495M8 /4

Solar power and wind power installed capacity
HRBE AN BEBDE

292.85 megawatt (“MW”)
292.85JK K,

Energy storage capacity

R AR

22.20 MW
22.20JK

#

#

Including treatment/processing capacity under the O&M model

B EZTEE ) EIERR
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In terms of market expansion, during the year under review, the Group continued to focus on three areas,
namely solid waste, water-related business and clean energy. It solidified its traditional business areas,
explored new businesses and development models, further extended its business chains, expanded synergistic
businesses, and promoted a balanced growth between asset-light and asset-heavy businesses. For traditional
business areas, the Group invested in multiple projects in areas such as waste-to-energy, waste water treatment
and solar power, and expanded its asset-light services, including integrated sanitation solutions, industrial waste
water treatment, and equipment supply, further solidifying its business chains in waste-to-energy and industrial
waste water treatment. For new business development, the Group expanded its clean energy business portfolio
by investing in its first energy storage project in Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province. It also developed its first
biomass gasification project in Xiao County, Anhui Province, to further enhance its overall biomass utilisation
capabilities. In Changzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the Group implemented its first waste battery recycling
project, which was not only the Group’s inaugural project of this kind but also the first benchmark project for
the implementation of the national major technical equipment of this kind in China. Furthermore, the Group
secured its biogas purification business and established its channels for sales of biomethane to external clients,
further optimising the value of its operating projects and enhancing efficiency through synergy. The Group also
developed a virtual power plant and electricity trading platform, refining its “zero-carbon park + virtual power
plant” business model. It also completed its first electricity transaction, marking its entry into the power trading
business. In the international market, the Group actively pursued business opportunities in the Republic of
Uzbekistan (“Uzbekistan”), Malaysia, and other countries and regions, and meanwhile, successfully secured or
won the bidding for asset-light business contracts in Egypt, Indonesia, Malaysia, and India. These efforts have
facilitated the global expansion of the Group’s self-developed environmental protection equipment and technical
solutions, reinforcing its commitment to green development under the Belt and Road Initiative. Additionally, the
Group strengthened its engagement with various international dignitaries and domestic provincial and ministerial
leaders through participation in key forums and industry exchanges. These included the annual conference
of the China Council for International Cooperation on Environment and Development. The Group also actively
engaged in industry exchange activities both domestically and internationally, including IE Expo China and
the Macao International Environmental Co-operation Forum & Exhibition. Moreover, the Group took the lead
in hosting the Everbright Environment Green Technology and Sustainable Development Forum in Hong Kong,
bringing together distinguished guests from the government, industry, and academia to explore opportunities in
new quality productive forces and industrial ecosystems, further enhancing its industry impact.

TBEEFE BEFERN AEBFERIMEE - ZKMBRER=-ZKEE ZEEERER  BHRR
¥ﬁ¥?¢< MR MREXREREARREF IR REEEEEXHFHER-BALE  RUIRE
VEKEENRBEESEREFEAREZSEERE  MARRG—BE - IXBEKRE KBHES
E‘“,é;*ﬂﬁ“’ l?E iﬂ&’é‘éaﬁ TERBKEEFAGNEXREMRF - MM HTE REREMNRERR
EEEEFEEE E—SPIHRBEAEREGER, T2 HEROErCEREEEMERIEER  E—F
i%ﬁi%’fﬂ?éﬂﬁﬁ EN EIHBEMNEEAEEEEREESHWOWERENBEE BN EEFEER
EEE /ﬁ@ﬂﬁ%'JﬁHIEE’WEI%EA(E)EZ% SRFIRR, REARBCRMAES  BREEYRAR
ShEH R —SPERELZREEE BRWALY  ERERERNBNIRZ FTE & THREE+E
T%mf'ﬁmﬁ?zﬁ‘t,mﬁkééaﬁai\% FEEBEBMEAE - R TS RERI S LR 5 BB H M E
(TS&p B FRADFARNMMEBBRBEEXFRE WABNIK K NEEEE  FRIAE
HNESHMEENTREEEEXS E—SHFEIMENRFEERG L2805 RERBI—F —BI4&
BER- I AEEREZ2NMTHREREERERSFLZESFEIER LT MARSUIEHRERK
EAEBRBENR, BHR2ETEREE RMBERRRGFLERRERBEFRERIMTIERME
B, ERTAENGORKENRFELERE ARESREEZRERINTELEEIRE BBBETE

RERE FEZEETERE -
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In 2024, the Group invested in and secured 12 new projects with a total investment of approximately
RMB1.764 billion, and signed various new contracts for asset-light business worth RMB1.835 billion.

The designed treatment and supply capacities of the new projects secured in 2024 are summarised below:

SEomE AERAREEEES 126 BRENAREI7.64E%; FESSBNEELBAR
AREBEHARIE18.35( T

“TETNEMEEENRFEERMEREFHEZNT ¢

Project category Designed treatment/supply capacity
IHE%E5! et ERIE S HERE
Household waste 1,000 tonnes/day
EEnR 1,000M8, H

Water treatment and supply 192,000 m®¥/day

K BRI R fH & 192,0001Z /5K H
Biomass raw materials 70,000 tonnes/year
TYERME 70,000M8 /&

Heat and steam supply 260,000 tonnes/year
HEAMS 260,000M8 £
Solar power installed capacity 56.46 MW
HRBEERERE 56.46JL KL

Energy storage capacity 12.20 MW

AR 12.20k R
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In terms of innovation-driven empowerment, during the year under review, the Group focused on tackling
technical challenges and driving the transformation of scientific and technological achievements. It established
the Technology Committee to coordinate the Group’s research and development (“R&D”) projects. In terms
of technological innovation and application, the Group successfully completed the transformation and
commercialisation of 30 technical projects in areas such as desulfurisation and denitrification, gasification
heating, and waste battery recycling. These initiatives contributed to optimising costs, enhancing efficiency,
increasing revenue, and reducing risks in safety production in related projects. The construction of digital
platforms for the integration of business and finance, document management, and intelligent management,
made solid progress, further showcasing the effectiveness of digital empowerment in the Group’s operational
management. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had been granted a total of 2,149 intellectual property rights
and had received more than 20 provincial and ministerial-level scientific and technological awards, serving as a
testament to the Group’s innovation capabilities and achievements.

In terms of operations management, during the year under review, the Group focused on increasing revenue
and enhancing efficiency, reducing carbon emission and energy consumption, cutting costs and expenses to
improve operational quality and efficiency, and ensuring the delivery of high-quality environmental management
services across different regions. Among these efforts, the environmental energy sector ensured the volume
of waste entering the plants and enhanced waste storage efficiency, achieving a record-breaking average
power generation efficiency of incoming waste at waste-to-energy projects surpassing 400 kWh/tonne.
The environmental water sector actively promoted the “Five Innovations” initiative (small inventions, small
transformations, small innovations, small designs, and small suggestions) and piloted the “Dark Factory” model.
The green environmental sector deeply explored the localisation of fuel resources, reduced related costs,
and explored the resource utilisation and high-value application of biomass energy, accelerating business
transformation and development.

A E T H DEFERN FAEERERMENKE HHNKARBE - RINKEZEE BULE
ERERE - BH - RWAFERABER  TRFKE RIEEHEE B ML WRFAEBLEMKMIE
H30ME By HER B E BT EBIERA BB B RL2EERRE XM — BRI - EXEE - BE2EE
FRFEFTaNERERREY BFLHEFAERKEEENAVME—FTER - BE_T_NF+-A4
Z+—H FAEBRAERBANHEE2 1400 BB MRU LB RRERBBHE220E AL ERR
REFENDEBRIWRBIFER -

BEEEE T E NRBRFERN ZEBERRAREN -BHKME BADXFEEAT BRAESEN BIF
AEMBHEONRFAERS - Hh IRFRERERIIRARE > BIRAIR A LW T 39 A BRI K 2%
BUERBERRRIOOTRE ; IRRAKBFRAFERII/NAIF CNEBR NS NER DR NEE) -
AFIBEIR BN SGERERZMEEMERIC BHOERRES RREVEERLE -SEEFE
MREFEUER-
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In terms of project construction, during the year under review, the Group adhered to a refined and dynamic
management model, focusing on strengthening the comprehensive monitoring and control of safety risk factors
to ensure the safety and steady progress of all construction projects. The Prime Minister of Vietnam attended
the completion ceremony of the Group’s Hue Waste-to-energy Project (“Hue Project”) in Vietnam, demonstrating
the Vietnamese government’s full recognition of the Group’s capability in project construction. On the other
hand, the Group’s Guangdong Nanxiong Livestock and Poultry Manure Resource Utilisation Project (“Nanxiong
Project”) commenced operation upon completion of construction work, laying a good foundation for the
Group’s effort to create new business growth points. In 2024, 33 projects of the Group commenced operation
upon completion of construction works, 4 projects (including EPCO projects) completed construction, and 9
environmental remediation services were completed and delivered. 21 projects of the Group (including an EPCO
project) commenced construction and 10 environmental remediation services were started.

In terms of safety and environmental management, during the year under review, adhering to the modest
principle of “Start Safe, Finish Safe”, the Group implemented robust safety production systems, organised
training programmes for its safety and environmental team, and implemented actions to overcome difficulties
for safety production, establishing a reliable safety barrier for both the Group and the communities it serves.
Notably, a total of 270 project leaders and safety and environmental management directors for the regional
centers of all business sectors of the Group participated in qualification certification examinations, to enhance
learning and improve the capabilities of personnel responsible for safety and environmental performance.
Additionally, the Group strengthened on-site duty arrangements at its headquarters during holidays and, for
the first time, introduced daily safety production operation reports during flood seasons, typhoon prevention
periods, and major holidays.

TRERFE ODBEEER AEERFBAL HECEERERN  ZEHANABALZ2ARBREZNEZHAUE
EoRESXEEIEERTZE - EREE-Hh  AEEHEIECREEER (MELER)) BIEE
HEERETREEERS B rREN BN AEEEEIERERENNARSRAY  EREHEREXS
ERGCHBEEERRE AFAEREMEF B RN ETRGFER T - WF  AEBEMRKREER
3@ -EMTIEHA4ME (FEPCOER) ; R LU XRMIRIZEEEREIE ; A ITEEH21ME (FEPCOIE
B) RFATIREBEEERK10E

Z2HIRE ((RR)EETEH ODBEFERN AEERF FVLE—FAH FREFAH —FINESR
B BOZE2LEMNE HEBZEREBRMEI BRZE2EELGEAUBETE RESAIMHEEBREFSE
WREERE - Hf 270U EE—EBFARRESFLLRREERES2NMRREEERIES A UE
BOoRMEMEBEANLRERED I AEEMBHRABHRGENET AR cAHE
HMBERBHARAMENEHAREEEEEER
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In terms of environmental contributions, the Group has been actively promoting energy conservation, and
the reduction of pollution and carbon emissions to promote the collective improvement of social, economic,
and environmental benefits. The Group’s major environmental contributions during the year under review are
summarised below:

RIBEEMAHE AEBBHES TSR BUSER BHRESHCE  EANRRER@NFE SR - BB
FERN FEEFERBEEMB2NT !

Treatment Volume

RRIBFRE

Environmental Contributions
EEER

Household waste processed

EIENIREIEE

56,162,000 tonnes
56,162,000MF

Hazardous and solid waste processed

el R EREREY) (TeERE)) REE

499,000 tonnes
499,000MF

Agricultural and forestry waste processed

EMERYRIEE

7,686,000 tonnes
7,686,000

Supplying green electricity of
27,678,000,000 kWh. This output
could support the annual electricity
consumption needs of 23,065,000
households, equivalent to saving
11,071,000 tonnes of standard coal,
while displacing Carbon Dioxide
(“CO2") emissions by 13,041,000
tonnes.

TRt 4 8 E /127,678,000,000F K
B > BDAYAE % 5223,065,0001E = k2
—FNRAEE HERSHNEE
11,071,00008 > & Z EACHBER
13,041,0000 o

Waste water treated
SKEEE

1,763,000,000 m?®
1,763,000,000137 75 K

Waste-to-energy plants’ leachate treated
NIREBROL R R EIEE

14,039,000 m?®
14,039,00011 73 K

Reducing Chemical Oxygen Demand
(“COD”) discharge by 852,000
tonnes.

BMEREEE (TCODY) HiK
852,000M8 o
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Since the launch of the Group’s first environmental protection project in 2005, its aggregate major environmental

contributions are summarised below:

TEERFAEEERARFREERENR  AEBRFNEIRREEMBENT ¢

Treatment Volume
BR IR RS

Environmental Contributions
IRIBEER

Household waste processed
FoENIREIEE

326,527,000 tonnes
326,527,000MF

Hazardous and solid waste processed
fEERERIEE

2,719,000 tonnes
2,719,000M8

Agricultural and forestry waste processed

EMERYEEE

50,320,000 tonnes
50,320,000MF

Supplying green electricity of
159,029,000,000 kWh. This output
could support the annual electricity
consumption needs of 132,524,000
households, equivalent to saving
63,611,000 tonnes of standard coal,
while displacing CO2 emissions by
126,056,000 tonnes.

R4 58 7/7159,029,000,000F E
B > BDAYAE £ 12 132,524,00018 = k2
—FHNERAEE HENBNRIE
63,611,000M5 » & X Z & 1E iR BERK
126,056,000M o

Waste water treated
EKERIESE

18,244,562,000 m?
18,244,562,00037 /5

Waste-to-energy plants’ leachate treated
NREFEERZ IR REIESE

73,839,000 m?
73,839,00037 75

Reducing COD discharge by 7,478,000
tonnes.
7B CODEFK7,478,0000
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In terms of social responsibility, during the year under review, the Group fulfilled its corporate citizenship
responsibilities by not only safeguarding the natural and human living environment through high-quality
integrated environmental services but also actively promoting green concepts and advocating for environmental
actions through diverse initiatives. In Hong Kong, the Group launched the “Green Wings Program”, a public
welfare campaign for environmental education. Supported by the Environment and Ecology Bureau of
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC, this program leverages the
Group’s professional expertise in environmental protection. Through activities such as environmental lectures,
workshops, project visits, and student internships, the program aims to inspire enthusiasm and a sense
of responsibility for environmental protection among Hong Kong’s youth and the general public, fostering
consensus on green and low-carbon development. In mainland China, the Group continued to organise a
variety of environmental science education and public welfare activities through its local projects. Centred
around environmental theme days such as World Environment Day, the Group launched a series of community-
focused science education activities, deeply integrating into local communities and serving as a vivid example
of fostering shared interests across the government, businesses and the public. As of 31 December 2024,
the Group had opened 226 projects to the public. In 2024, the Group’s projects attracted more than 80,000
domestic and international visitors, along with more than 100,000 participants in online activities.

HEEEHE RBREERN AEEBRTEEARSM T EREBERRGSAERTTEEREAANE
R THEBEBFAZENIFEZRNIMRRBESCER BERFRTH -EEB  AEEEM 4R
BB BB RRABRAaTH ZTIDEBFERNRERERERFFAXZEHE  REAEETIRR
RENEXED BERFRBE T BESZSR BEEIZFRY HEFTESF VD FRARHIRFRAHN
MHEEER BRGeERERAR TRt FERKAZIMEEFERREEZENRFNEAm)
F ERUtAREAFREFRIENA HE—RIBLAHENMNETELTE RERALE  RASERE K
CRIMNGHABNEHER - BE T _NF+_B=+—H ZxEHEETERARBAMNIEE R5tE
226f8 - T MF - AEEBRTHEERAEFZRZBEALTASBE AR RLEHZEABEI0EAR
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In 2024, the Group received many honours from home and abroad in recognition of the fulfilment of its
responsibility and continued efforts in various aspects, such as business operation, sustainability, and social
responsibility. The major awards and honours are summarised below:

—_= _P_Tle FEBEEFLEE IFEER - HESEFTHESNERA - FEZE N BERZEEAIINK
R TEHBERFERENT -

Category Award/Recognition Awarding Organisation(s)
el 118, KB SRIBNEE S
Operational Management First place in the “2024 Top 50 Chinese China Environment Chamber of
= Environmental Enterprises by Revenue” Commerce (“CECC”)
2024 F B IR 153 1 3 & W AT50 1 1% B8~ EMIRERBEES
B
First place in the “Top 10 Influential Solid E20 Environment Platform

Waste Treatment Enterprises in China”

(the 14th consecutive year)
EEE+AXENEEIFEEN E20IBIEF A

(EEE+HE)

Awarded the “Outstanding Enterprise China Securities Golden
Contribution Award for the 75th Anniversary Bauhinia Awards
of the Founding of the PRC” and
recognised as an “Outstanding High-Quality
Development Listed Company”

WP II7oEF E M ET R FREEE 5 & SR8
SHSEEERLTAF

Included in the “2024 Global Top 500 New China Institute of Energy
Energy Enterprises” list (ranked 82th) Economics Research

AFEN 20242 3G B8 IR 1B 250058 1 15 B8 R BB TR A Bt 5Bt
(5882111)

The ranking of CECC was renamed from “Top 60 Chinese Environmental Enterprises” to “Top 50 Chinese Environmental
Enterprises by Revenue” in 2024. The Group has been ranked the first place on the list since 2019.
Y BREFER CENFAHEIRE R ES0% ) E A IR FEENES0) c R EEE —F— N FIFE I EIEEE
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Category
el

Award/Recognition
195, KB

Awarding Organisation(s)
IR LS

Operational Management
(continued)
REER (B

Everbright Water was shortlisted in the list of
“Top 10 Influential Enterprises in China’s
Water Industry” (the 7th consecutive year)

FHERKFNETHRBIKEFKTES
¥ IRE (EEELTF)

Everbright Water was awarded “ListCo
Excellence Awards” (the 5th consecutive
year)

FERKFERMEE EHRAT K
EEFELF)

Everbright Greentech received the
“Global ESG Excellence Award”
(the third time)

HREBIRRER 2IKEHMESGAE
E=%R)

Everbright Greentech was awarded the
“ESG Excellence in Environmental
Performance Award”, “ESG Excellence in
Corporate Governance Award”, and “ESG
Certification of Recognition”

KRG EBIRFRERIESGE HIRIRFRIA
EEME IESGEHITXER
HXH | [ESGE R

The Group’s Jiangxi Yingtan Waste-to-energy
Project (“Yingtan Project”) was recognised
as “National Workers’ Pioneer”

AEBIBEENIRZEEER (EE
IHH ) BT 2B T A S5

E20 Environment Platform

ECQIBIETE &S

Jointly awarded by PRC media
IFENG.COM/HK, Hong Kong
media AM730, and other
institutions

FR [ P T 0 A BB A S A
HBEE(AM730) &

WA SR

Yazhou Zhoukan

CEENE T ) 758

Sing Tao News Group and
The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University

ESNEER-
BBBETKRE

All-China Federation of
Trade Unions

hELEMATE

China Everbright Environment Group Limited Bl AR &EE) BRAE



Category
el

Award/Recognition
A= I/E\/** —

Awarding Organisation(s)

BETANA S AR

Technology R&D
A} 5% bt 25

The water-cooled grate furnace for incineration
of solid waste of high heating value was
included in the National Catalogue of Major
Technical Equipment for Promotion and
Application (First Set of Equipment) (2024

Edition)

S ERERF R EN S IEPEE A
EXR(E& (B) EAEMEEHERE
FEF1EE B} (20245 HR) )

The project for the development and equipment
application of key technologies relating to
efficient and clean combustion of multi-
source solid waste was awarded the “2024
Machinery Industry Science and Technology

Award”

%R B BE = U5 3 A Ve A 5B B 1M R B A

HEEAEERE S _NFE
P TR 258

The integrated technology for high-temperature
SCR denitrification in biomass boilers was
awarded the “Second Prize in Environmental

Protection Equipment Science and
Technology”

S ERIE S /RSCRE MR IEE MR
RAMTIEE R ENRREHER 2/
ZER

The key technology and complete equipment
for recycling and resource utilisation of waste
power batteries were awarded the First
Prize of “2024 Environmental Equipment

Technology Innovation Award”

BE £ 8071 B M e W ERC ) B BE S8 il Az

REEBERI S _MFEIRRE
BRI —F

3

Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of
the PRC

Bl TEM S SAEER

China Machinery Industry
Federation, Chinese
Mechanical Engineering
Society

FREIR AR T 3
Mog PEEMIESS

China Association of Machinery
Industry for Environmental
Protection

PRIRFREMITEGS

China Association of Machinery
Industry for Environmental
Protection

PEIRFAEMITERS
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Category Award/Recognition Awarding Organisation(s)
el 1218, 8 ALTRNE S

Technology R&D (continued) Everbright Environmental Technical Equipment  UDEM
B (& (Changzhou) Limited (“Changzhou Equipment
Company”) incineration furnaces (including
small-scale incineration furnaces), water-
cooled grate incineration furnace, complete
equipment for leachate treatment, complete
equipment for flue gas treatment, and rotary
kilns for hazardous and medical waste
treatment passed European Conformity
(the CE Marking)
FHRIBREMEE (BN) BRAS UDEM (BR 58 52 58 M 1 Rl # 1#)
(MEMEHERE) Qiﬁﬁﬁf*ﬂ’]*’k EIE
(E INBUIE) ~ KOS AT NENE N 2R R R 1
MERE ERRENER 1%&
el B R EIECI B E S

[)\EIECED’L:\D_\L
The Group’s Huangshi Waste Tire International Sustainability and
Recycling Project in Hubei Province Carbon Certification (“ISCC”)

was awarded dual certifications of
ISCC EU and ISCC PLUS

REBMIEREABEERBREWIEER BEIRAI B %R

HE1FISCC EUHISCC PLUSE# E 3355 SR8 (MSCcCy)
Operations Management Hue Project was selected as one of Vietnam Institute of Economic
EEEIE the “Top 20 Enterprises for Green and Cultural Studies

Economic Development in Vietnam
in 2024”

IBEIEE AR S MFHEERE i B S ERR ST R
HERLEES 205

China Everbright Environment Group Limited Bl AR &EE) BRAE



Category Award/Recognition Awarding Organisation(s)

el 118, K8 Y Ry Sy

Operations Management The Group’s Henan Nanyang China Association of Urban
(continued) Waste-to-energy Project (“Nanyang Project”), Environmental Sanitation

BEEER (8)

Heilongjiang Harbin
Waste-to-energy Project (“Harbin Project”),
Zhejiang Ninghai
Waste-to-energy Project (“Ninghai Project”),
Henan Xinyang Waste-to-energy Project
(“Xinyang Project”) and Jiangsu Wuxi Xidong
Waste-to-energy Project were recognised
as “National AAA-rated Household Waste
Incineration Plants”

REFE A EmFAIREEIEE R D IRIEEE RS
(MEBEE)) BRI RHE
iR EEIEE (MAEEER]) ~
AlgENREEIEE ((8/E8EH)) -
ArEERREEEREE ((ERFER)) A
JL Bk I 17 87 SR 1T IR 32 BE 1R B S TR RAAAKR
F RN VR R BB SR

Harbin Project was awarded the title of Department of Ecology and
“Comprehensive Environmental Protection Environment of Heilongjiang
Law Enforcement Training Base in Province
Heilongjiang Province”
SEEEEERIBRIIEERIRE REIEERIRIGEE
REFRETHRHEAEREIIE M
5%
Project Construction The Group’s Western Yiyang China Electric Power
TEER Waste-to-energy Project in Hunan Province Construction Association

was recognised as a “2024 High-Quality
Small and Medium-Sized Power Project in

China”

AEB P mGASNIREEER FEENEREEDE
Ti2EFTI2024F EH B /NE
BE I

The construction work of the Group’s Xiongan  Hebei Construction Industry
Waste Integrated Treatment Project garnered Association
the “2024 Hebei Province Construction
Engineering Anji Cup Award”
REBBEZIIRGEEERKIER At ERREGE
B IRER S NEE
A EBRR T RLHEME
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Category Award/Recognition Awarding Organisation(s)
el 1218, 8 ALTRNE S
Sustainable Development Included in the Dow Jones Sustainability Indices Dow Jones
AFEELERE (the 9th consecutive year)
BMABEBHOFEZERISHATY R
(EEENF)
Included in the Sustainability Yearbook S&P Global
(the 7th time)
EMA(RIHBERFE) (EtR) BE 2K
Included in the Sustainability Yearbook (China  S&P Global
Edition) (the second consecutive year)
WA FEERESE (FEMR ) 2E2IR

(BEE_F)

Included in the Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Benchmark Index
(the 14th consecutive year)

EMANBERHBEEREFEAEERH
(EEETFE)

Shortlisted in the list of “China’s
Top 100 Sustainable Development
Companies (2024)”

ANEN 2024 Bl 1 FI R 48 3 R 1001£ )

Ninghai Project was shortlisted as the first batch
of “Zhejiang Province New Quality Productive
Force Science Popularisation Experience
Centre (Site)”

ERIEEAEEMITIA
WEEENB ERBERE (B

The Group’s Gansu Wuwei
Waste-to-energy Project (“Wuwei Project”)
successfully registered as
an International Verified Carbon
Standard (“VCS”) Project
AEBRHERENIRZEEEE (RE
IHE]) IhE i EPR %8 B RE R BE
1Z2# (TvCs ) BH

Hue Project garnered the “Environmental
Protection Contribution Award”
E{ETE B B NRIR R & B RAEE

Hang Seng Index

BERRH

China Business Council for
Sustainable Development
and China Enterprise
Confederation

REAFEERIEHIESE
FEGEBEE

Zhejiang Association for
Science and Technology

HIERBERMBE

VERRA*

VERRA*

Government of Thua Thien Hue
Province, Vietnam

i AR IE1E & BURAT

*

Association (IETA), and the World Economic Forum (WEF).

VERRA is a non-profit organisation established in 2005 by the Climate Group (CG), the International Emissions Trading

* VERRAZ S IRAH#(CG) ~ EIEHE LA 5 15 S (IETA) K 1 5848 T 5 1B(WEF) 2 2006 4 2 [B] # 17 f9 FF & FI A8 4t o

China Everbright Environment Group Limited FREI}AIRE: (M) BRAF



Category Award/Recognition Awarding Organisation(s)
el 118, K8 Y Ry Sy
Social Responsibility Social Responsibility Brand of the Year China Charity Festival
HEaE (the 10th consecutive year)

FESERE EEETF) FRE A 7 B

The Green Wings Program was awarded China Charity Festival

the Charity Case of the Year
Mg R8I BT R FE AR EHIE] FRE A 7 B

The Group’s Hubei Tianmen
Waste-to-energy Project garnered the
“Hubei Environmental Protection
Government Award”

AEBENIERPINIR EEBIEE EEF 16 & BT
D10 B IR IR (R & BT 52

Government of Hubei Province

Yingtan Project garnered the “Science Jiangxi Association For Science
Education Base in Jiangxi Province” award and Technology
EEEEENVIAER SRR IEERERNHE

The Group’s Hainan Sanya Hainan Association For Science
Waste-to-energy Project was and Technology, Department
shortlisted in “The Third Batch of of Science and Technology
Science Education Bases in Hainan Province of Hainan Province
2021-2025”

AEEBRE-ENIREFEEER AE BEAEANSEERMBE EEE

12021-20255% = #t /B E R EHF &) R} 25 iy R

Xinyang Project and Department of Housing and
Nanyang Project garnered the “Excellent Urban-Rural Development of
Science Education Base for Classification of Henan Province

Domestic Waste in Henan Province for the
Year 2023” award

EHREE hEHREEET
[2023F E A & 4 E IR
DEEFHEHE EHM

ArEEEMMAERE

The Group’s Liaoning Shenyang Department of Culture and
Waste-to-energy Project was accredited as Tourism of Liaoning Province
one of the “First Batch of Provincial Tourism
Technology Demonstration
Parks in Liaoning Province”

REBEREILIZIIR % B8 B ET BB A AR R
MREAEMERREN R TEEE
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ENVIRONMENTAL ENERGY IS {R5E:E

Focusing on Deployment and Enhancement of
Solid Waste Business Chain to Grow Bigger and Better

SRR I g SRS R TR T BUIR ORI B

|. ENVIRONMENTAL ENERGY —IRRFER

Environmental energy is the largest core business sector of the Group, contributing the most to its overall
business. This sector encompasses waste-to-energy, food and kitchen waste treatment, leachate treatment,
fly ash treatment, methane-to-energy, sludge treatment and disposal, construction and decoration waste
treatment, development of environmental protection industrial parks, integrated urban services, waste
sorting, resource utilisation and recycling, as well as technical consultancy and engineering design relating
to environmental protection. During the year under review, environmental energy continued to focus on the
solid waste business area, improving the layout of the waste-to-energy business chain, and solidifying its
industry-leading position.

As of 31 December 2024, environmental energy had invested in and held 283 projects, with a total
investment of approximately RMB98.892 billion, and undertook 2 O&M projects, 2 engineering design,
procurement, construction and operation (‘EPCQO”) projects, and other types of asset-light services. These
projects (including processing capacity under the O&M model) are designed to have an annual household
waste processing capacity of 54,147,750 tonnes, an annual on-grid electricity of 18,453,224,900 kWh,
an annual food and kitchen waste processing capacity of 3,169,295 tonnes, and an annual steam supply
capacity of 1,910,832 tonnes.

BREBRSETAEBETERARBE EHGLEESHZOEBRIE > XFHRENIREE - BB R HI
REE-ZRBREE RREE -BEREB - SERERE BRRERUREE - RFREXERE ; W
TEERFB WROE - EREEEMNBLEER URIRFREASRMAH - TERAF -DBEFER>
BRERGEREEEEBAN TEURBBEXHEME > BETTREBRMAAL -

BE_Z_NE+_RA=+—HB BREERAKREEZEEB283E BRENYARK88.92F7T° 5
AE2EEAEEEE 2EIERT KB I—EZ) (TEPCO.) BEEEREKEERBT -ZF
HERFHER (SEZFEERERER) SFREEENIRSA,147, 75008~ F EHEE18,453,224,900
TRE - FERIEEE KB ERIIKRS,169,295M « FHEZ 751,910,832 ©
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As of 31 December 2024, the status of waste-to-energy projects under environmental energy are
summarised below:

BE_Z_NF+_A=+—H BRERUREBEEFERBR2UOT :

Designed Processing

Project Status Number of Projects Capacity (tonnes/annum)
IHE AR HEEZ (E) KT ERIBRRAE (M)
In operation* 155 50,698,500
wE
Under construction 6 2,080,500
T2

*including O&M project(s)
Y BEEZEE

As of 31 December 2024, the status of waste-to-energy synergistic projects* under environmental energy
are summarised below:

BE_T_NES+A=t+—H BRRERUREEHEBEBERBENT :

Designed Processing

Project Status Number of Projects Capacity (tonnes/annum)
HEMRE HEEZ (E) Rt RIERE (Mg, )
In operation® 118 5,563,975
wE
Under construction 11 1,375,142
Tz

* including various waste-to-energy synergistic projects such as food and kitchen waste treatment, sludge treatment and

disposal, medical waste treatment, etc.
Y EBEEREEBGIIREE  SEEEEERBEEEESEITREE HEEE

# including O&M project(s)
L BEESEE
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In terms of market development, during the year under review, environmental energy continued to deepen
its domestic market presence, leveraging the business model of balanced development of asset-light
and asset-heavy businesses to drive its expansion efforts. Environmental energy secured investment
projects such as Hainan Dongfang Waste-to-energy Project Phase Il, consolidating its traditional business
advantages. It also signed agreements for asset-light solid waste treatment synergistic businesses,
including Gansu Wuwei Sanitation Integration Service Project and a biogas purification and refinement
business in Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province, further strengthening the Group’s comprehensive solid waste
management service capabilities. At the same time, environmental energy actively expanded into overseas
markets, signing a joint development agreement with Uzbekistan in relation to waste-to-energy projects in
Ferghana and Namangan Provinces, laying a solid foundation for further expansion into the Central Asia
market. In 2024, environmental energy invested in and secured 2 new projects, with a total investment of
approximately RMB568 million. It also signed various new contracts for asset-light business, covering areas
such as waste sorting, sanitation integration, and heating and steam supply, with a total contract value
of approximately RMB384 million. The newly-secured projects contributed to an additional designed daily
household waste processing capacity of 1,000 tonnes.

mHEhERTEH DEFER BREERFERAMBEATS KRG EETR | XHRARBRAEIF-
FESERANREBEEE _HEREHNER BEEREFED  REHRRRRFT —BERSEE
BV IHES ERFLRAXGSEEERRREVRES E— P EEAEBEREGRSRIERBE
7 BILE R RFERBBMEBINTS  BSEARERZAMER T MM KM E T N R
EREENBERENR RE—JHRPTETEEERFER - _ S _MF REEREKEZEN
HE2fE MRENVARKS.68FET, MBREZEEEEXT  RENRSE - RE LI HREMS
FEE aRMBENAREI.84FT ; MIBRFTHRES HREEEZ IR, 0000
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In terms of operations management, during the year under review, environmental energy advanced
operations management through the approach of “Think Beyond Operations, Leverage Strengths and
Address Weaknesses, and Implement Category-Specific Management”. It deepened the implementation of
the “12 Measures + Pre-Testing and Post-Evaluation” strategies for waste volume growth to ensure stable
waste intake, enhanced waste storage efficiency to achieve a record-breaking average power generation
efficiency of incoming waste at waste-to-energy projects surpassing 400 kWh/tonne, optimised slag
treatment efficiency to strengthen pricing authority and realise annualised efficiency gains, and expanded the
adoption of technologies such as coke-cleaning robots and pipeline inspection robots to significantly reduce
frontline operational risks. In 2024, key metrics include an average electricity generation of 461 kWh per
tonne of waste incinerated in waste-to-energy projects, a comprehensive plant power consumption rate of
15.4%, and 2 waste-to-energy projects that were approved for increased waste treatment fees.

In terms of project construction, during the year under review, 13 projects completed construction and
commenced operation, with a total designed daily household waste processing capacity of 4,600 tonnes,
and a designed daily food and kitchen waste processing capacity of 425 tonnes. 8 projects commenced
construction, with a total designed daily household waste processing capacity of 1,900 tonnes, and a
designed daily food waste processing capacity of 525 tonnes.

BEEEESE RBEEER BRRERUTMEEZE BREE - DEEE/ AN BEEEEETIF R
ABMEIRIE S T+ " R+F0R BT B MAABIIRE ; BRAIK B E W FH A BN R %S
MEERRBIOOT R ; WBREBRY EREEBETE N BRFCBY , RABRERABEKS
AMEREEREAST E—PRE-—QFEZEAR - T _NF  RELERIUKEBEE FHSMWA
BHREBENIITRR FEMAEBRN15.4% 2ENKREBHEAEHFILEEE -

ITREEXRFE DEEFER13EBEEENKRE  RTERELBDEIEE ENIIR4, 6000 HEEER
Rk 425ME ; 8sEIE B B TR > KX eH4E %EEE.BEEEEEEM% Q00ME ~ HER IR & BRI IR 525M o
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During the year under review, the Group’s environmental energy sector contributed EBITDA of
HK$6,886,316,000, a decrease of 24% as compared with 2023. Environmental energy contributed a net
profit attributable to the Group of HK$3,849,226,000, a decrease of 27% as compared with 2023. The
decrease in profit was mainly attributable to the decrease in number of construction projects leading to
lower construction profits compared to that of 2023.

Major operating data relating to environmental energy during 2024 are summarised below:
CEFERN AERRFRERRREEMGHE -NEBE - TERBHF R & HH16,886,316,0007T
R _=—FTHE24% - RREREMEAEREILFENHBYES,849,226,000 BRZE_=FF
[F27% - BAB LV IEHARNTEEEHER_Z_=FHVEREERBEN TK-

TETNE RFERZIZBEEHERENT !

Percentage
2024 2023 Change
—E-OmE —E= Bt EE)
Waste processing volume NIk ERIEE (M)
(tonnes) 52,006,000 48,603,000 7%
Food and kitchen waste, BB BT RRUIIR
sludge, and other waste 75 R A 3k
processing volume (tonnes)  ERIEE (WB) 4,260,000 2,718,000 57%
On-grid electricity (MWh) FRESE OKEF) 17,042,000 15,828,000 8%

China Everbright Environment Group Limited Bl AR &EE) BRAE



Focusing on Water-related Business to Create Value
to Industries Through Various Water Businesses

AR KGRI HEB) LUK 2 5 ) 2 2 E E Bl &

' ENVIRONMENTAL WATER I8 {27k 7%

-

-

L 4

ENVIRONMENTAL WATER Z ~ IR1RKFS

As of 31 December 2024, the Group held a 72.87% stake in Everbright Water, its environmental water
sector, which is listed on the Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). As a first-class water
environment management service provider in China, Everbright Water focuses on the “water-related”
business areas. It has developed a fully-fledged business coverage, which includes raw water protection,
water supply, municipal waste water treatment, industrial waste water treatment, reusable water, river-
basin ecological restoration, sludge treatment, disposal, etc. It has also formed a full business chain in the
water business, including project investment, planning and design, technology R&D and related services,
engineering and construction, operations management, and integrated diagnosis, among others. Everbright
Water is proactively creating value for industries through various water businesses.

As of 31 December 2024, Everbright Water had invested in and held 171 projects, with a total investment of
approximately RMB31.675 billion. It also undertook 12 O&M projects and other types of asset-light services.
These projects (including treatment capacity under the O&M model) are designed to have an annual waste
water treatment capacity of 2,366,660,000 m3, an annual reusable water supply capacity of 118,479,000
m?3, an annual water supply capacity of 310,250,000 m?, an annual sludge treatment capacity of 793,875
tonnes, and an annual livestock and poultry manure treatment capacity of 109,500 tonnes.

BE_Z N+ _RB=+—B AEBEFAIRKET2.87%H B - fFRH A EBIRMKFBMREE » SERK
i‘“m%‘ﬁﬂﬂbﬁ&%é&%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’&j&*%H?A*‘%FﬁﬁBE’&T(FH?&FEJ)IWJ:FE’AT ER B —RBIK

%ﬁ?é?‘a@ﬁﬁkﬁi\ﬁgﬁ FERIKF A 2Ky BE BEBHRFRKFRE ok HBUSKEE s THEEKE
EE KBRS RERE S ERERES %?E%Mﬁ%ﬁ“ﬁﬁ&ﬁ MBS R ERRB L
BEExR EEEE %Fé\u/@ﬁ}f%?‘“ﬁﬂz’x&ﬁﬁﬁ&@ﬂpkﬁyﬁE’J&%f‘i@%ﬂﬁ°

BE _Z_WEFE+_BA=Z+—H HAKBEREZRSEBE171E BREHARKE316.75E7t° F
AEB1I2ELTEEEENEMNREERB ZSHERARE (ELTEERERE AFRETK
2,366,660,0003L 5 2K ~ S A 7k118,479,0001L 75 K ~ F£7Kk310,250,0001L /5 K ~ FE & B /5 /5 793,875M8
FRIEE B %5109,5000F o
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As of 31 December 2024, Everbright Water’s water projects are summarised below:

BEZTHNFE+_AZ=+—H  AARKBREKFEEBERBZNT !

Designed Treatment

Project Status* Number of Projects Capacity (m®annum)
5 B ARRE* 5 B 1@ (f&) RETERIBRE LK F)
In operation 153 2,246,064,000
wiE
Under construction 10 372,300,000
axes

*

including projects with O&M services

Y BREZRENER

In terms of market development, during the year under review, Everbright Water consolidated its existing
business strengths and explored new frontiers, promoting the balanced development of asset-light
and asset-heavy businesses. It advanced various expansion initiatives through synergies. Everbright
Water implemented municipal waste water treatment projects such as Anyang Municipal Waste Water
Treatment Centre Phase | Project in Henan Province, thereby continuing to strengthen its traditional
business advantages. It also secured asset-light business including Jiangyin Lingang Industrial Waste
Water Treatment Plant and Ancillary Pipeline Network Phase | EPCO Project in Jiangsu Province, as
well as Zhengzhou Airport Economy Zone Waste Water Treatment (Plant 4) Construction, Operation and
Management Project in Henan Province, further extending its services to comprehensive industrial park
waste water treatment. Leveraging its technical service entities, the Group further enhanced its asset-light
capacity to deliver high-value services, promoting a more pronounced synergy between its asset-light and
asset-heavy businesses. In overseas markets, Everbright Water adopted an asset-light business model
to successively secure equipment supply services for the Bengkalis Water Supply Project in Indonesia
and the Petrochemical Waste Water Treatment Project in Egypt. A Memorandum of Understanding was
signed to explore opportunities for cooperation in the industrial estate of Siak Regency, Riau Province,
Indonesia. The signing was supported by a delegation of relevant business representatives, with the aim of
fostering business exchanges and collaboration in the water sector. In 2024, Everbright Water invested in
and secured 5 new projects and signed 2 complementary agreements to its existing projects, with a total
investment of approximately RMB896 million, and signed various new contracts for asset-light business,
with a total contract value of approximately RMB1.033 billion. The new projects are designed to have a daily
waste water treatment capacity of 183,000 m® and a daily reusable water supply capacity of 9,000 m?.

MBIEERATE BBEFEERN AAKBREFEARGH BETE > EHEESIBREER REZEIRD
BHE S KERD O IREBEESHTH SKERER  HEREGERERED - BRI IRLERBIE
BE KRR AEE SR —HEPCOBEE A BMNMTEAE E U s /KEERTELIREBEEMIEAEAE
AEEEREEER E— PR ANEE TEREKEERFBLEM -KTHETRMIRFE TR E—F 581t
REERBE I REK RS EERHREELERE— P B -EEIITE  AARKBEURE EERKE
N BAEHNEEATA RN HIMHEKBEEREHENIER A HETI sKEEBEEREHRERS  UEET
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In terms of operations management, during the year under review, Everbright Water leveraged digitalisation,
innovative models, the “Five Innovations” initiative, and other key initiatives to enhance project operations
management, diversify income streams, and improve efficiency. Some of its projects implemented energy
management contracting (“EMC”), making technological energy-saving improvements to reduce costs and
increase efficiency. Some of its projects recycled residual oxygen to generate additional profit. Everbright
Water further refined evaluation criteria for star-rated factories, continuously improving the proficiency
and efficiency of intelligent water plant construction. Based on industry exchanges and in-depth learning,
Everbright Water explored the development of a “Dark Factory” model and an implementation road map
that meets its needs. Additionally, it further solidified the “Solar Power +” model that integrates new energy
with environmental protection business scenario. As at 31 December 2024, 7 projects of Everbright Water
had seen their solar power facilities commence operation, with a total installed capacity of approximately
14 MWp, generating over 13 million kWh of green electricity per annum. In 2024, 5 waste water treatment
plants of Everbright Water received regulatory approval for tariff hikes.

In terms of project construction, during the year under review, Everbright Water had 13 projects that either
commenced construction or commenced operation upon completion of construction works, with a designed
daily water treatment capacity of 209,000 m?; 8 projects that commenced construction, with a designed
daily water treatment capacity of 154,000 mé2.

During the year under review, the Group’s environmental water sector contributed an EBITDA of
HK$2,196,829,000, a decrease of 11% compared with 2023. Environmental water contributed a net profit
attributable to the Group of HK$810,769,000, a decrease of 6% compared with 2023. The decrease in profit
was mainly due to the recognition of one-off lump sum operation income related to the new tariffs applied
retrospectively in 2024 is lower than that of 2023.
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Major operating data relating to environmental water during 2024 are summarised below:

TECME O RAAKFZEIZESEHEENT

Percentage
2024 2023 change
—ENE == BotLEE
Waste water treatment EKEREE
volume ('000 md) (FiLm XK 1,763,000 1,749,000 1%
Reusable water treatment ok [EIA &
volume ('000 md) (FiLHK) 48,500 45,500 7%
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As of 31 December 2024, the Group held a 69.70% stake in Everbright Greentech, its greentech sector,
which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Everbright Greentech focuses on integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment, environmental remediation, and new energy such
as solar power and wind power.

As of 31 December 2024, Everbright Greentech had invested in and held 145 projects, with a total
investment of approximately RMB31.236 billion. These projects are designed to have an annual biomass
raw material processing capacity of 8,209,800 tonnes, an annual household waste processing capacity
of 4,215,750 tonnes, an annual hazardous and solid waste processing capacity of 2,466,376 tonnes, an
annual on-grid electricity of 7,144,334,985 kWh, an annual steam supply of 6,306,663 tonnes, a solar and
wind power installed capacity of 292.85 MW, and an energy storage capacity of 22.20 MW. In addition,
Everbright Greentech undertook 17 environmental remediation services (excluding services that had been
completed and delivered).

As of 31 December 2024, Everbright Greentech’s solar power and wind power projects are summarised
below:
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BE_ZNF+_A=+—H AAGBEFRICREEREABEEBEABENT :

Project Status Number of Projects Designed Installed Capacity (MW)
THEARRR HEEZ (fE) st ERIERE JKER)
In operation 31 186.78
BiE
Under construction 2 68.61
e
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In terms of market expansion, during the year under review, Everbright Greentech achieved remarkable
results in the expansion of its new environmental protection business. It invested in and developed its first
energy storage project in Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, marking a new step forward in the clean energy
sector; improved its “zero-carbon park + virtual power plant + power trading” model by signing three new
zero-carbon park projects; established a virtual power plant and power trading platform, culminating in the
completion of the first electricity transaction, thus marking the beginning of a new journey in the electricity
sales business. Meanwhile, Everbright Greentech continued to solidify its traditional operations, successfully
signing contracts for multiple landfill restoration and contaminated site remediation services, achieving a
significant business breakthrough in the Guangdong and Yunnan markets. In 2024, Everbright Greentech
invested in and secured 5 new projects and a sub-project under the existing project, with a total investment
of approximately RMB300 million. It also signed new contracts for 9 environmental remediation services,
with a total contract value of approximately RMB134 million. The new projects are designed to have an
annual biomass raw material processing capacity of 70,000 tonnes, a solar power installed capacity of
56.46 MW, and an energy storage capacity of 12.20 MW.

In terms of operations management, during the year under review, Everbright Greentech focused on tapping
into the potential of local fuel resources and strengthened the management of secondary fuel costs,
resulting in significant savings in production costs. It also actively explored the resource utilisation and high-
value application of biomass, accelerating its transformation and development. By enhancing centralised
market coordination, the overall disposal costs for hazardous waste were further reduced.

With respect to project construction, during the year under review, Everbright Greentech had 11 projects
that completed construction and commenced operation, contributing an additional designed annual
household waste processing capacity of 255,500 tonnes, with a solar power installed capacity of 53.96
MW, and an energy storage capacity of 2.20 MW. 9 environmental remediation services were completed and
delivered. In addition, 5 projects commenced construction, with a solar power installed capacity of 60.19
MW and an energy storage capacity of 12.20 MW. 10 environmental remediation services commenced their
respective remediation work in succession.
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During the year under review, the Group’s greentech sector contributed an EBITDA of HK$1,009,155,000,
a decrease of 32% compared with 2023. Greentech contributed a net loss attributable to the Group of
HK$284,787,000, an increase of loss of 46% as compared with 2023. The decrease in profit was mainly
due to the weaker-than-expected recovery of the domestic hazardous and solid waste treatment market
leading to certain projects continued to operate at a loss, resulting in an increase in the impairment losses
on intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, goodwill, and right of use assets compared to the last
financial year.

Major operating data relating to greentech during 2024 are summarised below:

DEFEFEAN AEEZBRFIREEMGFANE -RETERBHEEF B1,009,155,0007T * &
TECZFTER2% -GBRFBMAEEEB(GFEEBE284,787,0000 R T - =ZFIBMEIE
46% BN TRIEZEEHANERNCEREEEETHEEINRER ERETEEKCERBEHE
FRARINELEE DX - BEARB BEAEABREERBRLL LA

“EOME o geRRrZEIEEZEEH/EENT

Percentage
2024 2023 change
—E-mE —E-= [Epaan-E
Waste processing volume HiRRIEE (M)
(tonnes) 4,156,000 3,836,000 8%
Biomass raw material EMBEEMERIEE
processing volume (tonnes) (M8) 7,686,000 7,845,000 2%
Hazardous and solid waste  fEEEE R B £ (M)
processing volume (tonnes) 499,000 449,000 11%
Steam supply volume (tonnes) 5t FESE (ME) 4,009,000 3,084,000 30%
On-grid electricity (MWh) FHREE KRR 6,675,831 6,474,263 3%
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Focusing on Integration of Advanced Manufacturing
and Modern Services to Explore and Establish “Zero-carbon Factory”

R AR e o s BB AR P il 5 g’k%ﬂ?ﬁr%@?]:ﬁj

IV. EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURING P9 ~ £ & 538
With Changzhou Equipment Company being the platform, the Group’s equipment manufacturing sector
strategically positions itself as the major entity to implement the Group’s development strategies empowered
by intelligent manufacturing. It also persistently develops and upgrades the zero-carbon factories to foster
a new development paradigm featured with “Intelligently Made by Everbright”. As a result, equipment
manufacturing continues to solidify its industry-leading position.

In terms of market expansion, during the year under review, equipment manufacturing insisted on integrating
its professional advantages with market demand, actively deployed market opportunities at home and
abroad, and followed up on multiple projects with good progress. Notably, equipment manufacturing
implemented the first waste battery recycling and resource utilisation project in Changzhou City, Jiangsu
Province. This not only marks the Group’s first battery recycling project but also serves as a benchmark
project for the implementation of the national major technical equipment of this kind in China. In overseas
markets, equipment manufacturing won the bid for an equipment supply service in Malaysia, marking its
first small-scale furnace equipment project in the overseas market, and won another bid in India for a
grate furnace supply service, accelerating the international rollout of the Group’s independently developed
environmental protection equipment and services. Additionally, five equipment products, including
incinerators (including the small-scale type), passed the relevant assessment and received the CE Marking,
providing strong support for the Group’s in-depth expansion into the European market.

FEREFRERBEKEEMNEFLATD LT BETSEMARBRERIRI BREML BFART
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In 2024, equipment manufacturing signed 191 external sales contracts (including contracts for external
sales of equipment), with a total contract value of RMB285 million. With respect to the equipment supply
and after-sales services, equipment manufacturing commenced service items to 205 clients, provided
15 sets of grate furnaces to the Group’s internal projects and external clients, and provided 81 sets of
equipment for incinerator, boiler, flue gas purification system and membrane system. The sector also
signed 167 contracts in relation to external after-sale services, with a total contract value of approximately
RMB171.7 million. In 2024, the sector provided 195 after-sales service projects, of which 124 were internal
projects and 71 were external projects.

During the year under review, with a goal of boosting proficiency and efficiency, equipment manufacturing’s
major achievements in the R&D on equipment, processes, and technologies are summarised as follows:

e A project on the R&D and commercialisation of rapid assembly of small-scale solid waste treatment
equipment with a treatment capacity of 200 tonnes/day passed relevant assessment and inspection.

e The Group’s complete set of 75 tonnes/day small-scale equipment was installed and commenced
operation at an environmental protection project in Barkam, Sichuan Province.

e The set of equipment and engineering application for multi-source, multi-phase hazardous waste
large-capacity continuous flow incineration was certified as internationally leading by an authoritative
organisation.

e The key technologies for efficient tiered pyrolysis of waste power batteries and complete equipment for
recovering valuable components from waste batteries were certified as internationally leading in terms of
performance.
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Focusing on Green Technological R&D and Innovatio
to Empower Development of all Businesses

RS OB AT I AE 25 TH 2R 75 4 e

V. ENVIROTECH # ~ IRIG A LB
Being the Group’s engine for technology R&D and innovation, envirotech focused on key research areas
such as solid waste treatment and resource utilisation, agricultural and forestry biomass utilisation, water
environment management, big data, intelligent control, etc. Serving as the Group’s platform for core
technological innovation and commercialisation of technological achievements, envirotech aims to empower
the development of all business sectors of the Group through technology-driven solutions.

In terms of technological empowerment, during the year under review, envirotech strengthened technical
exchanges and communication with various business sectors within the Group. It delved into demands,
identified pain points, effectively addressed practical issues in project operations, and promoted the
transformation of outcomes. In the meantime, by leveraging projects under the Group, envirotech has
actively implemented major initiatives such as beautifying rural areas, flue gas purification, and small-scale
waste incinerators, thereby supporting the Group’s expansion into new businesses, elevating processing
technologies, and fostering equipment innovation. In 2024, envirotech achieved 30 commercialisations.
Among them, the integrated desulfurisation and denitrification technology offered a cost-effective solution
for raising standards of flue gas emissions in multiple projects; anaerobic ammonia oxidation technology
was applied for the first time in projects through a EMC model; the automatic combustion control (ACC)
technology was further applied in more projects, further enhancing the level of automation in waste
incineration; and most core functional modules of the data comprehensive application service technology
are now operational online, boosting data sharing capabilities within the Group’s systems.

ERAEBREMERMNSIZ REMRAREREREEZERERCMNA BEMEYEF B KRR
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Centred on the Group’s “Second-stage Entrepreneurship” initiative and the exploration of the “Second
Curve” development goals, envirotech, during the year under review, focused on the challenges and
opportunities facing the domestic environmental protection industry. From the perspective of leading
technological innovation, envirotech aimed to establish itself as the Group’s platform for collecting and
sharing policy and industry information. With specific concentration on areas such as solid waste recycling,
green fuels, bio-based materials, and solar energy storage, envirotech systematically conducted policy
research, industry surveys, and model exploration.

Guided by China’s goals of “Peaking Carbon Emission and Achieving Carbon Neutrality”, during the year
under review, envirotech actively promoted asset development and management work. Among these
efforts, envirotech collaborated with environmental energy to complete the registration of the International
VCS programme for Wuwei Project, making it the Group’s first waste-to-energy project with the VCS
verification. Furthermore, it expedited the VCS verification for Hue Project. Envirotech also facilitated the
internal adoption of a self-developed carbon asset management system within the Group’s systems, which
has spanned over 370 projects. This advancement further enhances the intelligent management of carbon
emission data and establishes a solid foundation for the disclosure of carbon emission data.

EEAERT " RAZ - RRBFCHGINERERET R REARKRNOBEFEENHEEANIRRF
EXEREEINEEKSE ERXAIFSIEAE ?TLZK%IE’JBZ%E—MT%TDE145(%/\¥$‘£’%
HEGEEREERLC BB EMEME R EESRE REFARBERME TEBAMBEINER
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As of 31 December 2024, authorised intellectual property rights that were held and major technical essays
published by the Group are listed below:

BEZHNF+_AZ+—H AEEAFAEEENBERRESRMHAXERBRAT :

As of
31 December 2024
2024 (accumulated)
BE_Z_NF
+=ZB=+—H
—EpE (RsH)

Granted intellectual property MR ERE (18)
rights* 193 2,149
Invention patents AR ER 56 282
Utility model patents EREER 90 1,480
Software copyrights B EER 45 332
Appearance patents INER R 2 55
Major technical essays BEERXEREX (B 5 102

*Including intellectual property rights that have been terminated or have expired
Y BRI BB R BT EEE
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Events After The Reporting Period $R& HARIE S 18

On 6 and 7 January 2025, CEWL completed the issuance of the first tranche MTNs for 2025 in the national
Inter-Bank Bond Market in the PRC with a principal amount of RMB1.5 billion, at an interest rate of 1.78%
per annum, and a maturity period of 5 years (with an interest rate adjustment option to be exercised by
CEWL and a resale option to be exercised by the noteholders at the end of the third interest-bearing year).

In February 2025, Everbright Greentech completed the issuance of the first tranche green MTNs in the
Inter-Bank Bond Market in the PRC with a principal amount of RMB1.0 billion, at an interest rate of 2.39%
per annum, and a maturity period of 3+N years. The proceeds from the issuance are for repayment of
interest-bearing debts of Everbright Greentech and its subsidiaries, replenishment of working capital
and/or investment in and construction of their environmental protection projects and for other business
development purposes.

R_E - AFE—RBRNAR—ALtH ARKBEFHEZERTHESTHETHN T _AFES—HTHE
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Business Prospects ¥ EE

As a practitioner of Xijinping’s Thought on Ecological Civilisation, a leading player of Building a Beautiful
China, and a leader in China’s environmental protection industry, the Group will adhere to the corporate
mission of “Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful China”, with the goal “To Become a World-
Class Integrated Environmental Service Provider with Chinese Characteristics”. The Group will actively
integrate into key national strategies, effectively ensuring people’s livelihood security and stability of energy
supply. It will delve deeper into the three major development directions, namely technology as a driving
force, an internationalisation path, and an industrial ecological system, and gradually transform the strategic
blueprint of its “15th Five-Year Plan” into reality. Additionally, the Group will coordinate domestic and
international markets, as well as traditional and emerging businesses, to expand synergistic businesses,
extend the business chains, and enhance the contribution of incremental business. Furthermore, the Group
will strengthen refining operations management, tap into operations management potential, and accelerate
digital transformation. It will deepen the integration of technology and industry to cultivate new quality
productive forces and drive “Second-stage Entrepreneurship” with innovation. The Group will also elevate
positioning and broaden perspectives to make every effort to address the difficult problem of accounts
receivable, while persisting in the continuous emphasis on safety production. Lastly, regarding execution,
the Group will practice and promote the corporate culture of “Real Action, Immediate Implementation”
and the entrepreneurial culture of “Embracing Rules, Taking Bold Responsibility, and Pursuing Dreams”, to
consolidate the collective effort of “Second-stage Entrepreneurship”.

Looking forward, the Group will adhere to the principles of pursuing progress while maintaining stability
and promoting stability through progress, focus on core responsibilities and main business, as well as
consolidate the Group’s leading position in the industry. In addition, the Group will enhance its core
competitiveness, fully embark on a new journey of “Second-stage Entrepreneurship”, laying a solid
foundation for a good start for the 15th Five-Year Plan” and continue to contribute to the construction of a
Beautiful China.

ERBEFEEXHEBRNETE ZETEERNWEEE PERFREXNREEZ cEBRFRE
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 817 [0l B8

Financial Results B 75 ¥ 4&

In 2024, the Group’s consolidated revenue amounted to HK$30,258,009,000, a decrease of 6% from
HK$32,090,207,000 in 2023. Consolidated gross profit was HK$11,535,959,000, a decrease of 16% compared
to 2023. The Group’s consolidated gross margin was approximately 38.1%, a decrease of 4.9 percentage points
over 2023. The EBITDA amounted to HK$10,074,731,000, a decrease of 21% from HK$12,827,961,000 in
2023. Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for 2024 was HK$3,377,200,000, a decrease of 24%
compared to 20283. Basic earnings per share for 2024 was HK54.98 cents, HK17.12 cents less than the amount
of HK72.10 cents in 2023. The decrease of revenue and earnings were primarily due to decrease in construction
service revenue recorded during 2024, mainly resulting from a drop in the number of new projects in the industry.

E_NFE - RAEERFESRGEREEN30,258,009,000 0 W B =F R HEK32,090,207,0007T F
[£6% c4x & EH A HBM11,585,959,000t " RZE_=ZF THF16%; KA EMEHNIB 1% BT =
FERLAEE D - BRANE - RE - INENRBHEARFIAEK10,074,731,000 0 RIS =ZF 2B
12,827,961,000 FfE21% e —_E_MNEA N DR FE ABERF A EE3,377,200,000 0 -~ =
ERD24% e _TE " NEESRERZHN A54.9088B 1 & - - ZFEM72. 1081 17128l - LA
RBAMBEVEIFEARSOTEANEBEEHEN B _ S _NEEREERB WL -

Financial Position Bt # ik i

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s total assets approximately amounted to HK$186,027,024,000 with
net assets amounting to HK$66,416,576,000. Net asset value per share attributable to equity holders of the
Company remained stable from HK$7.837 per share as at the end of 2023 to HK$7.848 per share as at the end
of 2024. As of 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio (total liabilities over total assets) of the Group was 64%, a
decrease of 1 percentage point as compared with that of 65% as at the end of 2023.

RZIE_ONE+__B=+—H AEBEZZHEEENABH186,027,024,000c - FEEAH B
66,416,576,000cc AN Bl mFE ANEBLEREEFEABE7.8480 M- E - - F 2 BH7.8377T
MERBEE R _Z_NE+_AB=+—H ZxEBEEESBLEX UREERUEEETEME
#B64% WM BT —FFEKL65% FEIEEDE o

Financial Resources H# &R

The Group adopts a prudent approach on cash and financial management to ensure proper risk control and
low cost of funds. It finances its operations primarily with internally generated cash flow and loan facilities from
banks. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances of HK$8,041,996,000, representing a
decrease of HK$590,744,000 as compared to HK$8,632,740,000 at the end of 2023. Most of the Group’s cash
and bank balance, representing approximately 98%, was denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

AEBHREAVEEEFRNEENRI Y EEEBRARBEAEREEER A BEEESEAKRBERI
HEREARBTREZER R _E_NFF+_B=Z+—H XAEBAFEREKRIBETEHRBE
8,041,996,00070 M _ B _=FF&K 2 #H18,632,740,0007T i  #H#590,744,00070 c NEE K3 H
RWERIBTEFREIBBERARE > (1498%
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Borrowings & &k R

The Group is dedicated to enhancing the ways of financing and improving banking facilities to reserve funding
to support the development of the environmental protection business. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had
outstanding borrowings of HK$91,669,439,000, representing a decrease of HK$2,954,705,000 as compared
to HK$94,624,144,000 at the end of 2023. The borrowings included secured interest-bearing borrowings of
HK$40,277,255,000 and unsecured interest-bearing borrowings of HK$51,392,184,000. The borrowings are
mainly denominated in Renminbi, representing approximately 97% of the total borrowings, and the remainder
is denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Polish Zloty. Most of the borrowings are at floating rates. As of 31
December 2024, the Group had banking facilities of HK$96,219,437,000, of which HK$30,024,637,000 have
not been utilised. The banking facilities are of 1 to 23 years terms.

AEBNNDEEFAANRERREAREARTEREE HEETE A RGREFNZERE - N2 X
F+_B=+—H AEEHAREEERNHEEALBENI1,669,439,000 0 " B _SE_=—FFRZ B
94,624,144,00070 L B 1£2,054,705,000c c ERBIEB IR 25t BB EHE1840,277,255,00070 & &
HKIFEZH BB EES1,3902,184,000c  AEBNERFTEUAEREAE MU MEHO97% > HEFAE
EABNMEBELRR AEENABL,ETRBEAIPANX RTEONF+B=+—H > A"EBEZIRIT
B EREE AHB1896,219,437,0007T ° Hh#E#30,024,637,000 0 A M AKB B2 EE  BTREA1E23
FEffo

Foreign Exchange Risks 5 EE & &

The Company’s financial statements are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, which is the functional currency
of the Company. The Group’s investments made outside Hong Kong (including the Chinese Mainland) may
incur foreign exchange risks and foreign exchange realignment when retranslation of the financial statements
of foreign subsidiaries into Hong Kong dollars. The Group’s operations are predominantly based in China,
representing over 97% of its total investments and revenue. The Group’s assets, borrowings and major
transactions are mainly denominated in Renminbi, and as such, it forms a natural hedging effect in a long run.
With this in mind, the Group also pursues an optimal allocation of borrowings in different currencies while setting
appropriate levels of borrowing in non-base currencies, and adopting proper financial instruments to closely
manage foreign exchange risk.

KRB ZHNERERNEEBEHOARBBE - FEEBRENEBLIIME (BEFBEIAM) FEINERRE > XKk
EMUBBHREBIINBAENMBREMELENER AR - —EUR FERATEBZ T2 XHAE
o ERRERBEBBITNU L FEBEE - EMEIEXRGABOUAREREM REMT I —
BEANH T - BRGCECRKSBEREN BEXFFAUBER MXAGENER T AR ERE
S BE JEL Bz

Pledge of Assets & & i {##

Certain banking facilities, lease liabilities and asset-backed securities of the Group were secured by revenue
and receivables in connection with the Group’s service concession arrangements, bank deposits, mortgages
over property, plants and equipment, right-of-use assets and the equity interests of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As of 31 December 2024, the aggregate net book value of assets and equity interests in subsidiaries
pledged amounted to approximately HK$100,883,278,000.

FERETRTRE HEAERAKREEXRFESF UL EERBEHFCERLH T 2E T am KRB
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Commitments &
As of 31 December 2024, the Group had purchase commitments of HK$2,161,956,000 outstanding in
connection with the construction contracts.

RIZBZNF+ZA=+—RH c&EER/EEGNMI N ZREBAESHBE2,161,956,0007T °

Contingent Liabilities { & & &

As of 31 December 2024, the Company granted financial guarantees to its subsidiaries. The Board does not
consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Company under the guarantees. The maximum liability
of the Company as of 31 December 2024 for the provision of the guarantees was HK$243,147,000.

RIE_WE+ _BA=+—H AR BALRMNBAS LM BER - EFERA BRERFTEASR
KOERE FHEFRARNATEHER R _SE_NE+_RB=+—H AR XIETLAHHFERT &
SEBEZREAB243,147,0007T °

INTERNAL MANAGEMENT A &f & 12

The Group adheres to the management principle of “People-oriented, Pragmatism, Creativity and Systematic
Management”, and has built a comprehensive management structure to maximise efficiency. The Group’s
management holds Management Decision Committee meeting(s) regularly to review current operations and
management, with a view to promoting the sustainable development of the Company. The responsibilities
of each functional department and business sector of the Group are clear with various comprehensive
management systems. Internal control procedures are sound and have been implemented effectively. The
Company’s audit department performs its internal monitoring functions to ensure that each functional
department and business sector strictly comply with the relevant internal control requirements.

The Group is committed to building a comprehensive risk management culture. It implements the risk
management model of “Integration of Policy, Procedure and System with Risk-oriented” to comprehensively
strengthen its risk management and control. During the year under review, the Group updated the list of risk
factors according to the progress of the implementation of risk management system, with a view to continuously
enhancing the systematisation and normalisation level of risk management.

FEB-—BEFTUART REHFE HEAFH SELEE NEEES UTRT T ZENEERE U
HEERAVE - FEREEECEHARERERAREZE SR HENEENEEBRETHRE RELXR
ANAFEER FEBEREBFAIASEFZRIRBEFHAE SBEEFETS ABEFAERS
BEREBEMAT HRARSEMPISEANLEE R BESBAESM S EFIREEBAITHERE R
EREERIE K o

FEERNRUREZNABREEXC THEHTTUERBRAER UFIERSER - LURERBTE URKS
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During the year under review, the Group continued to uphold the fundamental principle of “maintaining safe and
stable operations while ensuring compliance with relevant emission standards” and strictly complied with the
relevant national laws and regulations. In terms of safety, environment and occupational health, it proactively
carried out routine inspections. Apart from incorporating “Safe Production Month” into its operation, the Group
paid close attention to safety management and carried out hidden hazards identification and rectification in
relation to safety risk to ensure all projects, whether under construction or in operation, strictly complied with
all production safety policies. These steps secured the stable operation of environmental protection projects
including waste-to-energy, integrated biomass utilisation, waste water treatment projects, etc, while enhancing
economic benefits. Besides, the Group continued to move forward with project construction works while
accelerating the finalisation of projects in the preparatory stage. It also went through due formalities to ensure
that all project construction works were carried out in compliance with laws and regulations. At the same time,
the Group continued to put more efforts into safety management of construction projects to ensure professional
and safe construction.

REBEEERN AEEEER Z22REEL ERFMUFAERRR BRATEKXBBAERER A
BREZE REEBERREOERE I UESZ2EEA)  RNMZ2EE FEZ2BH BR
BREEKREBEEEERBRATEREZEHE  REMNREE - EVEGGHAR S KEESKBRMFRIER
REEZNEARERCENZATREA LI FEBFENRTERE SEREEERERGEGRTE
MBI BRSEEGEARIRE AIRTHMAIREBEEZER A CEBERXARI 2K I

HUMAN RESOURCES A E R

Human Resources are the key strategy of corporate development which require appropriate personnel to
execute this core strategy. The Group highly values its human resources management and puts great emphasis
on staff training. It believes that realising the full potential of its employees is crucial to its long-term growth. The
Group continues to improve its human resources through internal training as well as local, overseas, and on-
campus recruitment.

TCEERFABEAT BRATERBRZOBRA - FEESEERANEREE  —m B8 T HI RE
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To cope with the needs of talent development, the Group has adopted a multi-pronged approach
to enhance its comprehensive management level through improving the policies, providing training
for all staff and setting up various professional teams. During the year under review, the Group
formulated new management policies including The Management Policies for Staff Training,
Management Policies of Professional Qualification Framework of Headquarters, and revised the
Management Policies for Recruitment. The Group has successively held seminars and trainings on
ESG, tendering management, cybersecurity, policies’ briefing, integrity and self-discipline through
a combination of online and offline blended training mode. The management and employees were
well equipped with relevant knowledge and skills with a view to address new opportunities and
challenges. In order to improve the overall level of information management, different professional
teams namely Information Technology Operation and Maintenance Team, Digital Platform
Construction Working Group and Contract Management System Construction Project Working Group
have been established. Meanwhile, in order to increase the involvement of staff in the Group’s
development strategy, the “Campaign to listen to the Voices of Staff” was held to collect the ideas
and suggestions of employees.

The Group makes full use of the advantages of diversified businesses to provide employees with a
broad development platform. In addition to cross-sector and cross-regional job rotation, the Group
has arranged a number of internal recruitments to accord priority to employees to apply for the
vacancies of different departments at the head office which can provide the employees with the
opportunities to develop their potential by changing different positions.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 15,000 employees. Details of the total
employee benefit expense for the year under review are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements. Employees within the Group are remunerated according to their qualifications,
experience, job nature, performance and with reference to market conditions. Apart from a
discretionary performance bonus, the Group also provides other benefits such as medical insurance
and a mandatory provident fund scheme to employees in Hong Kong.

REGANTERFTE FEEZEET BETENE RHEEHI KN ULEX/NMEF UWRAKSE
BkE-DEFEN AFEEFFETHEHI TFEERZ BRAEFEXFIEEWE RARKETTT
HREEENEIF AEEZESR LER TR ARBMTESG KBEEE PRZE2 FIEESE R
ZEREEESRAEI BEEERETIRFESRE UERFTHNHBELE SREABRENEEKE
DRI T EMERMRFREGEES BUTCTFaEZ2RIFNVE cREERAMEREBE LFENESF UL
S HEBET2EAEBREREUK RTMBEREBBELY  EZWEEIERKEE-

FEBRDANBEBZANER REIRUHRFEALZETE BRTBERRE BEEBEIMIN XEBZ
BT2HANEBE BLAEETHRFEMIMBABA REITREAFANERK S  HEBETE-
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES * ZE & [ & N EE M

The Group continued to promote work in relation to its risk management. The principal risks faced by the Group
during the year were adequately identified and assessed according to the requirements of the Risk Management
System of China Everbright Environment Group Limited and the Risk Management Operation Manual of China
Everbright Environment Group Limited. The 2024 principal risks of the Group included accounts receivable
risk, environmental compliance and safety management risk, staff placement risk, market competition risk,
procurement compliance risk, operational stability risk and cost control risk. The Company has formulated and
implemented targeted control measures based on the respective specific performance of each of the principal
risks to ensure that the overall risk of the Company is under control.

FEEFEHERBEERMAIF BR(FBCKRERRE (EB) ARAF AR EES E)M(RBEIKIRE
(%%)EBE’ATHKAﬁfiiﬂrET’E%Hﬂ»;zX’ﬁ$%l7ﬁiﬁuuﬁ’]fﬁfi JEL B 78 o R Bl AN S fh o AN EE B —
ETNFTERARBOMNERIREMAR RESREZ2EERR - AERERAR THHFER KRB
EHRAR BEEREMAR RAEZEFERE ARATRESTEZARARERERE fIELRET AHHEMEYN
EEER BRERRRAIE

Accounts receivable risk

— BWERREAR

Description: Affected by the change in national subsidy policies and the
L macroeconomic environment, the ability of governments at all levels to

pay has been impaired, increasing the likelihood of deferring settlement
of national subsidies, waste processing and waste water treatment fees,
which could affect the overall liquidity.

REMHREFURCESETE > SRBUTH B & L&
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A

Accounts receivable risk (continued)
FEWRAR R (&

Responsive measures:

FEH T

1.

1.

Improved the management mechanism. While rigorously
adhering to the work policy of “thorough understanding of the
situation, accurate data, clear responsibilities, immediate actions,
pragmatic work and visible results”, the Company introduced
institutional documents such as the Accounts Receivable Risk
Management Measures and the Notice on Further Enhancing the
Long-term Mechanism of “Special Classes, Ledgers, Assessments
and Incentives” for Accounts Receivable, and reinforced the working
model for “up and down coordination with Everbright Environment
providing overall supervision, each business sector carrying out
statistical follow-up and each project company implementing
recovery”, thereby significantly enhancing the precision and
effectiveness of accounts receivable risk management.
TEEEEH BREEIERBA -BFE-BEBE -1THHR TF
E-BNMAINI A NE(BIRREAREZEEME) (BN
E—TRICERMIE - 8IR - Z 1% BB RESIIEM ) E
FIEXH > FEERIETARIRIEEERE - SEFIRIRRAARE &
HEARKRELWHN ETHE O TIEE BIRF AR SRR
HBIE KR BRI F o
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Accounts receivable risk (continued)

FEWCRE R (&

Responsive measures: (continued)

FEEHEE -

(#)

2.

Implemented targeted strategies based on specific
categories. For local government arrears, the Company
systematically advanced recovery efforts by combinations of
holding dedicated meetings to address accounts receivable
issues, interpreting new policy packages, developing a collection
toolkit. For national subsidy arrears, the Company conducted
in-depth structured analysis to clarify the scope of the issue, and
to better understand the current situation, identify viable solutions
and secure necessary support. As it closely tracked the progress
of fund allocation and rights confirmation, the Company finalised
rights confirmation for 5 projects in 2024 even amid frequent policy
changes and unfavorable conditions. The recovery rate of accounts
receivable in 2024 was 86%, an increase of 7 percentage points
when compared with 2023.

Strengthened liquidity management. The Company performed
full-cycle cash flow calculation and analysis on a regular basis to
ensure that its cash reserves, bank deposits and available credit
lines adequately support operational requirements. As of December
2024, the current ratio was 134%, reflecting an increase of 20
percentage points compared to the end of 2023.
BREDPERR -SHHM A BRI BB E BN RMEES B
EG - ME—EBTFREESHX -TRHIABREEHE%E % M
ERFBWIIE; SIHBEMRT ETREREBIEDNT E—F
BETRERE THEMTH #m%@&ﬂ%f&%ﬁ?ﬂiﬁhi%&ﬂ
ETRMEBEER THRBAEEFHEEEIIERENBERT
—EMFERNTR TSEEENEELF T _NFRIKERE
HAE| N K A86% B _E _=F1A7TEBT DB -
3§1t,m§JI‘F“#E°Eﬂﬁﬁaﬂ)§£@ﬂﬁﬁ’£ﬁ§ﬁﬂﬁﬁ VfﬁIT’E fie R
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The existing control measures were partially effective and the risk
level remained unchanged.
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Il. Environmental compliance and safety management risk
—y BRESREZ>EEER

Description: The regulations on production safety and emission of pollutants were
I increasingly stringent, thus imposing higher requirements on the

refinement of operation of the enterprises. With the increasing number
of operating projects, the basis numbers and difficulties involved with
safety and environmental management kept on rising, and the Company
was under high pressure associated with environmental compliance and
safety management.

BERZ2EER SRR AEE I BRS ﬂm%@ Y HE A G 7K
TREEFSEKR - BERTIREBEENFEE N EEEHNEERHE
RERMA BRIABRRERELZ2EENENEBER S

Responsive measures: 1. Strengthened the management over relevant parties.

FEX AT The Company remained committed to intensifying safety and
environmental oversight for all relevant parties (including personnel)
involved in operation and construction projects, requiring that
relevant parties or general contractors that have experienced
accidents of relevant levels were restricted from participating in any
bidding, or even included in the blacklist, and reinforced safety and
environmental supervision for projects operated under joint venture
or entrustment agreements.

2. Enhanced efforts in education and training. The Company
made arrangement for all employees of project companies to
take examinations for safety and environmental management
qualifications, and offered education sessions, training courses and
examinations of safety and environment management to relevant
parties, so as to improve their safety and environmental capabilities
and quality.

3. Strengthened monitoring and early warning. The Company
made full use of the information sharing platform, environmental
protection monitoring platform and testing platform, closely
monitored project operation indicator alarm information, provided
early warning and prevention, and implemented precaution controls.

1. hu%ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁoztxﬁﬂhéﬁméﬁ EE - EREBEMERFEAM (A

B)NZREENE EXEEEEAEREWEHNE/EF AR
ABEMRFZ2EKXZ EEIARLE /IEHEE -EHESE
HENZEREE-

2. RIEEEEN - K~ B4 %&IEE’&T:—L_ EZMZIREEERIDEE
o WEHHBERAAAENMETZRES BIMNEH BRALZER
IREENMEE -

3. MABEERE - ARIRNINBEEEE=EFe - BREZETE &
AFa MRBNEEEERRREFEENGEE A EEMHH
B ERiER] -

The existing control measures were partially effective and the risk
level remained unchanged.
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. Staff placement risk
=+ AEERERRE

Description:
it

Under the rivalry with industry peers for acquiring talents and the
influence of other factors, the Company might face increasing
difficulties in the allocation and retaining of manpower, among which
the recruitment and retaining of talents for projects in remote areas was
particularly difficult, which may result in a negative impact on the stability
of operation.

RITEGFHFERASHREFE A\EREVEFE—THE RE
HENAEBHEBEEATERFERE mEHESREMBREAT
%0 o

Responsive measures:

FE¥ T

1. Improved organisational and human resources systems.
The Company developed or updated 10 policies, such as the
Performance Evaluation Guidelines for Headquarters Departments
and Employees and the Management Rules for Seconded
Employees at Headquarters.

2. Enhanced efforts in building human resources. The Company
developed the annual Soul-Casting and Empowerment Training Plan
for the Four Core Talent Teams, for the purpose of promoting the
annual training programmes for management professionals, market
specialists, top technical experts and international talents.

3. Strengthened the development of young leaders. By building
the regular mechanism for selecting and cultivating promising young
leaders as the key, the Company advanced the construction of
high-potential young leadership across the whole organisation.

1. TEHBASHE - ARSHIENET (BEHFIRAEEZTE
HEE) CGRREMER AN B EIERE ) F10IEFE o

2. BIEAZABRBER AASFIEFE(THEZ AA M) SRS
NBEE) TREBAA -THBAABREAT BREATFEE
I TEe

3. MARAFEHRBHRMER AREEUBRECESFERIERIEE
WH T2 RAHERESFEREXMAMAREI o

The existing control measures were effective and the risk level
was on a downward trend.

REEEREBER ARSFRERTEES-
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V. Market competition risk
O WSERF AR

Description: As the environmental protection industry was undergoing profound
A adjustment, it witnessed substantially shrinking market growth and

fiercer market competition in traditional business. In the process of
strategic optimisations, the Company could not shape competitive
advantages for new businesses in the short term, and therefore might be
exposed to greater market pressure.

BERRITEEARABER SREZFBNEETSREZHE mHH
FH@mAZ ; ARTEHBELBRER FEMEBERBENE LT AR
FEDIMEERATIHZHFE IR

Responsive measures: 1. Remained deeply devoted to main responsibilities and
FETIE IR - principal businesses, and consistently adhered to strategic

guidance. The Company developed the Everbright Environment
“15th Five-Year” Strategic Pre-Plan to define the development
direction for the next five years and refine the “technology as
a driving force, an internationalisation path, and an industrial
ecological system” strategy, thereby cultivating core competitive
advantages and driving high-quality growth.

2. Accelerated exploration of new business areas. With initial
research on new businesses such as fly ash recycling, energy
storage, biodiesel, waste/biomass-to-hydrogen conversion and
carbon trading, the Company explored new directions in waste
recycling and produced theme reports including the Special
Research Report on Waste Recycling, to uncover new business
opportunities and pathways for growth.

3. Fostered business growth through technological innovation.
The Company further advanced the “unveiling and leading” initiative
in new business areas, promoted major research projects on rural
revitalisation, flue gas treatment and integrated biogas-to-hydrogen
production and hydrogenation, and made certain technological
breakthroughs in the fields of water-cooled grates, compact
furnaces and battery recycling, driving technological empowerment
towards higher quality through cutting-edge innovation.

1. FHEEEHR  BICEBSIE - GROCKIRR T+ R BEETER
) BRMEARROEFEREA R ABIETRIRAL > BIRIE > £ REE BB
ERZOEREI BB eEEERE.

2. MRMEBRR - BERKERCH A R EWER -8R &
MEBS -RXZEMEBETARRAN  RREEWRIRTN AN
MAE MEGR(EEYRRENBEEAARS ) ZEEMER
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3. URMBIMEHERRERE - SEBEMEBEIIBEE AT 5
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The existing control measures were partially effective and the risk
level remained unchanged.
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V. Procurement compliance risk
By RESHRER

Description:
Rt

Given the large procurement scale of the Company, large quantity of
people involved and the potential non-strict implementation of systems
and deficiencies in process design, any compliance-related issues such
as bid rigging and collusive bidding, fraud and corruption may have
a significant negative impact on the Company’s compliance level and
corporate reputation.

RERERBERA 2EAEBRSZ AEEEFIERIT RS RER
AARENERL —BELER EREFEFR -BLEEERER
HABERKFINEEBETKERANEEATE -

Responsive measures:
FEHHE T

1. Increased transparency in open procurement. The Company
adhered to the principle of “ensuring transparency wherever required
and maximising openness wherever feasible”, with a further increase
in the procurement transparency compared to 2023.

2. Continuously strengthened process supervision and
management. All procurement projects with an amount of more
than RMB300,000 will be included in the procurement company
under the headquarters for centralised procurement to improve the
level of procurement compliance. A tendering supervision working
team has been designated to monitor large-scale bidding projects
before, during and after their execution. An unannounced inspection
mechanism has been introduced to review the compliance of
procurement practices across all business segments.

3. Enhanced “Two Database” management. The procurement
system has incorporated capabilities such as characteristic code
verification, blacklist for bidders implicated in bribery and alerts for
irregularities, to prevent unqualified suppliers from participating in
bids. The Company released the Notice on Further Standardising
Bid Evaluation Processes and implemented the Negative List
System for Evaluation Experts and Procurement Representatives,
to strengthen compliance oversight for evaluation experts and
procurement representatives.

1. RAAFRBLEG - BRETEABLAK AT AKINEA] £
BARERR S _=FE— PR

2. FBsALEEEBEE BARKIETU L EHEKELIMALE
HIBRABETERRBE BRAKBSRKE  RIIBEEETIE
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The existing control measures were partially effective and the risk
level remained unchanged.
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VI. Operational stability risk
Ny EERE M R

Description: Operating projects are facing the risk of feedstock shortages in respect
A of biological waste, hazardous waste and biomass fuel. This could result

in under-utilized production capacity or unexpected supply interruptions,
potentially harming investment returns. Furthermore, prolonged project
operations may encounter challenges such as equipment malfunctions
or extreme weather events, which, if not managed properly, could
compromise operational reliability.

EREBEEGFTEMIIR BE - EMEMBZREGONTIEY &
REETERDERHEIFFEFIT  ZERELNR ; AEEEEFE
BT REHE MR RKRERETENECEBESHNRE S

Responsive measures: 1. Steadily executed the “twelve-point” responding plan for
FEEFEHE - increasing waste. Through enhanced communication and

coordination with government bodies, proactive market intelligence
gathering and multi-faceted efforts to expand the waste market and
increase supply, the Company achieved steady rise in the amount
of waste processing by 7.1% in 2024 as compared to 2023, further
narrowing the waste resource gap.

2. Strengthened emergency response drills for extreme weather.
The Company developed or updated the emergency response
system for extreme weather, formulated emergency response plans,
conducted emergency drills for extreme weather on a regular basis,
made advance preparations and bolstered emergency supply
reserves for seasons likely to experience extreme weather, thus
continuously reinforcing the emergency response capacity.

3. Enhanced equipment failure management. The Company
intensified planned maintenance efforts and conducted
in-depth analysis of unplanned shutdowns to effectively minimise
their occurrence, and established a robust emergency response
mechanism for equipment failures to ensure immediate fault
detection, repair and resumption of operation when issues arise.

1. FERBENREE T+ 2R AR BB MR E N TR ERE A
BREETBEE 2 HERNUETH - 2HERREE 811
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The existing control measures were partially effective and the risk
level remained unchanged.
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VII. Cost control risk

Tt RAES AR

Description:
i

As affected by fluctuations in the market, the prices of critical
engineering and operation materials such as bulk materials, eco-friendly
consumables have increased. Coupled with the intensifying competition
in the forestry biomass fuel market, the costs of the Company may
continue to rise.

RHBEBTE ARME - REREMSEEZTIREREESYEBS
TAHURBMEMERKR T SHEEEBHI G ERMAFEH

=
= ©

Responsive measures:

FE¥S T

1. Deepened cost reduction and efficiency improvement
initiatives. On the production and operation front, the Company
improved project efficiency by multiple refining measures including
centralised procurement, precise chemical dosing, fuel cost
management and minimising unplanned shutdowns, achieving cost
savings in 2024.

2. Strengthened construction cost management. On the condition
of ensuring investment returns, the Company consistently refined
engineering budget and cost management practices, and mitigate
market volatility risk by incorporating price adjustment clauses for
key construction materials and labour in construction contracts,
witnessing a year-on-year decrease in construction and installation
costs for 2024.

1. RABERFER - FEESHE BAERREBE - BEME A
B AEE BV IESBEMECERE RABEETY
o _EB_MFEREAR

2. MATHEEIRFEZE TRERLEVGZNERLT  FEME LT
EREERERNAERE BAERMNISRAANEEEIMRALN
ERBERIL GEEET S KIER —T_NFEREREMN
KRELEBPA T

The existing control measures were effective and the risk level
was on a downward trend.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MANAGEMENT IR1% 81t & 18

The Group pays close attention to its operational impacts brought to the environment and society. After years
of development, the Group has established a comprehensive safety and environmental management system. In
2024, the Group continued to implement relevant management policies, covering structure and responsibilities,
accident management, flood control, risk classification, hidden danger investigation, safety and environment
training, information reporting, rating of the safety and environmental management levels of the operating
projects and construction projects, fire safety management, related parties’ management, occupational health,
public opening, etc.

The Group implements all staff safety production responsibility system and clarifies the safety production
and environmental management responsibilities and assessment standards. The person in charge of the
various levels of units of the project companies is the key person responsible for the safety and environmental
management of the respective units and is fully responsible for the safety production and environmental
management of the respective units. The Group and the business sectors have signed the annual safety and
environmental management target responsibility statement every year, clarifying the annual target, key tasks and
assessment methods.

The Board and senior management review sustainability strategies of the Group on a regular basis, and revise
the strategies when appropriate.

The Group’s waste-to-energy projects are designed and operated fully in compliance with the applicable national
environmental requirements and standards including but not limited to the Standard for Pollution Control on the
Municipal Solid Waste Incineration (GB18485-2014), the relevant local standards, as well as other requirements
as set forth in the environmental impact assessment reports approved by the local government, while the
daily average values of online flue gas continuously monitored parameters are well below the respective
emissions limits as stipulated under the /ndustrial Emissions Directive (2010/75/EU) and its relevant annexes
and amendments. Moreover, all of the Group’s biomass combustion operations meet the Emission Standard
of Air Pollutants for Thermal Power Plants (GB13223-2011), the relevant local standards, as well as other
requirements as set forth in the environmental impact assessment reports approved by the local government.

FEESEERESEERRNRREMERE KB FNER AEAERI—EXELL2RRIR
EERR T _NF - AEEFENITHE %ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ!ﬁ HMEREREABE - FHREE -HHA-A

FOM REHFE-ZRHABHI BfBRE EEREAIREEZRREESHRIR HHEE - HEE
73 =B BERE - ARARE-

rEEBREERS EEETE%J ARZ2AEMREEESEIMNE ZIRE- Iﬁﬁﬂjﬂiﬁﬁui
EARHFBEULXEHEREEES ST A HEMBEMUNZE2EENIRIE EEIT’E%@E%AOZIK
EEEAEBRESFRI)FERLARREEEAREEES ARFEER ER TIFREZME-

EFEgNSREEAEEHRGAEENAFEBLERRE  WERFLHES -

AEBNFREEEENRANEE RN AMEERANBERIRERAMZE EhEFE(EFNIRTE
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EREGEAIEZCHEEFE2EEREB(ITESRIEL) (2010/75/EV) R EBEM &R METF BB
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The Group continued proactively and timely disclosing emissions data and environmental management
information of its projects on Everbright Environment’s corporate website, including the connection to the
automatic monitoring data information disclosure platform of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
PRC at https://ligk.envsc.cn/index.html in respect of the daily average values of the 5 indicators of flue gas
and furnace temperature data from the operation of waste-to-energy projects of Everbright Environment. The
Group was also devoted to improving the information sharing platforms to facilitate the management to monitor
the operational condition to ensure compliant operation, and to timely report the operating performance of the
projects to the stakeholders of the Group.

More details about the environmental and social management performance of the Group are set out in
the sustainability report 2024 of the Company which is prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting
Initiative Standards and the Stock Exchange’s Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide,
and with reference to the newer Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code to ensure smooth
transition to full compliance by financial year 2025. Furthermore, the Group’s environmental and social
management strategies echo with the Sustainable Development Goals of the United Nations, reflecting
the Group’s commitment to tackling global challenges and creating a sustainable future. The full report
is available for download at the websites of the Company under “CSR > Sustainability Report” section
(www.cebenvironment.com/en/csr/susreport.php) and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
(www.hkexnews.hk).

FEREBBIHNACARENASMAEHEENRBENREEECEEEHMERKRENSEE BFX
ARIRBFAEEZENREEEAERAEERHIENER EEHEECERTRAERIREHETEAER
AFIF & thttps://ligk.envsc.cn/index.htmle AEBE BB B TEEERETAER EEREEASER
EEMBEEBNEERN N BAEAMAEEERES  MENARMAAEEFHERSEENEERE -

AEENRERMGEEFBRENFBHENARBN S _NFOFELERE ST ZREHKEDIK
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ERBRETH) UBREZZZAMBFEEIEANAEEL2AZE LI AEENRE T S EIEEE
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BEAR G REERARAB I (www.hkexnews.hk) T & o

Annual Report 2024 —Z " [yF&FER

69



/70

Management Discussion and Analysis EIEfE 1R 04

FINAL DIVIDEND = Hifg B

The Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK9.0 cents per share (2023: HK8.0 cents per
share) for the year ended 31 December 2024, payable to the Shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company (the “Register of Members”) on Tuesday, 10 June 2025.
Subject to approval by the Shareholders of the payment of final dividend at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 29 May 2025 (the “2025 AGM”), the final
dividend will be paid to the Shareholders on or around Wednesday, 2 July 2025.

%%ﬁkui/ﬁ?’f@i_v_lllﬁ—i— B=+—HLEFEZRHAKRE HxQO,%TIJJ(_v__fE Fk8.0%
i) » 4% f:g_ﬂfE/\H—FEI(_%HH_)%5‘Jf$@7ﬁx%%ﬂ%(rﬁx$%ﬂﬂj)Zﬁy% FREEFKZ
ETRFRAT+NAE (BN ETZAREAEERRBFEFAG(TE " 1FRRE fﬁjt 1) EHEEK
HRARE  RPRERN _Z_AFLtA"H (BHRD) SABRIKEFTRR -

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS & =it I2 %738 5 B 5 F &

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM
and entitlement to the final dividend, the Register of Members will be closed in accordance with the
following timetable:

SEERRHFE _F_LFRRBFAGIENG LREXREBKRERENER KR TR REZELTHE
REFEHERDBRELTE

(i) For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM:
BERBHEHF _Z_AFRIBAFAFGUING LRENERK !

(@) Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4 30 p.m. on Friday, 23 May 2025
BEXBROHEBRXGEUNEBEELFENREFER “ERFRERZ+=H (B8 H)
TFOE=+5

(b) Closure of Register of Members Monday, 26 May 2025 to
EERERBEELTFE Thursday, 29 May 2025

“E_RFRERBRZ+RH (BH)
E_Z_HEFAAZ+ANB (EHNO)
(both dates inclusive)

(BREEEMX)
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(i) For determining entitlement to the final dividend:

B E W EGREA RS B RV RER ©
(@) Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration

BEXRMBRXHUREE L FENREREIR

(b) Closure of Register of Members
EMERRELFE

(c) Record date
sC &% H B

4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 4 June 2025
TEZRFEABMNHE (BHD)
TFUE=+%5

Thursday, 5 June 2025 to
Tuesday, 10 June 2025
“EhFESBARAB (BHHM)
EZHRFEARATH (BHD)
(both dates inclusive)

(BREEEMX)

Tuesday, 10 June 2025
“E-AHESRB+HH(BHI)

During the above closure periods, no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, and to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar
and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than the relevant latest time set out above.

REREERERERAEETRONEBFREXLTFE - ARRTOERLEE S IFRIBERGLERN

SRRV ZALRBEBZRBRE FIAEBRRBRERNBHARE

WA LA R & R KPR AT 32 A
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Corporate Governance Report fS¥&83Re

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE {E# &4

China Everbright Environment Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively the
“Group”) upholds the management principle of “People-oriented, Pragmatism, Creativity and Systematic
Management”. The board of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company (the “Board”) firmly believes that high
quality, comprehensive and high-level corporate governance is the cornerstone of the Group, which can create
long-term value for the Group and is vital to the sustainable development of the Group. It can also safeguard the
interests of the Company’s shareholders (the “Shareholders”) and other stakeholders, including but not limited
to customers, suppliers, employees and the general public. The Board and the management of the Company
(the “Management”) strive to maintain high-level corporate governance standards, and continue to strengthen
corporate governance, internal control and risk management systems through a series of rules, regulations and
policies, and actively improve transparency and accountability. The Company strictly complies with the laws and
regulations of the places where it operates, and complies with the applicable guidelines and rules issued by the
regulatory authorities.

PENKRIRE (EH) ARAR (A28 EREWBAR B IAEER) FTTUARE - REFHE
MnEH HEEE NEEBES - ARFEF ((EF) S (EFg) *EEE - 2EKARSKFEEER
REAEENEL ERAAEEREREBE HAEREZUKBEREMES  THRMEZEARERER (TR
R REMFNE SEEFARREL - HEB BER—RAFNMN D - BEFTRERFTEEE ( EEE
B IBHERESKTHNEEERRE jﬁ%%@—%ﬂB’\J%ﬁ%%”‘ﬁ%%ﬁﬂbﬁ%%% 5 85 1% M L B B
Bag RGRSEHRENEAEE cRARBRETEEBMNE R EZRREN *ﬁkam%ff%?fﬁﬁﬂﬁ
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued) = ¥& 6 (&)

The Board’s decisions relating to the Group’s operating targets, values and strategies are consistent with the
Company’s corporate culture which emphasises integrity. The Group adheres to the management concepts that
emphasise integrity and pragmatism throughout its business operations, dedicates to building and promoting
its corporate culture, which is “Honoring Integrity, Making Profit through Righteous Means, Pursing Stability and
Prudence, Upholding Fundamental Principles and Breaking New Ground and Upholding Lawful Means”. As a
result, the Group has developed and improved various policies, such as the Employee Code of Conduct, the
Anti-corruption, Anti-bribery and Anti-money Laundering Policy, the Internal Whistleblowing and Investigation
Policy and External Whistleblowing and Investigation Policy. Additionally, it provides clear guidance and
instructions to its staff in various aspects. Such aspects include equal opportunities, behaviors relating to anti-
discrimination, anti-corruption, prevention of bribery, prevention of extortion, anti-fraud, anti-money laundering,
prevention of anti-competitive practices, avoiding conflicts of interest, use of confidential and proprietary
information, environment, health and safety, whistleblowing, and employee remunerations, welfare and security.
The Group also continues to provide corporate culture trainings to strengthen the staff’'s awareness of rules and
ethics, and strives to create a healthy, orderly and positive corporate culture environment. The Directors and the
Group’s staff receive anti-corruption training every year. The Group has been constantly promoting an integrity-
oriented culture and enhancing the concepts of “Acting Legally, Ethically and Responsibly”.

The Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) have been duly adopted by the
Board as the code on corporate governance practices of the Company.

The Company complied with all Code Provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2024. The Company continues to commit to enhancing its corporate governance appropriate to
the conduct and growth of its business, and to continuously reviewing, monitoring and assessing from time to
time its corporate governance practices to ensure the same comply with the CG Code and align with the latest
developments.

EFEFEZAEECEEN BEARBERARTUNGCEAREINEEXTE— R -TEBTEZEHENF
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BBLEHR - RAF - RAR - BLERBEFTA BRI oER - RENEFENNER RE - BRER
Z2 B UABIFBENENRESFETESBE LRHBEMNIESIBRE  TEBFENEEXCE
Al UIBRE TR EREERHRE KMELERREFNREEEL - EFERFEREESFHE
RREGEI AEERFEERAEXE EAEMAMITEEF 22 BEEREEINER-
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS £ %

Composition and function 48 i & B &

The Board currently comprises 2 Executive Directors, 2 Non-executive Directors (the “NEDs”) and 3
Independent Non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”). The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of
this annual report are set out on page 133 of the annual report.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) between
Board members and in particular, between the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”).

The Board believes that the balance between Executive Directors, NEDs and INEDs is reasonable and adequate
to provide sufficient balances that protect the interests of the Shareholders and the Group.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company biannually the number and the nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments. They have confirmed to the Company that they
have given sufficient time and effort to the Group’s affairs.

Despite the fact that some of the Directors hold several board seats and other significant commitments, after
taking into account that the Directors (i) actively attended all Board and Board committee meetings held by
the Company and actively gave constructive suggestions and opinions at these meetings. Even when they
were unable to attend due to other unexpected important business engagement, they had reviewed relevant
resolutions and documents in advance, and raised questions and suggestions (if any); (ii) attended the annual
general meeting to facilitate the direct and constructive communication with the Shareholders; (iii) asked
questions and made suggestions by email and telephone (if any) when the Board and Board committees
resloved the resolutions in writing; and (iv) perused monthly management updates of the Company and other
information in relation to the performance of the Company, the Board believes that Directors devoted sufficient
time and effort to perform their duties.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) 8% (#&

Composition and function (continued) 8 R E (&

The number of INEDs represents not less than one-third of the Board as required under the Listing Rules, one
of whom possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. INEDs provide the Group with diversified experience and professionalism. Their advice and views
as well as participation in the Board and Board committee meetings bring independent views, advice and
judgements on issues relating to the strategy and development of the Group, business operation and
performance, risk control, internal controls and conflict of interests, etc., to ensure the Shareholders’ interests
are taken into consideration. Other than Mr. Zhai Haitao who did not attend the 2024 annual general meeting
of the Company (“2024 AGM”) due to other important business engagement, the other 3 INEDs attended 2024
AGM to respond to questions and enquiries in relation to their work, if any.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) and the manner of
retirement by rotation of Directors as from time to time prescribed under the Listing Rules (notwithstanding
any contractual or other terms on which any Director may be appointed or engaged), at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of 3,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement at least once every 3 years.

BUFATEFABER(ETRADNBELESTEAN IR =202 — HP -2 EBEENEXEER
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (connnued) EEE (&)

Composition and function (continued) *BR R & (/&

The Board convenes meetings regularly throughout the year. Under the leadership of the Chairman of the
Board, the Board is responsible for approving and supervising the overall strategies and policies of the Group,
approving the annual budget and business plans, assessing the Group’s performance and supervising the work
of the Management. The Company ensures Directors can participate in Board proceedings in a meaningful and
effective manner. In respect of the regular meetings of the Board/Board committees, formal notices have been
sent to all Directors/respective Board committee members at least 14 days before the respective meetings.
Non-regular/ad-hoc meetings may also be taken place as and when necessary, of reasonable notice. In general,
agenda and meeting papers have been dispatched to all Directors/respective Board committee members for
review at least 3 days before the regular meetings. Agenda of the regular meetings has been prepared after
consultation with the Directors/respective Board committee members before being approved by the Chairman of
the Board/the chairman of the respective Board committees.

Minutes of the meetings of the Board/Board committees are recorded in sufficient details which include matters
discussed and considered together with decisions reached, and any concerns raised or dissenting views
expressed by all Directors/respective Board committee members, if any. Original signed minutes, upon the
review by all Directors/respective Board committee members, are properly kept by the Company Secretary/
duly appointed secretaries of the respective Board committees and such minutes are open for inspection by all
Directors/respective Board committee members.

The Company has arranged liability insurance for the Directors and senior management of the Company, and the
insurance coverage and the sum insured under the policy are reviewed annually.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (conf/nued) EEE (&

Composition and function (continued) #AR KRB & (&

Currently, the Board established 4 Board committees, namely the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”),
Risk Management Committee (the “Risk Management Committee”), Nomination Committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and Remuneration Committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), with specific written terms of
reference which state clearly with their respective authorities and duties. The Board cancelled the Disclosure
Committee with effect from 27 March 2024.

EEE% EFETRUBEFTEZE S BRELRZEE ((EREEY) EAREEZEE ((AREEZS
Z)) REZEG (RRZET) KFHNEES (F#FMEZEE)) ' LEBHREEFTTEZE T2 HER
%%EI’I%%;:R%H%EZH&*&“&H@%EO%%@Qii ME=ZB-+tHERHEKELZSE G-

1. Audit Committee #HEIZEEZ

The Audit Committee currently comprises 2 INEDs, namely Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina (chairman) and Mr. Fan
Yan Hok, Philip and a Non-executive Director, namely Mr. Kang Guoming. Its primary responsibilities include
but not limited to review the Group’s financial reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems, internal and external audit and other financial and accounting matters of the Group, and to oversee
the relationship between the Company and the external auditor of the Company, etc. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee have been established in writing and are available on the websites of the Company
and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEXx”).
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Composition and function (continued) 4B F% &
7.

(#)
Audit Committee (continued) #F1ZZE & (#)
Summary of Audit Committee’s main work in 2024

e reviewed 2023 annual report and 2024 interim report, particularly on (i) any changes in accounting
policies and practices; (i) major judgmental areas; (iii) significant adjustments resulting from audit/review;
(iv) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications; (v) compliance with accounting standards;
and (vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal requirements in relation to financial reporting;

e reviewed 2023 connected transactions including continuing connected transactions;

e discussed issues raised by the auditor and reviewed the auditor’s management letter and management’s
response, if any;

e discussed and recommended to the Board the proposed change of auditor;

¢ reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function
and ESG performance, and reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience and
their training programmes and budget;

e reviewed the Group’s risk management (including the ESG Risks) and internal control systems, the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function and financial reporting matters;

e reviewed the Company’s internal audit reports;

e reviewed arrangements where employees of the Company and related persons of the Company can
use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters; and

e discussed the audit plan.

The Audit Committee held a private meeting with KPMG (“KPMG”) without the presence of any Executive
Directors and the Management during the year under review.
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Composition and function (com‘/nued) ﬁﬁ&ﬂﬁkﬁ (&

2.

Risk Management Committee B EHEZ S5 &

The Risk Management Committee currently comprises 2 INEDs, namely Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip (chairman)
and Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina, as well as Mr. Luan Zusheng, the Executive Director and the CEO, and Mr.
Chou Jingyao, the Deputy General Manager of Risk Management and Legal Compliance Department of
the Company. Its primary responsibilities include but not limited to provide oversight of the Company’s risk
management programs, and to review the effectiveness of the management’s processes for identifying,
assessing, mitigating and monitoring enterprise-wide risks. The terms of reference of the Risk Management
Committee have been established in writing.

Summary of Risk Management Committee’s main work in 2024:

e reviewed the risk management work summary in 2023 and work plan for 2024;

e reviewed the risk appetite in 2024, and the implementation of risk appetite in 2023 and 2024;

e reviewed the effectiveness analysis of major risk control measures in 2023 and risk assessments in
2024;

e reviewed the major works of risk management in the first half of 2024 and work plan for the second half
of 2024;

e reviewed the main risk management situation in 2024; and

e discussed accounts receivable analysis and other matters.
REEELZEERKEAMBBIIFATETECHELRE (TF) AENEL T - UKRITEERER

ﬁmW%EﬁKQTHV“ﬁﬂfﬁAﬁﬂﬂ%%Eﬁ%ﬁ THE - HTIZBEOE (BERRN)

REALAENEAREREFNEaEEREEENCELARARAN TH - ER BZXEFHNEN
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RIE_NFFR AREEZEGNITHFEE

e BR_ZT-FRABEEBIRERZZSZNETIFSE;
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e BR_IZI-FIZEREZLHBBEIROM KT ZMHF R RTG ;
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3.

Nomination Committee 124 Z 5

The Nomination Committee currently comprises Mr. Wang Silian, the Executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board (chairman), and all the 3 INEDs, namely Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip, Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina
and Professor Zhang Xiang, JP.. Its primary responsibilities include but not limited to review annually the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and the time
devoted by the Directors, to review the Board diversity and the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy, and report/recommend to the Board, to assess the independence of the INEDs, to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment or re-designation of Directors
by taking into account the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy, to make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of the senior management, and to assess the qualifications
and competencies of the candidates, so as to ensure that all nominations are fair and transparent. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been established in writing and are available on the
websites of the Company and HKEXx.

REZECHFHATEFTREFTEEIFIBHNLE (TR URE2B=Z2BUYFATESFTECH
TEE-FRELETREDRHR JPER - ETZRECE (BARR) SERFTEFTITHNRE ABXK
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3. Nomination Committee (continued) 1f£4 Z 85 & (#&)

/Hg

Summary of Nomination Committee’s main work in 2024:

e reviewed the change of the members of the Board and the Board committees, and cancellation of the

Disclosure Committee;

e reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the

Board and the time devoted by the Directors;

e assessed the independence of the INEDs;

e discussed the re-appointment of INEDs;

e discussed the re-election of the retiring Directors at the 2024 AGM; and

e reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee made recommendations to the Board on the above matters.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (com‘/nued) EEE (&

Composition and function (continued) *BR R & (/&

4. Remuneration Committee # | Z 5 &
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip, the INED (chairman), Mr. Wang
Silian, the Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board, and 2 other INEDs, namely Ms. Li Shuk Yin,
Edwina and Professor Zhang Xiang, JP.. Its primary responsibilities include but not limited to determine, with
delegated responsibilities by the Board, the remuneration packages of the individual Executive Directors and
senior management of the Company. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
established in writing and are available on the websites of the Company and HKEXx.
Summary of Remuneration Committee’s main work in 2024
e reviewed the annual bonus amount and budget plans for Directors and senior management;
e reviewed the annual bonus allocation and payment plan for Directors and senior management; and
e discussed the remuneration packages for new Directors and re-appointed INEDs.
The remuneration of all the Directors is set out in note 9 to the financial statements.
FNEZESRSHBUFNTESSLCEBRE (XF)  RTESRESEETEIRHELEURSI
MEBIIFRTESTETNE L LT REAEER  JPAEM - HIEH&% B (BERRN) TEEEFSEBR
BERETEEENATESERARASGREEABNFHTE - FTNEEEXRFEENBELE LS
PR AR B) Je A 3T P 48 0k A A o
N _E_NFEFRFNEEGNITHFREE
e BEREFEKREMEBAEFERTEERBERIZE;
e BEEFKEMREEANEFERENIRARZRENFTRE ) &
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Composition and function (continued) #AR KRB & (&

Other than the Board committees above, the Company has established the Management Decision Committee
which is responsible for the day-to-day administration, operation and management of the business and affairs of
the Group. The primary responsibilities of the Management Decision Committee include but not limited to review
and formulate the Group’s development strategies and goals, long term business development plans, directions,
policies and guidelines, etc. For project risk management and project technological risk management, in order
to improve the efficiency and quality of investment decision-making and to mitigate investment risks, the Group
has set up the Project Investment Advisory Committee, which is responsible for evaluating investment projects
from the perspectives of strategic compatibility, technical feasibility, risk management, legal and compliance
and economics, etc., and making decisions on investment projects pursuant to their authorisation or providing
suggestions for the Group’s decision-making. For project financial control, the Group insists on stringent budget
management, and has set up a Construction Budget Management Department that focuses on monitoring
construction budgets of the projects. In addition, the Company has also set up Audit Department, and Risk
Management and Legal Compliance Department to perform internal audits, risk management and control, and
legal compliance functions respectively to bolster the Group’s management standards.

ﬁ?tﬂ%%ﬁééﬁ% ARBREEERRZETEEAEEAMBERAGAEBENHBETER BEK
EETF-EEAREZEETIZRECE (BRARN) B2 AN EFEENERBE ERER REXH
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BEHEEL: K%l%ﬁ“%%ﬁ@l&%%%ﬁ’ﬁ%%in&ﬁﬁE@%i%WﬁEEWI&
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Responsibilities of the Board and Management EE € HEEEN RS

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and the Management. The Board is responsible
for directing and approving the overall strategies of the Group. It is the decision-making body of the Company
except for matters requiring the Shareholders’ approval in accordance with the Articles of Association, the
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations. The Board is also responsible for, including but not
limited to, reviewing the Group’s performance against its targets and objectives, in particular its performances
on finance and business; leading and supervising the Management to act in the interest of the Shareholders
and the Company as a whole; taking responsibility on performing the corporate governance duties; overseeing
matters in relation to the Group’s investment, risk management, internal control, corporate governance and
corporate social responsibility, and supervising the Management to implement relevant policies. The Audit
Committee, the Risk Management Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee,
currently established under the Board, have their specific terms of reference in writing, clearly explaining their
roles and the authorities delegated to them by the Board. The Board has delegated day-to-day administration,
operation and management of the business and affairs of the Group to the Management. The Management
is also responsible for, including but not limited to, within the scope of authorisation as given by the Board,
reviewing projects, mergers and acquisitions or assets restructuring in all business sectors of the Group;
reviewing and formulating the Group’s development strategies and goals, long-term business development
plans, directions, policies and guidelines; and reviewing the important matters, business situations and latest
progress of each business sector of the Group in accordance with the policies and procedures as adopted by
the Group from time to time. The Company has formulated the Terms of Reference of the Board of Directors, the
Terms of Reference of the Management Decision Committee and the Authorisation Summary, which specify the
authority and responsibility of the Board and the Management and the authorisation given by the Board to the
Management. The Board regularly reviews those policies, and will update and amend those policies in a timely
manner when appropriate.

EXCHEEE FAEHARD I - SESEaSFIERMEREBRNERER FRRE(ERZMA) (L
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Mechanisms ensuring Independent Views and Inputs available to the Board
BRRESGUVESHEINBARE RS

To ensure that the Board can obtain independent views and inputs, the Company has established the following
mechanisms:

1. the Board formulated the Terms of Reference of the Board of Directors which include (i) the mechanisms
ensuring independent views and inputs available to the Board and (ii) the requirement of annual review of the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms;

2. the Company appointed at least three INEDs, and at least one-third of the Board members must be
INEDs. INEDs also serve as chairman/members of other Board committees. INEDs have the ability,
integrity, independence, experience and expertise. Sufficient number and ability of INEDs formed a strong
independent element in the Board;

3. the Board and the Nomination Committee evaluate the independence of all INEDs every year and when
appointing new INEDs according to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
When re-electing the INED who has served for more than nine years, a separate resolution will be proposed
and approved by Shareholders. The circular to Shareholders will state why the Board and the Nomination
Committee believe that the INED is still independent and should be re-elected, including the factors
considered, the process and the discussion of the Board and the Nomination Committee in reaching such
decision;

4. the Directors (including INEDs) have access to Board papers and related materials (including but not limited
to independent professional opinions from independent auditors, independent financial advisers, external
lawyers, etc), and are provided with adequate information in a timely manner. They may also seek assistance
from the Company Secretary of the Company for further information and documents. Queries raised by
Directors should receive a prompt and full response, allowing them to make independent opinions based on
sufficient information;

ARBREREFGIERBUNRAEAER  ERILUTHS

1. ESEHE(EFTRELE) ETERVEFREF TV ESBUNERRM AT RIEH KR(i)ZERH &
WHINERRAEBIERNENR ;

2. ARAEZEERV=ZLBUFITEFT EFENEETRLI=ZDZ—ERBUFATEFT - BIUIFH
TEETHRIEMESFSZEENIE HE BIUFNTESHEBEN A - B KR
FEMNH - EHNBULFATEFABREN CEHEEFTEERNBRNEILTE

3. EXEE ARV L EERFRAEZAEMBUFNITESTR IR (LHRR) E3 13K EH 2 BIULIEES
HEFEBLFRNTESFZBIIN TEEREBBNEZBUFATESFR  FUBIRBRET
HERREZBBRERRBINTRAEFTERRLEZEEIRBUIFATEFTNBEB LA REE
BEENREC FFZENAR EFTARLEZEEEFILRAENBRERTRADTSE ;

4. EX (BEBIUFNTER) DARESHEFEXARARMER (BEBFRNIGIL % AT BILMH
BE B ROSHNBUSZEERS) T EAFERHREDER  RETAIRAEARTZRATAMNES
KRB EBRE-—TEHERXH HREFRUNBE 22BN EFEAERREEBIOIE > ZM
PEZEREEMNNBRATFHEIZR ;
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EE & (#&

Mechanisms ensuring Independent Views and Inputs available to the Board (continued)

BRREFSUVESBUNBMEREROEE &)

5. The Directors (including INEDs) may, if necessary, seek external legal or other independent professional
advice at the expense of the Company;

6. Where Directors (including INEDs) have a material conflict of interest in a matter being discussed in the
Board meetings, they will abstain from voting on the matter. INEDs with no conflict of interest should be
present at the Board meetings and take the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise;

7. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the matter should be dealt with by a physical Board meeting
rather than a written resolution. INEDs who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in the
transaction should be present at that Board meeting; and

8. In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board meets with INEDs at least once a year without
the presence of other Directors. INEDs are free to provide their independent opinions to the Chairman of the
Board.

The Board has reviewed the mechanisms ensuring independent views and inputs during the year under review
and considered they are effective.

5. MEFTE EF (BEBUFNTES AIMNERNEZRNAMBUNEEXEER AHERBRAEARATX
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R S
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Corporate governance functions ¥ 805
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out below:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
The Board performed the above duties during the year under review.

EFECEERT THEXERNRE !
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Corporate governance functions (continued) 3 BAME (&

Nomination Policy (1€ E 7 )

The Board adopted Nomination Policy related to the nomination of Directors, which sets out the criteria and
procedures when identifying suitably qualified candidates to be appointed, re-appointed or re-designated as
Directors. The following factors would be considered by the Nomination Committee in assessing the candidates
(the “Nomination Criteria”):

1. accomplishment and professional experience that, in the opinion of the Nomination Committee, the
candidate could benefit the development of the Company;

2. commitment in respect of available time to the Board. In this regard, the number and nature of offices held
by the candidate in public companies or organisations, and other executive appointments or significant
commitments will be considered;

3. diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, ethnicity, skills, knowledge, experience, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background;

4. potential/actual conflict of interests that may arise if the candidate is selected,;

5. independence of the candidate (where applicable); and

6. in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an INED, the number of years the individual has already served.
These factors are not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion
to consider other factors as it considers appropriate and helpful to achieve the objective of the Nomination

Policy.

EFERMARESRANERER) BV TEZE - ENMEERATEERBEASESTHRE BENRE
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Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ EaHE (&

Nomination Policy (continued) (#€% E 7 ) (42)

Nomination Procedure 12 & 12 %

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of Association, the following procedures for nomination should be
adopted:

1.

2.

the Nomination Committee identifies or selects candidates pursuant to the Nomination Criteria;

the Nomination Committee may use any process it deems necessary and appropriate to evaluate the
candidates, including personal interview, background checks, presentations or written submission by the
candidates or third-party references;

the Nomination Committee makes recommendation to the Board and provides all the information required
by applicable Listing Rules including its assessment results based on the Nomination Criteria;

the Board shall have the final decision on the appointment based on the recommendation by the Nomination
Committee;

all appointment of Directors should be confirmed by the appointment letters setting out the key terms
and conditions of the appointments of relevant Directors, which should be approved by the Nomination
Committee; and

where Shareholders are required to vote on appointment or re-appointment or re-designation of a Director,
the circular accompanying the notice of relevant general meeting should contain all the information of the
candidates required by Listing Rules (including Appendix C1).

The Shareholders may also propose a person for election as a Director, and the relevant Procedures for
Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director of the Company are available under the “About Us
> Corporate Governance” section of the Company’s website at www.cebenvironment.com.

ZRI(EREMADBNEE BR2EFDT :

1.

2.
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Corporate governance functions (continued) 3 BAME (&

Board Diversity B &t 8 £ 116

The Company has formulated the Board Diversity Policy aiming at setting out the approach on diversity of the
Board. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing and reporting to the Board in relation to
Board diversity. The Nomination Committee and the Board reviewed the implementation and the effectiveness
of Board Diversity Policy during the year under review and considered the policy is effective. The Board
recognises the importance of having a diverse Board in enhancing the Board’s effectiveness and corporate
governance. A diverse Board includes and makes good use of differences in the skills, industry knowledge
and experience, education, background and other qualities of the Directors and does not discriminate on the
ground of race, age, gender, culture or religious belief. These differences are taken into account in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible, should be balanced appropriately. The Nomination
Committee has responsibility for identifying and recommending candidates for approval by the Board. It takes
responsibility in assessing the appropriate mix of gender, age (18 years or above), culture, experience, expertise,
skills and diversity required on the Board and assessing the extent to which the required skills are represented
on the Board and overseeing the Board succession plan. Board appointments will be based on merits of the
candidates and other objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection
of candidates to join the Board will be, in part, dependent on the pool of candidates with the necessary
knowledge, experience, skills, educational background and other qualities. The final decision will be based on
the candidate’s merits and contributions that he/she will bring to the Board.

The Board considers that the Board diversity is a vital asset to the Company. The Company has appointed a
female director. The Nomination Committee and the Board will take opportunity to increase the proportion of
female members on the Board over time when selecting and making recommendation on suitable candidates
as Directors. The Board will further adjust the proportion of male and female on the Board in due course with
reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended best practices. In order to
develop a channel of potential successors to the Board to enhance gender diversity, the Company from time
to time learns about outstanding director candidates in the market from its Directors, external auditors, lawyers
and other professional service agencies, and the Company will entrust human resources consulting companies
to find director candidates, when necessary, for building a talent pool of potential director successors.

FRABFU(EFENESZTIEHR) BENERAESFEHENZ AL LB RREEETEERA
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Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ EaHE (&)
Employee Gender Diversity 1S 14 5% 516
As at 31 December 2024, male to female ratios by employee ranking of the Group was as follow:

A ZETMFE+ A=+ —H AEENSRERERRNBLLEAWT :

Employee Ranking B 4% Male M Female @4
Senior management 88% 12%
BREEAE

Middle-level management 83% 17%
REEEAE

General and technical staff 76% 24%
— M REMET

The Group has always been committed to providing open and equal employment opportunities and platforms
and regards the ability and qualifications of candidates as the most critical assessment elements in the
recruitment process. We also ensure that our human resources management structure, such as remuneration
levels, training opportunities and employment prospects, are not affected by gender to achieve gender equality.
Since (i) the main businesses of the Group include waste-to-energy and synergistic treatment, integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment, integrated water environment management, etc.,
the professionals who take relevant courses are mainly male, and (i) the front-line technical staff of the project
companies require high manual labour and shift work, as a result, the applicants are mainly male, rather than the
Group deliberately not hiring female front-line technical staff.

—BUR AEERNRHARMTSENMERTETS  BRERENENNEERARNEREBERR
FRNEZER - AMATRAOLHEMANANEREERE WHMAF IR EERMENRFAZMN
AEE EMEBREENFF - ARNFEBRTEXBELRUREERGREE - EVEGZSIA EER
BEREEE KRREFEGHES  EEEMRENEZABUBERAE R(I)BEATINABRMNELRE
SRENFE THRERT SREHEARMUBSER T MIFXEENSTERLMRAIGRMET -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) £ 5 & (4

Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ a8 E (&

Dividend Policy (/&8 E 7% )

The Company adheres to the principle of sharing the fruit of its success with the Shareholders and considers
stable and sustainable dividends to the Shareholders to be its goal. The Company has adopted the Dividend
Policy, which is only a guideline on the distribution of dividends to the Shareholders. The declaration of interim
dividend and recommendation of payment of final dividend must be approved by the Board, and in addition,
declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. The distribution of dividends
to the Shareholders can be by way of cash or scrip or partly by cash or partly by scrip or some other ways
as determined by the Board from time to time. Any payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”), the Articles of Association and the Shareholders’ approval.

The Board takes into account the following factors when considering the declaration and payment of dividends,
inter alia:

1. the funding needs to the operation and business development of the Company from time to time;
2. the market situation from time to time;

3. the solvency requirements under the Companies Ordinance;

4. cash flow and financial condition of the Company;

5. the requirements of the Articles of Association and the relevant laws, rules and regulations applicable to the
Company;

6. any banking or other funding covenants by which the Company is bound from time to time; and

7. any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
AARBREEMRAKRESENRNTURERFEEMBREREEAEBR - ARE BEHME EBER)
EERDERE TREMNIES - ERFTHRERZMRBRENEZEHESSHME LI RBREZE K
BERREMERAIFE -IRRDAENKREITREBUREHIURCEF L HEHLUIREHE MUK
AR HEEEARARENEMA N - ARBE X MERKRETRERE B EAIE622E (R EFEA) ((ABHF
BIY1) ~(ERHMA ) KB RHLEPTIRIR

EFEEAETRERRAKNKRER g BUTER (HFPEHE) !

1. ZRRBETHHESNEBERNEETENR

2. AEWMIZIBER

3. ARBEMEGIYNENEEIENR;

4, KRABRERKEMHRA

5. (BERMAR)REMEBERNRARBNER ERNREER;

6. KRB ARRAEMRIRITSE A E I AIRRAIPRS 5 &

7. AR EMESER A ERNER -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) 8% (#&

Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ EaHE (&)

Dividend Policy (continued) (&8I % ) (#&)

When assessing the Company’s performance for each financial year or interim financial period, the Board shall
seek to maintain a steady dividend payment, and determine the dividend payout ratio after taking into account
the capital expenditure and cash flow for each financial year or interim financial period, while smoothing the
effect of any variation in the cash flow that may be due to one-off gains or losses in the same period. The
Dividend Policy, which would be reviewed from time to time by the Board, should not form a commitment
on distribution of dividends to the Shareholders and there is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

HEFEARARSEYBEERNTRM BBz ZEXFTR EFEEHFT —ARERELAERNERK RIS
81 B (2 B R B B BUR I RO B A 1% F S B R 2R AV 1B 2R B K B EE R (HIFRPJ SETE B HA IR — I AY UK
mHBEEAMPTEBREANAR) - (REBR)RBAEFTE TR RG> FEMASDERE FRRNARE B
NMREEEAIRAR D EEFZEOIRE -

Training for Directors E E1Z 3l
Each newly appointed Director receives an induction training covering the statutory and regulatory obligation of
a director of a listed company.

1. Before the effective date (i.e., 27 September 2024) of appointment of Mr. Wang Silian, he obtained legal
advice and received induction training from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong law on 25
September 2024.

2. Before the effective date (i.e., 27 March 2024) of appointment of Mr. Kang Guoming and Mr. Pan Jianyun as
NEDs, they obtained legal advice and received induction training from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise
on Hong Kong law on 20 March 2024.

3. Before the effective date (i.e., 26 March 2025) of appointment of Professor Zhang Xiang, JP. as an INED,
he obtained legal advice and received induction training from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise on Hong
Kong law on 20 March 2025.

BRWEENEFIESHEEI A ERE LT AREFE ZRAEERELZEENER -

1. FERBMAELERSZEANTESENEYRR CENFAAZTEH) A RENXZZE_ME LA
T+HAHAMEREREHERNEMTREEEZERREZMEEI -

2. TEREREERBRNEAERSZEAFRTESTNENAR CEWEF=ZA-+tH) A KFE
R_Z_NMF=ZA_+HAMEBEZRREHERNEMTIREERERAEZMERET-

3. ERABR  IPEZERBUFNTESFTNENAR CEAF=ZA"+ A A KER_-Z
ThHEZRZ+HAMEBEZRREERNBRMITNES EEERREZMEE -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) £ & (4

Training for Directors (continued) EE1Z3l (&

They have confirmed they understood the requirements and obligations under the Listing Rules that are
applicable to them as directors of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a false declaration or
giving false information to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company has continuously updated Directors with the latest developments and amendments to the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, and provides trainings and relevant reading materials to
develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills.

During the year under review, the Company provided Directors with monthly updates on the performance,
position and prospects of the Company. The Company also provided Directors with monthly analysis report on
the Company’s stock price performance, quarterly regulatory updates and biannual shareholder analysis report.
Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills as Directors in order to ensure that their contributions to the Board remain informed and
relevant. The Company has prepared a training record in order to assist the Directors in recording the training
that they have undertaken.

During the year under review, the Company organised trainings regarding (i) introduction to the Corporate
Governance Code and the relevant consultation document; (i) improving climate-related information disclosure;
and (i) reminders on loans and advance payments. The Company also issued written training materials from
time to time to develop and refresh the knowledge and skills of the Directors. Some Directors also attended
seminars/conferences/forums/trainings relevant to their profession and duties as Directors.

REVERBAQCET R FRAAEERRAFALTETAESHRERER UKBEBHERS
FRERAR (MBI FHERBFEIREERESMTEIBNRR -

ARBFEOEFRHAER(LETRA)MEMBREEREZ RN E RN > 17 HIE I LB EY L
LRMRETEFHNNHMEAE-

REEFERN ARARABEFRHEREAQRTRRE RAKNENERAENEN AR TRAEFRHMA
HEARRERFENSAOMBS FTEREEM URFFERRIOMBS -ARIRBEF2MEE
SEXUR UERIBPHEFHONBNKE URFREEETAGEEENARYEMENBRTHES
CFHEM SATCEHEAEINZE MBI EFC BRI EZEI -

REBEFEN ARBR/EFTERTABIO(EXEER TR RAEREAXE[ N () BIEREMERERK

B (IWUkERRBARBNRRZEBINl AR TAFELELEEBIMH UL RIL EHESAHR A
Mk B EEESMTAMESENEEHBHENRS 28 ®E Hil-
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) E5 & (&

Training for Directors (continued) EE1Z 3l (&

The newly appointed Directors received induction training before their appointment date. Besides, below is a
summary of the trainings the Directors received during the year under review:

WEEESNEZEAPAERZMEEI Rt/ REBEFERN > EFFMEZNEIIGFENT :

Types of Training ©

Name of Directors EEMUY =5l pspitl
Mr. Wang Silian' FREELE A B,C,E
Mr. Luan Zusheng AL A, B, C
Mr. Kang Guoming? 52 B AR 4t &2 A, C,D,E
Mr. Pan Jianyun?2 EEIE oA C, E
Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip BB LE A C,D
Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina FRELL A/ C,D
Professor Zhang Xiang, JP.3 RIPEIR > IPS N/A 3E
Mr. Huang Haiging' =R bavia st B,C
Mr. Hu Yanguo® BRI SIE B 51 A A, B, C
Mr. Qian Xiaodong?® §2 B R ST A4S A, B, C
Mr. An Xuesong® LEINTLES A, B, C
Mr. Zhai Haitao* BigsiE C
Mr. Suo Xuquan® REER LS A C,D
Notes Fff 5t :

1. Mr. Wang Silian was appointed as Executive Director to replace Mr. Huang Haiging who resigned with effect from 27 September

2024,

ITRBEEEZEAATESFUBAREZEBBRE BT _NFAR -+ RABEN -

2. Mr. Kang Guoming and Mr. Pan Jianyun were appointed as an NEDs, with effect from 27 March 2024.
REBRAERENEEERSZERFUTES B2 _NE=RB —+tHEEM-

3. Professor Zhang Xiang, JP. was appointed as an INED, to replace Mr. Suo Xugquan who resigned with effect from 26 March
2025.
RAEE PESZEABUIFATESUEAREIZREREE BT _AFE=A "+ HiEX-

4. Mr. Zhai Haitao retired as an INED, with effect from 30 May 2024.
BEERLHEEIFNTES BT _MNFRB=THEEN-

5. Mr. Hu Yanguo, Mr. Qian Xiaodong and Mr. An Xuesong resigned as Executive Directors, with effect from 27 March 2024.
PR ST B REE R E SN EERENTES BT _MF =B -+t HEEXN -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) £ g (#)
Training for Directors (continued) B B 153l (&
Notes (continued) M : (#)
6. A: attending seminars/conferences/forums/trainings
MENG GFwiEE

B: giving talks at seminars/conferences
ﬁ/\‘\}_\_=j\\; = u%tt/@' D%

C: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, environmental protection business or directors’ duties
and responsibilities, etc.

HEBEMEE EREBUNEEHESIRE T RERER

D: attending project site visit(s) arranged by the Company
BHEARALHNEERIFGER

E: directors’ induction training

E=pEEI

Remuneration Policy of Directors and Senior Management EE KR SR EIE A S FHMEE

The Group’s remuneration policy for the Directors (except the NEDs, they are not entitled to any remuneration)
and senior management is mainly formulated to determine their remunerations based on their personal qualities,
roles and responsibilities, qualifications, experience, performance, the performance of their responsible
business, the overall financial and performance of the Group and market remuneration level. Bonuses for
Executive Directors and senior management are determined based on indicators such as profit from operating
activities, investment in new projects, and safety and environmental performance, so that the long-term
interests of Directors and senior management are aligned with those of the Company and the Shareholders. The
Remuneration Committee is responsible for the remuneration policy and structure of the Company’s Directors
and senior management and makes recommendations to the Board on establishing a formal and transparent
remuneration procedure for developing such policy.

FEENEE FEEFATES AT EEEEMIMD) heREEBEASHWNBEREEZR T EMFIBYET

BEEEANKE BE BEE -ER RE -HEEXHNRER - AEEERMBRER T 5 KT RE

E-HITEFKSREEASNTEANECE TSR FEERERZENRBEVNSHERUEE  £5

ENeREEREABRARARKRRNEREN G — R -FHEEGEELARAEFRSREEASRHFIEER
RARIE R RILIERMAZHENREFHEHRMER HESTRHEER-
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) £S5 & (4

Remuneration Policy of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
EEREREEAEHMBE B)

The remuneration of the senior management (excluding those senior management who also serve as Directors)
by band for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

BE_ZTHNFES+"A=+—HLFESREEAE TLERKEIRESNSREEAR) ZHMWNER
IR

Remuneration band (HK$) AR R GBS IT) Number of persons A #

$2,000,001 to $3,000,000 $2,000,001 % $3,000,000 2

Particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements,
respectively.

BEBE(ETRADNNED2ARNEFTHFMUASRLLESHMESREZFB > DN FHRERWEFIR10
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEMBERS IN 2024
TETNEFEEREZEENEN LR LR

Number of meetings attended/meetings eligible to attend

HE/AERLREEERH

Risk

Audit Management Nomination ~ Remuneration 2024 AGM
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Committee “TTmE
BERY e B%ZEe AREEZ8E R4LZEg wMEEE RKREBEAE
Mr. Wang Silian? 1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
T BEL A2 AEA ~ER NER NER ~EA
Mr. Luan Zusheng 4/4 N/A 2/2 N/A N/A 1/1
BEREE ERELE TEA TER
Mr. Kang Guoming® 1/21 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1
BREIFE L4 AEA AEA AEA NER
Mr. Pan Jianyun® 121 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1
BEERE B ENELE TEA TER
Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip 4/4 3/3 2/2 11 2/2 1/1
BLBELE
Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina 4/4 3/3 2/2 1/1 2/2 1/1
FHERL
Professor Zhang Xiang, JP N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
RANEE > P B TEA ENEL:E TEF i8R TER
Mr. Huang Haiging 2 3/3 N/A N/A 11 2/2 1/1
BEBRE NBR TER
Mr. Hu Yanguo ° 2/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
BRIE R o S IR B TER TER TR
Mr. Qian Xiaodong® 2/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
BEREL S ~ER ~ER ~ER ~ER ~BHR
Mr. An Xuesong ® 2/2 N/A 0/1" N/A N/A N/A
e B NBR TER TER
Mr. Zhai Haitao ° 2/2 1/1 N/A 1/1 1/1 VAl
BEERL ENEL:E
Mr. Suo Xuquan 7 4/4 2/2 2/2 1/1 2/2 1/1
REREEY
Total number of meetings 4 3 2 1 2 1
EE £t
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEMBERS IN
2024 (continued) _E_NEEEREZEGHMENEFELE (B)

Notes Bff &% :

1.

Due to other important business engagement, the relevant Director did not attend the meeting.

HREHMBEEAKES  ZAMERRELFEZEE-

Mr. Wang Silian was appointed as Executive Director and Chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Nomination Committee, a
member of the Remuneration Committee to replace Mr. Huang Haiging who resigned with effect from 27 September 2024.

FTRMALESEAPTESRESEIR RLZETEIRUEGMNEEERE  UBRBEZEHEERY B2 MNF
NEZ+tBiEER-

Mr. Kang Guoming and Mr. Pan Jianyun were appointed as NEDs, both with effect from 27 March 2024.
BRERALE B EAEESERIFNTES  HEB 2 NF=A -+t BEEM-

Professor Zhang Xiang, JP. was appointed as an INED, a member of each of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee with effect from 26 March 2025.
R PEEERBIUFITESURELEESRFNEEGRBIRE B2 AF =B -+ B&EX-

Mr. Hu Yanguo and Mr. Qian Xiaodong resigned as Executive Directors, Mr. An Xuesong resigned as an Executive Director and a
member of the Risk Management Committee, all with effect from 27 March 2024.

FEE e REBERAERINTESRS RENTERTNTES REAREEZEENME B _MF=A_"+tH
LR -

Mr. Zhai Haitao retired as an INED, and at the same time, ceased to act as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, with effect from 30 May 2024.

BREAEHAERYIERTES AR FEEAFNEE eI EUNEREEEARLEERRBZME B2 NFA
B=+H&E4Eme

Mr. Suo Xuquan resigned as an INED, the chairman of the Risk Management Committee, a member of each of Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee, with effect from 26 March 2025.

REREERIBUFINTES AREEZEEIFEUREREZES RELLZEKFNEER@RBZNE B2 2HF
ZAZ+RHEER-

Directors attended the aforesaid meetings either physically or by electronic means such as telephone or video-conferencing.

EFETRBHFNEBBEARGEREEraK2R LiiEE-

The Board cancelled the Disclosure Committee with effect from 27 March 2024 and no Disclosure Committee meeting was
convened in 2024.

EEER_ENMFZA -+ LHABREREZEG - RN -2 MF - REEHEUREZE ST I
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THE DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES BETWEEN THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
AND THECEO EEg8FHEMRBEHZHME D T

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO are separate and are not performed by the same individual.
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board and the CEO has been clearly established.

The main duties of the Chairman of the Board include providing leadership for and overseeing the functioning
of the Board; ensuring that all the Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and giving
each Director an opportunity to express his/her view at Board meetings; ensuring that the Directors receive
adequate information, which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, in a timely manner; ensuring that
the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities; ensuring that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner; drawing up and approving the agenda for each Board meeting,
taking into account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in the agenda;
taking responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures are established;
encouraging all Directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and taking the lead to
ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole; encouraging
Directors with different views to voice their concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion of issues and ensure
that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus; ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective communication with the Shareholders and that views of the Shareholders are communicated to the
Board as a whole; promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of NEDs
and INEDs in particular and ensuring constructive relations between Executive Directors, NEDs and INEDs.

The duties of the CEO include taking responsibility for the Group’s operation and management; executing and
implementing decisions and plans approved by the Board; making day-to-day operational and managerial
decisions; and coordinating overall business operations.

EFEgTIRALENACEEES U FAH— AARRE - EEGFTFHREAFICEABRENSIEER
E A E ESE o

B I N I NS R R E S e EREST e BRESEE R LFAEFIBENTER
NEBERMBRLEFTEFTERLREHRERIRE  BREFAFWIIRONEN > MBEREMTT
WAERBEH RHR R, BREFEARMEF BERTRASERE  BREFEAKUMEEEZRE
EERENTHA BEEUHESREFEERNEZE TEEB R T BEREPERFAREMEFREMA
ZENEAFE, AEERFREAAFFNERFNEEESERKER  XBMEESEE2NIRAESZES
BB EERREFETEN A RIARINERREN D, BB TRAERNEFHIRE
EARGHINSEE - BTELEFSERRRBEN®H UAEREFEINRERLERMREFTTAIHH - BRF
FRNBESRRTEARRAMBE  URERRRERIEEINBEES S, RREEAM BETHHX
B REEFE RHRFATESFRBIUFATES) HEFTHFHANER TRARATEFTHIFNT
EERBUFATESZHEFTERMEREE-

BN ECEaEAEENESNEE , T AEEEETNAEKATE  FHEEEENHEHB AR
Tt R ERES o
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS FE#1TE =

The Company has entered into an appointment letter with each NED. Their terms of appointment are from
27 March 2024 to the conclusion of the 2026 annual general meeting of the Company. They are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association.

RAABDBRBAUIATEEFRELZARE KEZAPE T _ME=BR -+t HAEBEART ZET X
FRRBEREERFLE -RFAET(ERME) EHBERERBEEEZRE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS &I IEHITEE

In accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Board is of the
view that all INEDs are independent (notwithstanding that Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip had been a NED prior to his
re-designation as an INED under Rule 3.13(7) of the Listing Rules and has served as an INED for more than 9
years since December 2012). The Company has received an annual written confirmation of independence from
each of the INEDs pursuant to the requirements in the Listing Rules.

Moreover, the Directors are of the opinion that Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip remains independent as the INED, and
there is no evidence of his independence being affected by Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip’s re-designation of Board
position nor his length of tenure of over 9 years. He has not engaged in any executive management of the Group
after he was appointed as the INED. Throughout his position as the INED, he has participated in the meetings of
the Board and Board committees to give objective views and impartial advice as well as exercise independent
judgement. The Board believes that the extensive knowledge and experience of Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip to the
Group’s business and his external experience continue to be of significant benefit to the Group, and that he
maintains an independent view of the Company’s affairs.

Pursuant to the appointment letter entered into between the Company and each of the INEDs, their terms
of appointment are from the conclusion of the 2024 AGM (except Professor Zhang Xiang, JP. whose term of
appointment is from 26 March 2025) to the conclusion of the 2026 annual general meeting of the Company.
They are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association. INEDs
are identified as such in all corporate communications containing names of the Directors. The latest list of the
Directors identifying the INEDs and the roles and functions of the Directors is available on the websites of the
Company and HKEX.

BIBE(ETRADESAEFAHZBIMIES EFERRE2RBUFANTEFTIABUA L (BEELCEH
FRERB(ETRA)EIAMNFE - _—F+ _AERBESBULFRNTESAAFERTES UK
EHBUFATEFTBENG) MBLBUFATEFTERB(LTRINREEDLLATREEHE
BUMHNFEESEER

SN ERERRECEREFRBUIFATESTDNARFE L TESBERTECELEZEETR
THAETRARBBNFZAEREGEBUMEEARE BEZERBUFIATEFE RUEERLESR
EEZAMATERESB - RNEABIUFATEFHR RE2EEFE 2N ITAEFETEZEENTE
FHBTERNERATENESR  UFHBYHE EFEREECHEENAEREFNEZTNH
MERUREFEBUMNNER SHESAEETRER D  THEFMER AR EFREBIR
8o

BEARTDHESUBIFNTESFREZZAEE FHE S _NERFTEFATERFIE RN
BOJPRIN EERHBA " E " AF A "+ "AE) EFX R EREREBEFAGERFIL-RER
BII(ERMEN)ERBEREIRBEEEZRE - ARAAEMAERBEEFTHERN AT BT BRAEB
YFRATEFEN AR ZENEFLECHN AR RBRMNBUEAN  EABIUFRTEESH
K 5IBRE % A B e B BE ©
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS EF #1755 5 X 5
2 2 AE 578

The Group has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for Directors’ transactions in
securities of the Company. Having made specific enquiries to the then incumbent Directors, all then incumbent
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code
throughout their tenure during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company also adopted the Model Code for the securities transactions by relevant employees of the
Company, including relevant employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Group has formulated the Inside Information Reporting Policy, which provides the Directors and the
employees with inside information reporting guidelines, to enhance the inside information management of the
Group.

FEBRM(ETRA) WERCIMF(LTHETAZEFTETESFXZHNRETH) ((REFRD)) (FRHE
FETAABESFT NG EFENES - KAMERIEFFHEEEAR MERKIEFTHEIENERE
TETMES+ A=+ —HLEEERRRN—BEET(RETR)REMETE -

MARBEMES (BREARDKRENBLRABDZEMES) ETHNESR G A2EHRAT (BRE
Al e

FEECHE(NBHERSHR) REFhEERHERARBENES MALEERNEEEEE-

COMPANY SECRETARY QA8 WE

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for ensuring that Board policies and procedures are
followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. The Company Secretary is a full-time
employee of the Company. Although the Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of the Board and the
CEQ, all the Directors may call upon the Company Secretary at any time for assistance and advice in respect
to their duties and other corporate governance matters, so as to ensure effective operation of the Board and
the committees thereunder. The Company Secretary advises the Board on corporate governance matters and
facilitates the induction and professional development of Directors. For the year under review, the Company
Secretary confirmed that she had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

NEMBERNEFTEST UEREBETEFERRNER UREFEEHFAVNERBUMET REAMNE
RAERBDEREE BALRINENEFTIRKBIER E2REFHIBRRFERRIWERHES
HEFEEREMEXELRFENERRGY BREFEREETEZEE]ANEF AANEEST
MEXELRFEONEFEREER TEASEEZIMNERNAFZELER - ROBEFE AQMWERIDEE
BEANOR+ 0 EREREEE -
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR 4hBE 1% 2 BT

At the Company’s 2024 AGM held on 30 May 2024, immediately following the retirement of EY, the
Shareholders approved the resolution for appointing KPMG as the Company’s new auditor and authorising the
Board to fix its remuneration.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total fees paid/payable in respect of the audit and non-audit
services provided by KPMG to the Group are set out below:

RAERBDE_Z_NFRAA=Z+THABTHN T _NFREBFAGL TR XRER KRREBBTE
EEERASETRATNNZEMN TREESTETEANEZEE -

BE_ZMF+_A=+—HLEFER EFHRAFIEERHERAFEZRBNEN EIERE
BT

2024
—E-NE
HK$’000
BT T

Type of services BR 7 8 Rl
Audit services BIZR 9,243
Non-audit services* JEEIZ AR 3,396

12,639

*  Non-audit services include tax advisory and other non-audit services.
* FBERRBEERBEAREMIEEZR

The Audit Committee was satisfied with KPMG’s work and its effectiveness of the audit process, and therefore
recommended the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s external auditor for 2025 for Shareholders’
approval at the 2025 AGM.

ERZESHERHNIEAEZEFHNUNELSR T MR - HIt %V%E ZEBERHEEER
B ETHFEENIINEREA T FTRRN S ARRBEAG EHES
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS = & 7L B4

HImRKRFIAENEE

The Directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation of the Group’s financial statements. A
statement by KPMG, the external auditor of the Company, about its reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 142 to 152. With the
assistance of the Finance Management Department of the Company, the Directors ensure that the Group’s
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and applicable
accounting principles. The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial
statements, ensuring compliance with accounting standards and reviewing significant financial reporting
judgments. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern as referred to in Code
Provision D.1.3 in Part 2 of the CG Code.

ESHIANBRAERMBERRABREFI ST - TRARINEZHMNEERMAEBRM B RERMAIEZF
BETERNENFI142BEEFI2BZBIUZIMNRERN -EAREHHEELRBY T EFHELE
BV BRENGRETEERERNERZEER - EREZECEEERAEBEMBRRNTEL  #
RARGEAEARBRESENVHERHE EFHANTEMR(EREE AT HE M TRME
EDANIMFAIEFEERERELARAFELEENNERTHBAEFIIBER
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS & [ & 38 K N 2P B

The Board has full responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, which
include the establishment of a defined management structure with specified limits of authority. The systems
are designed to help the Group achieve business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorised use
or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication and ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations.
The risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk (including ESG risk) management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2024. This review (following to the review of the
Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee (as applicable)) covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls, internal audit function, and also considered the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal auditing and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget. The Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems were effective and adequate. The Risk Management and Legal Compliance
Department reports to the Risk Management Committee on the control of principal risks and internal control
implementation. Any internal control weaknesses of the Group detected by the Audit Department is reported to
the Audit Committee and the Management. Accordingly, the Management takes remedial actions and the Audit
Department subsequently follows up and reviews whether the remedial actions in place are adequate.

EFEsREEFAEENERREERNSEERG OEFTEERBREFANER ZSER2REETH
NAEEEREXFEAR REEEUADAEERECHAHE EREFAEEREACHRUEHAIENM
BEHABEARNBNER TEFETERAMLER RAREEAANBEZERA S EEEMIFHRK
REEREFBEENRAR MERTSE (BULFEH) REFCSHRERRERM KB K-

EFgCHAERBE_T_NF+_A=+T—HLEENER BERE - HERELER EEEN
BEZERANBENLEETRSN ZFERS (CEEREZETREAREEZES (NMER) /) BEMAE
ENEE FHEVBEEE B2EE oREE ARBEZVE UEELATEGS ABEZ MB
ERBEFAESEERHNER ETIEREAER UAEREARENEIHIIRERERMER -EF 8
AR EERAREERMBEN R EN ARERMEZRS RN I EARNIER B RMAIMERE
WRaTERARREELZEEER - HEERENAEERNAEENSR BB ERABELEZETNRE
BEEER -FIL EEESRNEBRNAUER M ABESSBREEREZERMUEERES ES -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) [R5 & 12 Kz 79 36 &5 1= (42

To provide effective internal controls, the Board has established the following key procedures:
RIEMAENNANE G EFgHIIT MIETEEF !

- Organisational Structure #8422 13
An appropriate organisational structure of the Group is in place with defined operating policies and
procedures as well as responsibility and reporting lines.

FEECKRECBENEBRE BRITHAEBNEZERRKEF HEREREE-

- Authority and Controls 1R Bk & %
The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated with respective levels of authorities to carry
out the corporate strategies, policies and the related matters formulated by the Board, and also perform
execution based on related internal control requirements of the existing policies and procedures.

HTEShSREBAERRTFTHBERURTESEFATNEERE RRKBERER > LIRER
BRIEERETAERARABEENERITSE -

- Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting T8 & % I B 81 75 B 3R

The Group implements budget management, and financial budget is executed upon approval by the Board.
Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review and approve major capital and recurrent
expenditures, and regular review and comparison between operating results and the budget are made.
The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures to ensure the complete and accurate
accounting and management records are kept on a timely basis. Examination and review are carried out
regularly to ensure that the financial statements are properly prepared in conformity with the generally
accepted accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies and the applicable laws and regulations.

AEBRETHREEE B REHEFTERRBIT AEBCST U ARAEF UG B R #SEZE
ENEAMAREEEIH T EMARS ALRECERARE - AEEERUBENANBEERRF
BEEZE EEMERCRIAREEIE EHETRIRBE  BRYBREVERTE —RKD
AIESt R AEBEHR URBRANERRER

- Internal Auditing R &f & 5t

The Group has its Audit Department, which has regularly conducted internal audits to review whether the
risk management and internal control procedures are being implemented appropriately.

FERRABESND TERETABBSURTEAREERNSEEREFETMENIT

The Group has established an internal whistleblowing policy and system for employees of the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal controls or other matters.

FEEWNETABRBRBRAAR BEUERRMFER AREEREM S EAIEEENTEET
HITHEE
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) 8.5 & 12 Kz 79 36 &5 1= (42

In order to achieve effective step-by-step management, the Group has set up 3 lines of defence system in risk
management and internal controls as follows:

AEBRUTUTHRBEENASEZEN=—BHGERER BRAVNNBRERE !

Risk Management
Framework Board of Directors

RIS EERRE Exd

Risk Management Committee
AGEEEES

Third Line

Audit Department of Defence

B B8

Functional Departments of the Headquarters, Second Line

Functional Departments in all Business Sectors and of Defence

Risk Management and Legal Compliance Department 5B IERAR

AR ERER RESD P ~ SEFF AR IR IR AR BF PIAN R i B IR A R SRR AR

Business Sectors, Regional Centers and A

. . of Defence

Project Companies N
FEBRIR-BEHFOLMIEE AT '
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) & F% & 18 & R 2F 85 3% (42

First Line of Defence % — &5 4R

The first line of defence includes business sectors, regional centers and project companies. They are
responsible for continuous identification, assessment, monitoring and report of risks in operating process and
implementation of specific process for risk management and internal control systems.

F-—EMREREEEBRE BERONIBEE QR EENESBRETRBITERA 5P H  BEIERER
B AREEMRABEIERTHEREMNE

Second Line of Defence 3 — &) 4%

The second line of defence includes functional departments of the headquarters, functional departments in all
business sectors and Risk Management and Legal Compliance Department. They are responsible for the regular
review of overall risk level and effectiveness of control measures in principal risks.

BTEMROIEBERERP FEXEFRRBERPINERERELZRARMN ST EBENERSE
mERETERREERERNAENIE

Third Line of Defence % = ERH4R

The third line of defence is Audit Department, which is responsible for the regular review on the follow up actions
taken in enhancing risk management and internal control systems. Adherence to the principle of “Up-and-Down
Coordination and Cross-segmental Cooperation”, the Group has strengthened its risk management through
promotion of risk management system and establishment of the risk management working network. The Risk
Management Committee under the Board takes accountability on risk management, and reviews the corporate
risk management and internal controls at least twice a year. The Risk Management and Legal Compliance
Department is responsible for the implementation of the risk management system and the evaluation of internal
controls, and the evaluation of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems through
on-site risk research, collection of risk information and other measures.

E-EBEORATRAEENE EEEMEZAREENABEZRRIENEEBE R - AEEUT LT
B AEERAEEHERREERR BYRBREET(FEL BARBREEKT - EFTE TER
EEZEEHAREEIFES SFAPRMAEEXRAREENASNEZBRETIRS - AREEER
ERAEERAREERAZENASEENEIIF @BRGAKRB ERESWES SN FEERER
MABEZERFNBE R -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) & B & 12 K /2 &5 8 (&
In 2021, the Group issued Everbright Environment 2021 Risk Management Instructions in accordance with the
Risk Management Systems, Risk Management Operation Manual and Everbright Environment Internal Control
Management Manual, detailed the workflow and specific implementation requirements of risk management and
internal controls, enhanced the supervision and inspection mechanism of risk management and internal controls.
The Company enhanced the list of risk factors and evaluation criteria of risk effect degree, and continuously
maintained the risk event database within the year. According to the changes of external environment and actual
operation, the Company used unified evaluation scope, evaluation criteria, evaluation process and tools, carried
out risk evaluation work of the year, determined principal risks of the year and established effective control
measures, continuously analysed the effectiveness of control methods and followed up specific control effect.
During the year, the Company conducted internal control evaluation from company level, business level and
information system level, etc. to improve the effectiveness of internal controls. The Company has continued to
carry out special inspection work on risks to improve normalisation of risk management and internal controls
during the year.

The Company paid high attention to risk awareness and improvement of risk management ability, carried out
different forms of risk management related trainings, enhanced on-site risk inspection and special inspection,
improved standardisation of risk management within the year.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Group previously established the Disclosure Committee. The Board delegated the day-to-day execution of its
continuous disclosure obligations to the Disclosure Committee. Moreover, the Group has formulated the Inside
Information Reporting Policy to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly identified, assessed and
escalated, if necessary, for the attention of the Disclosure Committee and/or the Board to decide about the need
for disclosure. The Board has cancelled the Disclosure Committee with effect from 27 March 2024. Its work and
duties are thereafter performed by the Board.

“EC - AEERBE(EREETE) (ABREERFEFM RCERREREZEEEFMIBNER > TEOL
AREE"TZ - —FREBEEIFEERR) EECTRBREERRNSEENTIEREMABENTER 227
REREEARNPEEEERERF - ARAERNEFATE T ARERFENART ERENERE W EER
ERSEHEMNE - REIFREECMNEBRES NN ARTRAHE N ERE  HEFE  FHERENT
IR FAEREERRNGIF BETEFETZABRIHN TBZRABEIE 7T AMNEERN  FED T EER
MR AEMENRERBNEENR ARATREREATEE - XFEE ERAMEASHENBEIZT G
I RAABEZENARE -ARFANEAFERERBREERE TF BARBEENANMBEZETIFNE
BT

FARREERRARERNAREEENNEN FRREZBLANEREEEMEI BICARRSZZE
MEBEREETF BRITEREENRELKF -

EHREREMASHENEFNAREE AEBRREKBELZES HEFERRHAGEFERNESTEN
HERITIIE L ZEBFIE T (RWEHBREHR) UEREENANEE B RFFLUH#M T RELE
HRMEREZEGR,  REFE UEAEESHEFLRE-EFEE "2 " NF=-F "+ HEBHRK
BZEeg WEZEENITFREMEAESFIRET-
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) & F% & 18 & R 2F 85 3% (42
Significant ESG related risks IR - H ERERBEHRNEXRER

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG risk management and related internal control
systems for the year ended 31 December 2024, and has considered that the resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s ESG performance and reporting functions, and their training programmes
and budget are adequate. The Board considered that the ESG risk management and internal control systems
were effective and adequate. The Company’s ESG team reported to the Risk Management and Legal
Compliance Department and the Risk Management Committee on the control of significant ESG risk and
the implementation of internal controls. Any internal control weaknesses relating to ESG risk of the Group
detected by the Audit Department is reported to the Audit Committee and the Management. Accordingly, the
Management takes remedial actions and the Audit Department subsequently follows up and reviews whether the
remedial actions in place are adequate.

EFgCHAEREE_ ST NF+_A=+—HLFENRE - HEKEARBREERBRANBEIZRE
WEMMETER  UTBATATERE - HEAEARBENEREFNER  ETEERER  URETFH
ERNEIIREREAREE RN EFERNRRE HEAEREREERABEERABAENKRESN
FABMIRR - HERESEBFMIRE S RELGEXNRARNEFBRMAEEZENANITE R EREIEH
FERERBREAREEZETER HERREETUAERRE HERELARABABEIENSR  BEf8gHQ
EZZEEREEEER BRIt BEEESRIVUABANA ERE;BETBERREREZAMUEERES
FE5 o

EMPLOYEE CODE OF CONDUCT (& T =F81)

The Group places utmost importance on employees’ ethical, personal and professional standards. Every
employee is required to comply with the Employee Code of Conduct of the Group, and is expected to achieve
the highest standards set out in the Employee Code of Conduct including avoidance of conflict of interests,
discrimination or harassment and bribery and corruption, etc. Employees are required to report any non
compliance with the Employee Code of Conduct to the Management.

FERBAEFREENER - BEAREERTER SRESHAETAERZ(ELITR)  AEBREMRAE
EEWEI(EITRDAITNESER SEBRI nEHR KRNRE UKBERAESE - EEARNERE
BHREEMER(EISFRDBER
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INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL WHISTLEBLOWING AND INVESTIGATION POLICIES

P B0 K S BB 22 3R ke 58 B A

To enhance the transparency, integrity and accountability of the Group and to retain a consistently high standard
of corporate governance, the Company has put in place Internal Whistleblowing and Investigation Policy
and External Whistleblowing and Investigation Policy. Those policies apply to the employees/related persons
(including but not limited to investors, lenders, suppliers, customers, services providers and government,
etc.) of the Group (excluding China Everbright Greentech Limited, China Everbright Water Limited and their
respective subsidiaries). Those policies are designed to provide the employees/related persons with confidential
whistleblowing channels to report the actual or suspected illegal activities and misconducts in corporate
financial reporting, internal controls or other areas to the Audit Committee in which the Company’s attention
should be drawn and investigation should be initiated. The scope and purpose of those policies are available
under the “Corporate Governance” section of the Company’s website at www.cebenvironment.com.

ARSAEEEENEHE BE2E BEUEABOIGE EENGEEAEZE > AANGRE(RIHE
WMEBEPE)NGINFRBREERBEMNL) ZEMEBARAER FEEFPEAAZBREBERAE
HENXAKBEERABDREENHB AT NEE, EXAL (BEEFLARRREEZE - EFA HEBF E
P -BRHEEBRRES) ZEWEieTARE AR ALTERENEBERATHATMBER NFBEERH
MAEEAEREEEN A EERNAR G LT AREOEZZESERVRE SIRBRAABEIRAE Z
EPWENBERSERENEE KN AA T @i (www.cebenvironment.com) I &8 18D R o

ANTI-CORRUPTION, ANTI-BRIBERY AND ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY
(KBS -RBEEBKRRERBEER)

In order to promote the Company’s anti-corruption, anti-bribery and anti-money laundering matters, and improve
the level of compliance operations, the Company has established the Anti-corruption, Anti-bribery and Anti-
Money Laundering Policy. The policy clarifies (i) anti-corruption and anti-bribery norms, including guidelines for
accepting benefits and entertainment, and guidelines for providing benefits; (i) anti-money laundering, anti-
terrorist financing or activity norms; and (iii) related reporting methods and punishments, etc.

RIREXRABNRES REBRERABEE RSEGREFKT  ARAFAFET(RE S - REBERR

FIEBER) ZHERBART(IRES REBRRE QFEEZ M@ RRFES - BHAEIES] (1) RKE -
BhiE BB R D FIEERE ; RNBBABRD EARED S -
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS % & B9 # 7]

The Company encourages Shareholders to attend the annual general meetings or other general meetings in
person or by appointing proxies, for exchanging views directly with the Directors and the Management in order
to strengthen and promote communication between the Shareholders and the Company. In addition to direct
communication at the general meetings, the Shareholders can also make inquiries to the Company and the
Board at any time. For the procedures for Shareholders to make inquiries to the Board, please refer to the
“Investor Relations” section of this Corporate Governance Report.

AR EEBBRRBIVZAANRLEERREBEFATGHNHEAMBRRAG REEFREEBERIBRER
MEMEERREERRTNBEB - KT ERRAGLERBE RETIBRALTAGRESTEREE
HAMRRANEFEREETANESF FRACEEABRSREEREIMLD -

Convening of extraordinary general meetings on requisition by Shareholders
ERRERBHEARERFIAE

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the members of the Company representing at least 5%
of the total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general meetings may request the Directors
to call a general meeting. The request must state the general nature of business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the
meeting. The request may consist of several documents in like form and may be sent to the Company in hard
copy form or in electronic form and must be authenticated by the person(s) making it. If the Directors do not
proceed duly within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the request to convene a general meeting for a day
not more than 28 days after the date on which the notice convening a general meeting is given, the members
who requested the meeting or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a general meeting, provided that the general meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of 3 months from such date. The general meeting convened by such members shall be
convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which general meetings are to be convened by
the Directors.

BIE(ABEG ) Bo66F BEERRAELERZERNEERFBREBBERVINZIATARATRERAIE
REFEFARRAE -ABAERBELBIBRNELEENSFTEN—RMEE R SERRE LBEH
WBBLRNE LRDBFNRBREAT - AHEXEJESZORIAEENXMS L] EBBITHEFL
HEFEAAERERM L BEHRHERNALREZ - HESFSEZXEXRSXMABPES —+—X
N RERECRARRASEBNELZHAMRBR TN \XRALHER—RRERE AZFERARAREKX
THRR HEEEZFRANEREEBFHNRE - AIETARRREAS  ENEARANKRRRER
BELABRAPESF ZERERERT - HAMKRREARANRRARE  EEJEUBETEEARRER
REWHAAR-
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued) I& B BIHER] (4

Putting forward proposal at annual general meetings

RRREBFAXGLIRHER

Pursuant to section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, the members of the Company may request the Company
to give, to members of the Company entitled to receive notice of the annual general meeting, notice of a
resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting. The request may be sent
to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form and must identify the resolution of which notice is to
be given, be authenticated by the person or persons making it and be received by the Company not later than
6 weeks before the annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or if later, the time at which notice is
given of that meeting. The Company will give notice of a resolution if it has received the requests from:

(@) members representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the members of the Company who have
a relevant right to vote on the resolution to which the requests relate; or

(b) at least 50 members who have a relevant right to vote on the resolution to which the requests relate.

BIBE(RABEG ) F6151F > FRABRRAEREARTODAERBMKRRBEFAEBSHRRELRERS
TOMARRZRERNRREFAG LB EMRIZAR NG LR Z - ARAERETBBITNATLR
HEBFHEAER ZIK’AT’I/Euﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁéﬁ@%ﬁﬁ%fimm%’EM\/E?%EHTE&EQ‘?E’U\:!:MDD’L/UEZZIK’/}
B ATERAMBRREBFASETHRAMNEZ AN WK 1&)?%%;% FREBENRERERH
EXRZEFe ZIK’\T%HE\?ﬁﬁ%??'JAi%étHE@gﬁi%?ﬁ’ﬁéﬁi\%m

(b) ELB0REAEMBBMREZRZRERNKRE-
Proposing a person for election as a Director IR 2B AT EREETNEF
The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director are available under the

“Corporate Governance” section of the Company’s website at www.cebenvironment.com.

REHIELEEEENRERFEHN AR Hibwww.cebenvironment.com M2 E 818D W ©
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INVESTOR RELATIONS & & & i 1%

The Company recognises the importance of efficient and effective communication with the investor community.
In order to enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow them to engage
actively with the Company, the Shareholders Communication Policy of the Company has been established.

During the year under review, the Company has continuously disclosed all its material information and regularly
disclosed its interim and annual reports in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Company regularly conducted
briefings and meetings with institutional investors and analysts through various communication channels,
including teleconference, video conference, video web-casting, etc. to provide them with up-to-date and
comprehensive information about the Group’s development. Besides, the Company facilitates the initiation
and coverage of the Company published by research analysts of well-received investment banks which are
instrumental in providing investors with independent and professional evaluations of the Company. Moreover, the
Group participates in different international and domestic investor forums and organises non-deal roadshows
at home and abroad to elaborate on the Group’s business development plans to global investors. Furthermore,
the Company arranges site visits for investors and media to its key projects in the PRC. The Company has
established a function dedicated to investor relations and engaged an external public relations company to take
care of investor relations matters. The Company also maintains a website (www.cebenvironment.com) which
renders the Shareholders, investors and the general public direct access to the information of the Group on a
timely basis. The Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Company through the
investor relations team whose contact details are set out in the “Investor Relations” section of the Company’s
website at www.cebenvironment.com. The Shareholders may also make enquiries and suggestions with the
Board and the Management at the Shareholder’s general meetings of the Company. The Board has reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy during the year under review,
and considered that the policy effectively enables the Company to achieve good communication with the
Shareholders.

ARBFEEREREENSUREMNBEE B TERFENBENBER T TEERROER > WEM
PEB2EAATBE ARBFIUL T (RRBAKRK) -

REBEFERN: K’E\ﬂEE‘?«LFE%EE'J>>?—*;%ETEZEEEFEE%?{E’Jﬁéﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁiﬂi@g$ﬁﬁE’JEPHHEZEEV
RE, AR N AR EBFTABAEEAKEREERDOMEBETERIATZEEEEZE
BEENELELRIEERS 7%1&":@%1#\75%521&%.??}:E’JHﬁ%ﬁ}_Eui|ﬁ It gb > Z!K/\ab?%ﬁjj’fﬂ%&ﬁ
RITHAEDOMMAR AR EEIM RS LR BN REHEEEERAALRNBILAEEN G U
SO REBHEARNBEBRABEANKESE#REB ABERMNBEBHINIERZHE HDE2RKEESEBM K
ERNEFEREFE -BIN AR FEEB aiﬁ’,%?ﬁ AREENEREREMNTENE TERE
BoARBEREEEREEMGENBE TEFI X ABAEEREEHENEE - AR Z2H
i (www.cebenvironment.comBRE - REERARATHFREALDEN KREIEEAERESE
BREEZEHABEASN AR EXMMNETHMEFMBONBE BENBEE XN A2 B iIL
(www.cebenvironment.com) i EERFE I D - RETAIEAABNKREAG LIRNESTREEERY
TN EZ EEEERFNOBEFER(REEBARKIZERAER M  URAZBEE RN ERAR
DHERERERRETESE-
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2024 AGM ZE_MERRBEFAE

The Company uses the annual general meeting as a forum to establish constructive dialogue with the
Shareholders. The Company gave sufficient notice to the Shareholders before convening the 2024 AGM and
explained the detailed procedures for conducting a poll. Due to other unexpected and important business
engagement, Mr. Zhai Haitao, a former INED, was unable to attend the 2024 AGM. Other then incumbent
Executive Directors, NEDs, INEDs, chairmen of Board committees and representatives of the Management
attended the 2024 AGM to facilitate the direct and constructive communication with the Shareholders. The poll
results announcement of the 2024 AGM is available on the websites of the Company and HKEx.

FARABUBRRBEASFRERRFEREHENTE - AR ER S _NERRBFAEAERT
RERZDBA > TERRBEARES NETRORBF Hﬁff°HMH%i?F%ﬂ"%%é@WS‘EEEEHAE
HMESEABES HALERELF S _NERRBFAG - HMKEERTES JFATES ﬁ_Lé'EﬁL
TEF BREFEETZE TN IR AEERARCHRE - ZE_NERFTBAFERGURELERRE
ENMAEZRXRMNBEE  _ T _NEFRFBFARENREERASEHN AR RABRZPABIEIER o

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS E & X

In 2024 AGM, a special resolution in respect of the amendments to the Articles of Association was approved
by the Shareholders, mainly to ensure the Articles of Association in line with market practice and the latest legal
and regulatory requirements, and to allow general meetings to be held as hybrid meetings or virtual meetings,
to make other house-keeping amendments, etc. Details of the amendments were set out in the Shareholders’
circular of the Company dated 26 April 2024.

R_E"MFERFEFAREG L ARFEREI(ERMAR) ZEIAZZRESRRBEE TERE(ER
M ETHEAREN ZEREERE TATRIRAGUECEZNERT %R‘tgﬁiﬁ’uﬁ’zf’ﬁtﬂ
HMABESTF - EiIFBARFBRHN AN _NFNR -+ "BZRRE
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Directors and Senior Management EEKkES4AEIEAS

MR. WANG SILIAN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

Aged 51, is the Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company. He is also the chairman
of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Board, and a director of
several subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Wang is the non-executive director and the chairman of the board of
directors of China Everbright Greentech Limited (the Company’s subsidiary and the shares of which are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)). Mr. Wang was the vice chairman
and president of China CYTS Tours Holding Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (“SSE”)) and the chairman of Bravolinks Integrated Marketing Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed
on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations), both of which are connected persons of the Company. He
was also the deputy general manager of the Human Resources Department of China Everbright Bank Company
Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange and SSE), a subsidiary of China Everbright Group
Ltd., which is an indirect controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wang holds a master degree in military
science from the Dalian Naval Academy of the People’s Liberation Army Navy. Mr. Wang joined the Board in
September 2024.

EEHEE

HITEFREFCITE

RESR AR ATEEFREFTTEIFE - RIS EFEETRLEEEIRAFMESEHNE  URAEE
EETHBRARNES TRETATEANLAGERFRARLE (FRRAZMBRAT  HRNHNEBHMERH
FREMRAE (THa2FT)) £ NIFRITESREFEEFE - TAREBREB AR ZMEATHERERRO B
RAT (HRMOIN EEBEFXZM (L) £H) BEERAEE  ARFZMEALPEIBHESZHER
BRMAERAE ERONEBET/NEERNEZRAGER) ESR AR AERERRRFEAKRERRKRND
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MR. LUAN ZUSHENG

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Aged 59, is the Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the director and the
general manager of Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company). He is also a member of the Risk Management Committee of the Board, and a director of several
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Luan is currently a non-executive director and the chairman of the board of
China Everbright Water Limited (the Company’s subsidiary and the shares of which are listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”))
and a director of Sun Life Everbright Life Insurance Co., Ltd. He holds a master degree in accounting from
the Department of Accounting of Nankai University and a doctorate degree in political economics from the
Department of Economics of Nankai University. Mr. Luan is also a certified intermediate accountant in the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Luan was the director of Everbright Financial Holding Asset Management Co.,
Ltd. Mr. Luan was the director of the office and the officer for deepening reform of the leading group office
for the comprehensive deepening reform, and the secretary general of the office of China Everbright Group
Ltd., the indirect controlling shareholder of the Company, the president of Shijiazhuang and Wuxi Branches,
the vice president and risk director of Shenzhen Branch, the assistant to the president and risk director of
Fuzhou Branch, of China Everbright Bank Company Limited (“Everbright Bank”, the shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange), the general manager of small and medium enterprises
business department and the general manager of the microfinance business department of Everbright Bank. Mr.
Luan joined the Board in June 2021.
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MR. KANG GUOMING

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 54, is a Non-executive Director of the Company and a member of the Audit Committee of the Board. He
is employed by China Everbright Group Ltd. (“China Everbright Group”), an indirect controlling shareholder of the
Company. Mr. Kang had served as a deputy general manager (general manager level) of integrated development
department of China Everbright Group. He had also served as chairman of the board of China CYTS Tours
Holding Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), a connected person of
the Company. He holds a bachelor degree and a master degree in economics from Peking University. He is a
qualified lawyer in China. Mr. Kang joined the Board in March 2024.
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MR. PAN JIANYUN

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 54, is a Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Pan is an executive director and the vice president
of China Everbright Limited (the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”)). He served as a director and vice president of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited,
an indirect controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Pan had served as a deputy general manager of each
of the listing office and integrated development department of China Everbright Group Ltd., and a business line
director and general manager of the investment banking management headquarters of Everbright Securities
Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange). He
previously worked as a lawyer at Ningbo Beilun Law Firm, a project manager, an assistant to general manager,
a director of legal affairs office and a general manager of investment banking headquarters of Skyone Securities’
investment banking division. He holds a bachelor degree in law from China University of Political Science and
Law, a master degree in economics from Zhejiang University, and an executive master degree in business
administration from Fudan University. Mr. Pan joined the Board in March 2024.
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MR. FAN YAN HOK, PHILIP

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 75, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, the chairman of each of the Risk
Management Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Board, and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board. Mr. Fan is an independent non-executive director of
First Pacific Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”)). Mr. Fan is also an external director of Sumida Corporation (the shares of which are listed
on Tokyo Stock Exchange). Mr. Fan was formerly an independent director of Goodman Group, an Australian
listed company and a member of the Asian Advisory Committee of AustralianSuper, a pension fund established
in Australia. He was also formerly an independent non-executive director of Hysan Development Company
Limited, PFC Device Inc. and China Aircraft Leasing Group Holdings Limited (the shares of all companies are
listed on the Stock Exchange), and he was an executive director of CITIC Pacific Limited in charge of industrial
projects in China. Mr. Fan holds a Bachelor Degree in Industrial Engineering, a Master Degree in Operations
Research from Stanford University and a Master Degree in Management Science from Massachusetts Institute
of Technology. Mr. Fan joined the Board in November 1997 and was re-designated as a Non-executive Director
and an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2010 and December 2012 respectively.
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MS. LI SHUK YIN, EDWINA

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 62, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, the chairman of the Audit Committee of
the Board, and a member of each of the Risk Management Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Board. Ms. Li is an independent non-executive director of CNOOC Limited
(the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange). She is also an independent non-executive director of China CITIC Bank International
Limited and a director of Elite Beam Limited. Ms. Li was formerly an independent non-executive director of
Bank of Zhengzhou Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange) and an external supervisor of PICC Property and Casualty Company Limited (the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange). Ms. Li is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Li formerly worked in KPMG from
1994 with her last role as the partner in charge of KPMG China’s financial services assurance team until her
retirement in March 2018. Ms. Li has significant experience in accounting, capital market, market entrance,
regulatory compliance related internal control and risk management in Hong Kong and China. Prior to joining
KPMG, Ms. Li qualified as a Chartered Accountant with a large multinational accounting firm and worked as
controller with a real estate company and a financial services group in London. Ms. Li holds a Bachelor degree
with Honours in Accountancy from University of Exeter, England, a Postgraduate Diploma in Enterprise Risk
Management from HKU SPACE, a Master of Science Degree in Risk Management from Glasgow Caledonian
University, United Kingdom and a Master of Social Sciences Degree in the field of Sustainability Leadership and
Governance from the University of Hong Kong. Ms. Li joined the Board in May 2022.
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PROFESSOR ZHANG XIANG, JP.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 61, is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, and a member of each of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Board. He is currently the President of the University of Hong
Kong, a foreign member of the Chinese Academy of Sciences and an elected member of the US National
Academy of Engineering. He is also an external supervisor of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (the shares of
which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai Stock Exchange). He served
as an assistant professor at Pennsylvania State University, and served successively as an associate professor
and professor at the University of California, Los Angeles. In 2004, Professor Zhang returned to the University
of California, Berkeley and served as an associate professor and professor at the Mechanical Engineering
Department and the Institute of Applied Science and Technology, and served as the inaugural Ernest S. Kuh
Endowed Chair Professor, at the same time, he served as the director of the US National Science Foundation
Nano-scale Science and Engineering Centre of University of California, Berkeley, and a director of Materials
Science Division at the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. He obtained a bachelor degree and a master
degree in Science from Nanjing University, a master degree in Science from the University of Minnesota and a
doctoral degree of Philosophy in Mechanical Engineering from the University of California, Berkeley. Professor
Zhang joined the Board in March 2025.
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MR. YANG SHIQIAO

VICE PRESIDENT

aged 56, is the Vice President of the Company, as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Previously, Mr. Yang was appointed as the chief executive officer of Everbright Envirotech (China) Limited, the
chairman and chief executive officer of Everbright Environmental Technical Equipment (Changzhou) Limited and
Everbright Ecological Resources (Shenzhen) Limited, the deputy general manager of Everbright Environmental
Protection (China) Limited (“EEP China”), the Special Assistant to Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and
the general manager of the Department of Project Management and Environment Management under EEP
China. Mr. Yang holds a Master degree in Environmental Science and Engineering from Tsinghua University
and a doctorate degree in Advanced Manufacturing from Southeast University. He is a Senior Engineer with
extensive experience in operational management, project management and corporate management. Mr. Yang
joined the Group in October 2004.
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MS. POON YUEN LING

COMPANY SECRETARY

aged 57, is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). She joined
the Group in April 1994, with more than 30 years of experience in company secretarial affairs.
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Report of the Directors E=

The directors (the “Director(s)”) of China Everbright
Environment Group Limited (the “Company”) present this
annual report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is a company incorporated and domiciled in
Hong Kong with limited liability and has its registered office
and principal place of business at Room 2703, 27th Floor, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 49 to the financial statements.
The analysis of the principal activities and geographical
locations of the operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) during the financial year are set out
in note 4 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and
a discussion on the Group’s future business development
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 10 to 71 of this annual
report. In particular, description of principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group can be found in the section
headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 59 to 67. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using key performance
indicators by each business sector can be found on pages
36 to 51 of the Management Discussion and Analysis. In
addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, relationships with its key stakeholders
and compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
have a significant impact on the Group are provided in
the 2024 Sustainability Report of the Company which is
available for download at the website of the Company under
“CSR>Sustainability Report” section.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and
suppliers of the Group respectively during the financial year is
as follows:

TERRPRHEES
AEERAYBFEZERE S RUES
BRI

Percentage of
the Group’s total
EREBRTIMRE B DL

Revenue Purchases

Wz B EE

The largest customer RAER 9.07% -
Five largest customers in aggregate AAER A& 25.88% -
The largest supplier RAHERS - 7.16%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hREER ST - 14.13%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares) had any benéeficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Material related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year are set out in note 43 to the financial
statements. As for those material related party transactions
that set out in note 43 to the financial statements also
constituted continuing connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), the Company has complied with the
relevant disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules during the year, and the details of
which have been disclosed in the below section “Continuing
Connected Transactions”. Other related party transactions do
not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had the following transactions
which constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company, details of which are disclosed in compliance with
the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions

On 15 December 2022, the Company and China Everbright
Group Ltd. (“China Everbright Group”) entered into below
master agreements with effect from 1 January 2023
(collectively, the “Master Agreements”). China Everbright
Group is a controlling shareholder of the Company, therefore,
China Everbright Group and its associates, including China
Everbright Bank Company Limited (“CE Bank”), Sun Life
Everbright Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (“Sun Life Everbright”),
Everbright Securities Company Limited (“EB Securities”) and
China Everbright Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“CE Real Estate”), are
connected persons of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated
under each of the Master Agreements constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company. The Master
Agreements shall be on a non-exclusive basis and the
Company is at liberty to obtain services from other third
parties. Subsidiaries of the Company which are also listed on
the Stock Exchange, including China Everbright Greentech
Limited (“Everbright Greentech”) and China Everbright Water
Limited (“Everbright Water”), entered into separate master
agreements with China Everbright Group or its associates
and complied with the relevant requirements under the Listing
Rules. For the avoidance of doubt, the respective annual
caps in respect of each of the Master Agreements have taken
into account and included the respective annual transaction
amounts applicable to Everbright Greentech and Everbright
Water. Details are set out in the announcements of each of the
Company, Everbright Greentech and Everbright Water, dated
15 December 2022. Details of each of the Master Agreements
are as follows:

(1) Deposit Services Master Agreement and Loan Services
Master Agreement
Pursuant to those agreements, China Everbright Group
has agreed to procure CE Bank to provide deposit
services (including current and fixed term deposit) and
loan services (including revolving credit facility and fixed
term loan) to the Group, for the three years from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)
(1) Deposit Services Master Agreement and Loan Services

Master Agreement (continued)

The interest rate for deposit services and the interest rate
for loan services shall be determined based on normal
commercial terms after arm’s length negotiations between
the parties, and shall not be less favourable than the
terms available to the Group offered by independent third
parties.

The annual caps for the deposit services/loan services
were determined with reference to a number of factors,
including (i) the historical amounts of the maximum closing
balance of deposits (including interest accrued thereon)/
maximum closing balance of the loans in previous years;
(i) the expected amount of deposits of the Group/loans
required by the Group arising from the Group’s future
business operations; and (iii) the business development
plans and financial needs of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the maximum
daily closing balance of the Group’s deposits (including
interests accrued thereon) placed in CE Bank amounted
to HK$734,624,000. This amount was below the annual
cap of HK$800,000,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the maximum
daily closing balance of the Group’s loans (excluding loans
which are on normal commercial terms or better and do
not require security over the assets of the Group) provided
by CE Bank amounted to HK$23,050,000. This amount
was below the annual cap of HK$800,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

(1)

(2)

Deposit Services Master Agreement and Loan Services
Master Agreement (continued)

On 15 December 2022, Everbright Greentech, a listed
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the deposit
services master agreement with China Everbright
Group (“Everbright Greentech’s Deposit Services
Master Agreement”). Its actual maximum daily closing
balance of deposits (including interest accrued thereon)
had exceeded its annual cap for the year ended 31
December 2024 under Everbright Greentech’s Deposit
Services Master Agreement, details are set out in the
announcement of Everbright Greentech dated 4 March
2025. The Deposit Services Master Agreement of the
Company has taken into account and included the annual
transaction amounts applicable to Everbright Greentech.
Although the annual cap for the year ended 31 December
2024 under Everbright Greentech’s Deposit Services
Master Agreement had been exceeded, the annual cap
for the year ended 31 December 2024 under the Deposit
Services Master Agreement set by the Company had not
been exceeded.

Employee Healthcare Protection Services Master
Agreement

Pursuant to the agreement, China Everbright Group has
agreed to procure its associates, including but not limited
to Sun Life Everbright and its associates, to provide the
Healthcare Protection Entrusted Management Scheme,
the Long-term Supplemental Medical Insurance Protection
Scheme and other employee healthcare protection
services to the Group, for the three years from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025. The principal amounts to be
deposited, management fees and medical insurance fees
under the relevant schemes of the employee healthcare
protection services under the Employee Healthcare
Protection Services Master Agreement shall be determined
based on normal commercial terms after arm’s length
negotiations between the parties, and shall not be less
favourable than the terms available to the Group offered
by independent third parties. The annual caps for the
employee healthcare protection services were determined
with reference to a number of factors, including (i) the
historical amounts of medical insurance fees paid by the
Group in previous years; (i) the current and expected
number of employees of the Group under the relevant
schemes; and (i) various insurance products and services
to be provided and their coverage.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

@)

(3)

Employee Healthcare Protection Services Master
Agreement (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the principal
amounts deposited, management fees and medical
insurance fees under the relevant schemes amounted to
RMB64,307,000. This amount was below the annual cap
of RMB191,000,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Underwriting and Advisory Services Master Agreement
Pursuant to the agreement, China Everbright Group
has agreed to procure its associates, including but not
limited to EB Securities and its associates, to provide
underwriting and advisory services with respect of the
issuance and/or listing of convertible bonds, hybrid
bonds, corporate bonds, asset-backed securities, ordinary
shares, preference shares, rights and/or other securities to
the Group, for the three years from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025.

The underwriting commission and advisory service fees
of the underwriting and advisory services under the
Underwriting and Advisory Services Master Agreement
shall be determined based on normal commercial terms
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties, and
shall not be less favourable than the terms available
to the Group offered by independent third parties. The
annual caps for the underwriting and advisory services
were determined with reference to a number of factors,
including (i) the historical growth rate of the amount of
underwriting commission and advisory service fees of the
services provided by EB Securities; (i) the size of debts
previously issued by the Group; (iii) the Group’s business
development plans and its financial needs; and (iv) the
expected increase in the size of debt issuance on a regular
basis due to the future financing structure optimisation
plan of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
underwriting commission and advisory service fees
amounted to HK$15,937,000. This amount was below
the annual cap of HK$94,500,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)
(4) Property Management Services Master Agreement

Pursuant to the agreement, China Everbright Group has
agreed to procure its associates, including but not limited
to CE Real Estate and its associates, to provide sanitation,
maintenance, security, catering and other property
management services, to the Group for the three years
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

The property management services fees under the
Property Management Services Master Agreement shall be
determined based on normal commercial terms after arm’s
length negotiations between the parties, and shall not
be less favourable than the terms available to the Group
offered by independent third parties. The annual caps for
the property management services were determined with
reference to a number of factors, including (i) the historical
amounts of the property management services fees paid
by the Group in previous years; and (i) the increase of
specific types of services and the expected increase of
management costs.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the property
management services fees amounted to HK$6,670,000
This amount was below the annual cap of HK$35,000,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Independent Non-executive Directors (the “INED(s)”) have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that such transactions were:

entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group;

conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if
there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge
whether they are on normal commercial terms, on terms
no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or
from independent third parties; and

in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)
Report of the Auditor

The Company’s auditor, was engaged to report to the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The Company’s auditor has issued its unmodified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed above to the
Board in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules
and confirming that nothing has come to its attention that
causes it to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions:

(i) have not been approved by the Board;

(i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions; and

(i) have exceeded the annual caps as set by the Company.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the Group’s financial position as at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 153 to 333.

FINAL DIVIDEND

An interim dividend of HK14.0 cents per share (2023: HK14.0
cents per share) was paid by the Company on 18 October
2024. The board of Directors (the “Board”) has recommended
the payment of a final dividend of HK9.0 cents per share
(2023: HK8.0 cents per share) for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity holders of the Company,
as calculated under the provisions of sections 291, 297
and 299 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), was HK$7,163,023,000 (2023:
HK$2,018,265,000).

After the reporting period, the Directors proposed a
final dividend of HK9.0 cents per share (2023: HK8.0
cents per share), amounting to HK$552,868,000 (2023:
HK$491,438,000).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$1,193,000 (2023: HK$1,106,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year. Details of the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

On 22 March 2024, the Company has completed the issuance
of the 2024 medium-term notes (“MTN”) (series 1) in the PRC.
The aggregate issuance amount was RMB2 billion with an
interest rate of 2.57% per annum for the first 3 years. The
Company shall be entitled to adjust the interest rate of the
2024 MTN (series 1) at the end of the third interest-bearing
year. The adjusted interest rate shall remain unchanged for
the last 2 interest-bearing years. The Company has received a
consideration of RMB2 billion and the proceeds were used for
repayment of the interest bearing debts of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

On 16 May 2024, the Company has completed the issuance
of the 2024 MTN (series 2) in the PRC. The aggregate
issuance amount was RMB2 billion (comprising of (i) RMBO0.5
billion for the type 1 notes with an interest rate of 2.38% per
annum; and (i) RMB1.5 billion for the type 2 notes with an
interest rate of 2.55% per annum. The Company has received
a consideration of RMB2 billion and the proceeds were used
for repayment of medium-term notes of the Company issued
in the PRC.
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DEBENTURES ISSUED (continued)

On 25 September 2024, the Company has completed the
issuance of 2024 medium-term notes (Series 3) in the PRC.
The aggregate issuance amount was RMB1.5 billion with an
interest rate of 2.23% per annum. The Company has received
a consideration of RMB1.5 billion and the proceeds were used
for replenishment of working capital and repayment of bank
loans of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 26
March 2024, 20 May 2024 and 26 September 2024.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors
Wang Silian (Chairman of the Board)
(appointed on 27 September 2024)
Luan Zusheng (Chief Executive Officer)
Huang Haiging (resigned on 27 September 2024)
Hu Yanguo (resigned on 27 March 2024)
Qian Xiaodong (resigned on 27 March 2024)
An Xuesong (resigned on 27 March 2024)

Non-executive Directors
Kang Guoming

(appointed on 27 March 2024)
Pan Jianyun

(appointed on 27 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Fan Yan Hok, Philip
Li Shuk Yin, Edwina
Zhang Xiang
(appointed on 26 March 2025)
Zhai Haitao (retired on 30 May 2024)
Suo Xuquan (resigned on 26 March 2025)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Pursuant to the article 73 of the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles of Association”), Mr. Wang Silian
and Professor Zhang Xiang, JP., who were appointed as
new Directors on 27 September 2024 and 26 March 2025
respectively, shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company in 2025 (the “2025 AGM”) and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Pursuant to
the articles 77 and 78 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Kang Guoming, Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip and Ms. Li Shuk Yin,
Edwina, being the Directors longest in office since their last
re-election, shall retire by rotation from office at the 2025 AGM
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The terms of appointment of the non-executive Directors
(“NEDs”) and INEDs are set out in the “Non-executive
Directors” and “Independent Non-executive Directors”
sections under Corporate Governance Report. A list of
names of all the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries
during the year and up to the date of this Report of the
Directors is available on the website of the Company
www.cebenvironment.com under the “Directors & Senior
Management” section.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes
of Directors and changes in information of the Directors since
the date of the Company’s 2024 interim report are as follows:

1. Mr. Suo Xuguan resigned as an INED, the chairman of
the Risk Management Committee, and a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee of the Company; Professor
Zhang Xiang, JP. was appointed as an INED, a member of
each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company; Mr. Kang Guoming, a NED,
was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee of
the Company; Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip, an INED, was
re-designated from a member of the Risk Management
Committee of the Company to the chairman thereof, all
with effect from 26 March 2025.

2. Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina, an INED, ceased to be an
independent non-executive director of Bank of Zhengzhou
Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange), with effect
from 3 March 2025.

3. Mr. Pan Jianyun, a NED, was appointed as an executive
director and the vice president of China Everbright Limited
(the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange),
with effect from 27 March 2025. He ceased to be a
director and vice president of China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited, with effect from 8 January 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of other

information which is required to be disclosed under Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS

During the year under review, save as disclosed under the
paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this Report
of the Directors, the Company or its subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries did not enter into any
contract of significance.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has
an unexpired service contract which is not terminable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the Company’s chief executives and
their respective associates in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and/or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) were as
follows:
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B Em#EAA @A
Note: Based on 6,142,975,292 shares of the Company inissue as at 31  [isX . RERZE-_MOE+_A=+—HHNARF

December 2024.

B8 1ThE196,142,975,20208 51 & o

Annual Report 2024 —Z " JIFFR



136

Report of the Directors EE G IR

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Long position in shares of Everbright Greentech, a
listed subsidiary of the Company

%%&ﬁmﬁﬁAgfkf @%k
MREFPHERS Z BT B (&
RERATZETHBABNKEBIRR
RipzFE
Approximate
Number of percentage of

shares held total issued

(ordinary shares) shares ("ote)
Name of Director Capacity Nature of interest FEZRMEH%E HEBETRGM
EEUA 13 BmtE (ZiER) HEE 93 Lt ¢
Fan Yan Hok, Philip Beneficial Owner Personal 100,494 Below 0.01%
SBICER EmEAA @A {£520.01%
Note: Based on 2,066,078,000 shares of Everbright Greentech in issue  MizF | RER S ZMNF+ZA=+—BHHX K&

as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company and
their respective associates had interests or short positions
in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company,
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited Bl AR &EE) BRAE

BIRRE ETRR1D2,066,078,000/% 5t & ©

bR EXFritES R _E_MWF+ZA
Z+—HB EFRERTESTHAER
REZBZHMBALIHMEERARLATHEE
AR EE (EER (EFEAG ) EXVE) 2
RiD-HEARODIESTHAERRE (RS
1%61) BIb2FMEABFIECMA R
“ﬁ}iﬁ"ENE#“((?FE&#E'J);E%D‘%Z!K“
RE Rz m e kA

ERRBERMUES ZEF

REBER > AAF HERMKE QS
ERADHABZMBLATDLES EEMR L
o REEFEJEBELILATNEMEM
EANBERRKRORESF MG m e



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than
any Directors or chief executives of the Company) were
substantial Shareholders and had interests or short positions
in shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange:

FERRREMATRERMD RHERK

M= XA

A _EBE_NEFE+_A=+—H T AL
(EMEEHXEARTARSTHABRIMN B
FERE > W AR BB HS A8 RS R 5
A RE(GES KA EI6ERBEEFEZE
EMANEHNEARD BT R R

KAMT :

Name of company Capacity Nature of interest
YAGIEZE g1 EEME

Number of long
position shares/
underlying long
position shares
(ordinary shares)
FaRG
HEAFERGHE®E
(BiER)

Approximate
percentage of
total issued
shares (ot )
HIEERITRG
48 B 4 L ()

Central Huijin Investment  Interest of controlled  Corporate interest 2,646,233,137 43.08%
Ltd. (“Huijin”) (ote 2 corporation NEIET

RRETKREFREE SEGLEN#T
nE] (T ) W2

China Everbright Interest of controlled Corporate interest 2,646,233,137 43.08%
Group (e ®) corporation NEIET

FREE KB ) SEH QBN D

Pacific Asset Management Other (4 364,604,778 5.94%
Co., Ltd. H Ay (9se)

Notes: ST -

(1) Based on 6,142,975,292 shares of the Company in issue as at 31
December 2024.

(2) Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council of the People’s
Republic of China and holds 63.16% equity interests of China
Everbright Group. It is deemed to be interested in the 2,646,233,137
shares of the Company indirectly held by China Everbright Group.

(1) RER-ZZMF+_A=1+T—HHNAEARRAEE

THE196,142,975,29208 51 & o

(2 BETHPEARHANBEZREZZEERS I
FADPEDEKREEBE3.16%R 1 o H AR 25
HAREEMRTFE 22,646,233,137TRA AT K5

A i o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(8) China Everbright Group, through its direct wholly-owned subsidiary,
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited (“CE Hong Kong”),
indirectly and wholly owns Guildford Limited (“Guildford”) and
Everbright Investment & Management Limited (‘EIM”), respectively.
Guildford directly holds 2,430,442,287 shares of the Company
and EIM directly holds 215,790,850 shares of the Company.
Accordingly, China Everbright Group is deemed to be interested in the
2,646,233,137 shares of the Company directly held by Guildford and
EIM in total.

(4) Pacific Asset Management Co., Ltd invested the shares of the
Company as manager for and on behalf of China Pacific Life
Insurance Co., Ltd., and some portfolio insurance asset management
products.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
Company had not been notified of any other persons (other
than the Directors or chief executives of the Company or
substantial Shareholders) who had interests or short positions
in shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Group has no share option scheme during the year under
review.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
latest practicable date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles of Association provides that every Director shall
be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all
liabilities incurred by him/her in relation to the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgement is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is
acquitted. In addition, liability insurance for the Directors and
senior management of the Company is maintained by the
Company with appropriate coverage for certain legal actions
against the Directors and senior management of the Company.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited FREI}AIRE: (M) BRAF

FERRREMATREN RHERK
MHEERXE (&)

MizE : (&

(@) FEAAEERSBEEREZERBABPEILAK
ERAERAD ((HAETB) NBEIELE2EESR
Guildford Limited (MGuildford 1) RN AR EEES
RAT (MEARIREERE)) » MGuildfordEEFA
ANF)2,430,442,28 7R RN s AR B EEEE
FAEANT215,790,850 R A& 15 o BULL » FREDYE A
EEWEANRGuUIdford R AR EEEEZTE
$£2,646,233,137R A A B RMH P HEB R

(4) Pacific Asset Management Co., LtdfE&#EIE £
RPBEKRFFASERBEROBRRABD RBIEE
HEaRBREEEEER RELAATRKM -

fr EXFRitESN R Z_E_MNFE+ZA
=St+—HR FxRFPUEREEFFEMAL
(EFHEFHEARARSTHRABERETE
RREBRIN HHBBN > RN ARIBER
P RAERRD PR RE(EZFHH) 5336
HRABFZELMANBRI KA -

FERR eS8
AEERODBRENT EBRESS -

BN ARFTRE

REBEXERBAABZARER  UKRMESR
PRA G RAFRTEMNERERTTH
o RABMFR(ETRIFIRE 2 AR

RE -

HEEFRY R E

(BRRMRDIRE  *RBRUXRBZE
TOREFHAEBAEAARZEREAMNEZE
REFHETHETEH BHFIEFRE
NZAREEFHBE LI XRTES
EEkFRFEIZEREEAERBESEER
B B ETHHESRARTDZSHREE
ANEMFHZ ZRFRRHEEEZRE-



EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year
and subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

On 15 December 2022, the employee healthcare protection
services master agreement was entered into between the
Company and China Everbright Group, pursuant to which,
China Everbright Group has agreed to procure its associates,
including but not limited to Sun Life Everbright and its
associates, to provide the Healthcare Protection Entrusted
Management Scheme, the Long-term Supplemental Medical
Insurance Protection Scheme and other employee healthcare
protection services to the Group. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2022. Mr.
Luan Zusheng, the Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer, has abstained from voting to approve the agreement
and the annual caps thereunder in the Board meeting due to
the fact that he is a director of Sun Life Everbright. Save as
disclosed above, there was no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance subsisting during or at the end of the
year in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this annual report, as far as the Directors are
aware of, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had any interests in a business which competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group or any other conflicts of interests with the Group.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 334
and 335 of this annual report.

Pz 22 #5091 5%
FWo WEST U EMRREHDGE TEAE
AR EHBMERFEEBNAFE

EENXZ LHAENZEDR

TEF+ZBE+AB ARBEHEA
EAxAEEET(EERREFREREE R
Z) OB FEXAKEENEREERE
AN(BEEBFABRRARKBEEEBREA) @
AEBRBREREREZTEESE R
BB ERMREFSREMESRER
ERE AR BHNAATHEBEALA S
T TE+ZBTHEBZASE - HITEER
MHESEEARLECNEET TR LHER
EPMELIABEREETITNEFE LR
FERRRANXKXKBHNES R LAKE
ENOBEANSRAESTHEMNEHERH
BRERBNMANSLCEZEABEBEEEEAX
BEaNEERG ZTHERENELAFENRN
NELE BRI AER -

R PEEB 2B

RAFHRBH REFHAN KEFTARSF
BEEZHBALIHEREAREEETBN
BEFHFEBARF (THBEZHBER) 2
XBThHEAEA D TEEFXEREE
Ry H fth ] m 2 o

IRITEFRKREMEE

REBR _ZE_MNE+_-_B=+—HZIR
TEFREMEBEFEBHNRYHRRN =
290
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PROPERTIES
Particulars of the major properties of the Group are shown on
page 336 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Company provides retirement benefits to all local
eligible employees in Hong Kong under an approved defined
contribution provident fund (the “ORSO Scheme”). The ORSO
Scheme is administered by trustees, the majority of which are
independent, with its assets held separately from those of the
Company. The ORSO Scheme is funded by contributions from
employees and employer at 5% each based on the monthly
salaries of employees.

As from 1 December 2000, the Group also operates a
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously
covered by the ORSO Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement scheme administered by independent
trustees. Under the Group’s MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 10% and 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
respectively. Employees can choose to contribute with a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Forfeited
contribution (i.e. the contribution handled by employers on
behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in such contributions) may be used to reduce the existing
level of contribution by the Company. The Company’s cost
in respect of defined contribution plans for the year has
been charged to the profit or loss for the year. Forfeited
contributions of HK$423,181 were used to reduce the current
year’s level of contributions and no forfeited contribution
was available at 31 December 2024 to reduce future years’
contributions. The employees of the subsidiaries of the
Company in the PRC are members of the retirement schemes
operated by the local authorities. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to these
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to these schemes is the required contributions
under the schemes. The Group’s total contributions to these
schemes charged to the consolidated income statement
during the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
HK$369,205,000.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited FEI¥AIRE (M) BRAF

LS
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

In accordance with the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Board is of the view that
all INEDs are independent and satisfy the requirements under
Rule 3.13 (notwithstanding that for Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip
under Rule 3.13(7) of the Listing Rules, he had been a NED
prior to his re-designation as an INED) and the Company has
received an annual written confirmation of independence from
each of the INED pursuant to the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The Company has changed its auditor in 2024. Since the
number of years that the Company has continuously engaged
Ernst & Young (“EY”) has reached the prescribed time limit,
according to the relevant regulations issued by the Ministry
of Finance of the People’s Republic of China, the State-
owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of the State Council, and China Securities Regulatory
Commission regarding the restriction on the years of services
that an accounting firm can continuously provide to a state-
owned enterprise, and in order to maintain good corporate
governance and the independency of auditor, EY retired as
the auditor of the Company upon the expiration of its term of
office, and KPMG was appointed as auditor of the Company in
place of the retiring auditor, EY, with effect from the conclusion
of the 2024 annual general meeting held on 30 May 2024.

At the 2025 AGM, KPMG will retire and, being eligible,
offer itself for re-appointment and a resolution for the re-
appointment of KPMG as the auditor of the Company will be
proposed.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

WANG Silian
Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BBk S

KpMGE

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA EVERBRIGHT
ENVIRONMENT GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Everbright Environment Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 153
to 3383, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Audiitor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited FEIY}AIRE: (M) BRAF
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B %2R S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

HEEStEIR
HREBSAFTEESRBERFANEZEH & R
AREFPGEEUTERENBFERAEEN
FSE-ZSFHEEEHMBFEREGRSY
BHREAMMASTRFEREE  BRMATIHEZ
SEREHREBNER-

HEEWIRRNEREENTFARESHEE

Assessing expected credit losses on debtors and contract assets

2B E IR AN 2326 I 522. 4 59 & 51 (5 ©

Refer to notes 23 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4.

The Key Audit Matter
FAREtFIA

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

BB MARIERRETSFE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of debtors
and contract assets amounted to HK$21,127 million and
HK$107,282 million respectively, net of expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) on these assets of HK$2,144 million.
BE_Z_NE+ZRA=+—H BRURFNERAEEN
FREEXED A A EK211.27ETMAE1,072.828 7T > b
EEEENTEAEEREE ((FRHREEEEL) BiE21.447%
ITo

Management performed ECLs assessment of debtors and
contract assets without significant financing component
under the simplified approach whereas contract assets
with significant financing component under the general
approach.
EEEFEABCREER LB ERME MM IR UKERR
MERBEETHERESESEN G MEBEAMEND
NWERBECER —MREERZE-

Significant management judgements are involved in the
assessment of ECLs after considering historical settlement
pattern, ageing profiles and credit rating of debtors.
AERTREEEERN REER  BUERRERTRE
EEEERREEHENFT AL T EZAHE-

Our audit procedures to assess the ECLs
on debtors and contract assets included the
following:
BMTERERRN R EERRAEESE
HNESEFEEUATAR !

e understanding and evaluating the Group’s
policy and method for estimating the
ECLs according to applicable accounting
standards;

e REBIRITEHERME R EHEMT
it BEEMGEAGEEBENBEERNA
=

e assessing the appropriateness of the key
assumptions used by management in the
ECLs assessment, including the basis for
segmentation of the debtors and contract
assets based on similar credit risk profile
of its customers;

e FMEEEERRMEEBRBITEPRERAN
FAREBXNBEEN 0ERBEETFANE
LUE R B R 8 2 R AN & B & &
Rk % ;
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B %2R S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FHEEStEIE (&

FERBIERRNERAEENTAREEHEE ()

Assessing expected credit losses on debtors and contract assets (continued)

R B IR 523 1251 11 52,4 B & 51 ©

Refer to notes 23 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4.

The Key Audit Matter
PR E Tt EIA

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

HAINE

st R R R T 5t FIH

We identified assessing expected credit losses on debtors
and contract assets as a key audit matter because
determining the level of loss allowance requires the exercise
of significant management judgement and estimation which
are inherently subjective.

BPIRHERB RSN SR EENTRHEEEBERE RS —
ERRESSE AR EEBEREESKITREE2THEER
BREXRAEBMGE > MELEHENGstAE LT EHR -

assessing the inputs used by the
management in the ECLs assessment,
including whether the debtors and
contract assets were categorised in the
appropriate ageing bands by comparing
individual items to the relevant underlying
supporting documents, on a sample basis;

ML EEEERAEEHEERFERERN
BRABEEBEREFABEEEZEAERS

X HETHRLEER BURRMNEREE
EESHDBEBEENRESRT

with the assistance of our internal
specialists, evaluating the methodology of
ECLs calculation and the key parameters
used with reference to external available
data; and
EREBEXRNBENT > sTETRAEEEIE
SFENR EZmUAKRBZEIINEBA BERER
IRA ISR 5 A

re-performing the calculation of the ECLs
as at 31 December 2024 based on the
Group’s ECLs allowance policies, inputs
and assumptions.

RIEEENEREEEREFBRR KA
MRR > EMFBEBRE_T_NE+_A

=+—HNEREEBE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

TSt EE (B

Assessing impairment of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

BREE -YE BERKEBEUREDESZENFERETG

Refer to notes 15, 16 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4.

D EGGHERAN 15 167118 K H1522. 4089 & 5 7% ©

The Key Audit Matter
Bt EIR

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

BANE M REEREETFE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets amounted to HK$29,839 million, HK$7,949
million and HK$714 million respectively.

A ZE_MNFE+ZA=+—H BFEEE-VE -BREXK
REREAREEZREEBED A2 EE208.39F T B
79.491R T R BT 1418 7T °

Management allocates intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to separately identifiable
cash generating units (“CGUs”) and assesses if there are
any indications of impairment of these CGUs.
EEERBRTLEE - WX BERIRBURGAEEEDK
MEBEBETHNNREELSNU (MREeEELBM) » W
ELEREELBENEEREEREIR

At the financial reporting date, management reviewed the
CGUs to determine whether there were any indicators of
impairment. When indicators of impairment are identified,
management assesses the recoverable amounts of CGUs.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense in the
consolidated income statement if the carrying amounts
of the CGUs exceed their recoverable amounts. The
recoverable amounts of the CGUs are the higher of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use.

TUBREH EEBEE TRTELEM UHERSH
FERFEETR EREEBIERR BEEBILRTESE
BUMAKRESE MR RETEFEMNRESEBEH
A EI£EE  AFEEEBEGReBaRTEIRERA -RE
ELBANTWEEBEARNABERERENANERE
EFHNBRSE-

Our audit procedures to assess the
impairment of intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
included the following:
BRPTEBEEEE X - RERREURE
AREEEBNSAEFEEUTASR !

e evaluating management’s identification
of CGUs and the allocation of assets to
each relevant CGU with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

s ZERTEHENNENR TEEEEY
REEFEMNHENU RS EERRES
EEBUNBEEDK ;

e assessing the reasonableness of the
revenue growth rates and gross profit
margins adopted by management by
referring to industry and other available
third party information, the recent financial
performance of each relevant CGU
subject to impairment assessment and
management’s plans for future operations;

s BBEZENENHMIANE=FEE"
BEREETHEEIGENERRTELE
R BRBEUKREEENARRES
SR EEERANKRAEBRERNE
MENSIEYE ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

TSt FIE (B

(continueqd)

Assessing impairment of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

BREE-ME -BEAKBURERAEE EREIETGE (&)

Refer to notes 15, 16 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4.

B EAREERENEE15 16H118LA R 572. 40 & 517 °

The Key Audit Matter
FEEtRIA

How the matter was addressed in our
audit
BTN EIRRAREEIE

In assessing the value in use, the projected cash flows
associated with the CGUs are discounted. The preparation
of discounted cash flow forecasts can be highly subjective
and requires the exercise of significant management
judgement and estimation, in particular in determining
revenue growth rates, gross profit margins and discount
rates applied.

EEEREER  HERSTES BMUBANESFRER
EETHR - MRBESRBANGRAIEAEESENTE
M BREEEBMEERAEMG SIS ERE WAL
B -EFNXNMEANMIREESE-

We identified assessing impairment of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as
a key audit matter because of the significant management
judgement and estimation required in making assumptions
and estimations which are inherently uncertain and could be
subject to management bias.
BMRBLEE -V BERRBEURGCHEEENFESR
EEES —ERREFFE ARAEEEEMEREM
EERREZETEENHE MG MELRRMEETA
BIRTREN TEEERIEEERENEE

with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists, assessing the
appropriateness the methodology applied
by management with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards and the reasonableness of the
discount rates used by benchmarking
against other comparable companies
and considering the risks specific to
each relevant CGU subject to impairment
assessment;

ARMABEEERNHE T 28T
St EBRE  TEEEEMERA LR
BEE WABEHEMASLERNATE
TEELERRE RETHEBTENESEE
HEESXBUMNETERRE sTEPAFERR

REREZEHRE;

obtaining from management sensitivity
analyses of the key assumptions adopted
in the discounted cash flow forecasts to
evaluate the impact of changes in the key
assumptions to the conclusions reached
and whether there are any indicators of
management bias;

HEBEEGRRRESRBA P ERANE
(R 5 B BURE 72 4 > LTS R SR R B0
SBLHSLHERNREE URREFETE
EBERAONER;
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B %2R S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

TSt EE (B

(continued)

BREE-ME -BEAKBURERAEEEEIETGE (&)

Assessing impairment of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

B S EIREN 16 167118 R [ 52.4F 59 &

ETIER °

Refer to notes 15, 16 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4.

The Key Audit Matter
BT EIE

How the matter was addressed in our
audit
EMOB N EIERREE T SE

comparing the key assumptions included
in the discounted cash flow forecasts
prepared in the prior year with the current
year’s performance of each relevant
CGU subject to impairment assessment
and making enquiries of management
as to the reasons for any significant
variations identified, to assess whether
the judgement made by management in
the preparation of the discounted cash
flow forecasts in the prior year indicated
possible management bias; and

B E—FRENMBERERBARESH
R R M S A% BT FEIRT 8 R
REeEEFBEUNEFEBETIEE LM
BEEHIMZERIAEREECNEREA T
HEEEEERE L —FERRRERER
R EE S RAEERBRA TGRSR
ZRRE ;M

assessing the reasonableness of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of management’s
impairment assessment with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
2RIBTEFEINER FEEREY
R P B IR fE B FER T AT MR BB AV
Bk
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BBk S

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

1Z BUEM 7 28 5 AR G 1 5 R SR ARIERY
S1E

RHNERAHERGRSMBRREST
FEARRFRERMERNETAEKNLE
REANSEEFRE THEGERMAE
ROZHEME S -AREED BT (ER
B fFH > BRIL Z 5h R H A AR R o 3 A
TEMARSHRNTAEAEMALTE £
HEEEMSE

GEREESKTHNRFRE > EFERER
REBBESHERETHEFBEREREEX
#5552 R At o $5 5R R 2 BT LA E9 AR 5F SR #E ER S
e o N R % & 12 TR H 55 5R IR it {8 ) =X BE 4R
EROUEEXEGEYBRREBEMF
B9 AL R TE 0 B A B BY #8522 R A R AR AR
fEEX-

EREBEEBESHENETESNERES
RPERTEXRHE RETEXRREE
E-HMTg:

o B K 5Tk BB HREE 3K 55 AR T & AR
GUBBRREFEERERMRAN AR
R RPITESEFUREZE AR
U\ EMBEENEERE R
HPARRONER - BN REFRI LW K B
mORE-BEEER ERRA HEE
A EBEE1E 2 £ o (Rt oK BE 35 3R A #RBF
M 35 27 B9 55 A #8 52 Bk 2t B9 L e R (A 85 5R
MERNERERRANEESS
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

1Z BT 7L 28 51 AR G 1 5 R SR ARIERY
51T (%)
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B ZE TR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Ka Nang.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2025
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Consolidated Income Statement

RAEmR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_WE+"H=+—HILFEE

2024 2023
LS SO — -
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B BT BT T
REVENUE & B 30,258,009 32,090,207
Direct costs and operating expenses EIE A L& E & A (18,722,050)  (18,278,916)
Gross profit EF] 11,535,959 13,811,291
Other revenue H i & 6 1,169,183 1,064,351
Other income and losses, net Ht A KREBZ5 6 (1,990,227) (1,209,978)
Administrative expenses THE&R (2,828,073) (3,149,349)
PROFIT FROM OPERATING KSR TS &R H
ACTIVITIES 7,886,842 10,516,315
Finance costs M EA 7 (3,006,954) (3,527,788)
Share of (losses)/profits of joint FritaE itz (BB /&BF
ventures (13,140) 113,439
Share of profits of associates Pk Bt E A B & A 393 22,518
PROFIT BEFORE TAX bRIR AT A F 8 4,867,141 7,124,484
Income tax FrigiR 11 (893,495) (1,827,333)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEERBH 3,973,646 5,297,151
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: FE(LZR1D -
Equity holders of the Company KABE=RFTEA 3,377,200 4,429,160
Holders of perpetual capital KEBEATEIFEA
instruments 36 190,939 226,563
Non-controlling interests JEER = 405,507 641,428
3,973,646 5,297,151
EARNINGS PER SHARE KA FTA A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY (LSRR EA
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13
- Basic and diluted — BRI E HK54.98 HK72.10
centsE1l centsA L
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FEEHEEER

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_WE+"HA=+—HILFE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR NEERF 3,973,646 5,297,151
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hit2mUW A
INCOME
Other comprehensive income that may R EBHRBEIEEHDIEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in BmixsHME2EEA :
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences: PERERE
Exchange differences on translation MBEBINERESL
of foreign operations, fERZE% (BINRZRNIE)
net of nil tax (1,462,720) (2,398,740)
Debt instruments at fair value through AR EF AEMEE
other comprehensive income: WAZBEBEILR:
Changes in fair value, net of tax R EE (BMNFRRIE) (1,021,344) (293,054)
Net other comprehensive income that R EBHEABIBIAEEHRDEE
may be reclassified to profit or loss in @&z ZHMtMEEUWA
subsequent periods FER (2,484,064) (2,691,794)
Other comprehensive income that will R EB BT ZERH
not be reclassified to profit or loss in DEEB@mKRL
subsequent periods: H2mWA :
Other financial assets measured BARNESAEM
at fair value through other EWAGEZ
comprehensive income: HMMBEE !
Changes in fair value, net of nil tax NAEES (BINRERIE) (1,176) (23,913)
Net other comprehensive income that REBHBASEHOE
will not be reclassified to profit or EEmrx HMEE
loss in subsequent periods A FRE (1,176) (23,913)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME REFEHEHMPEUITA
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (BRI IE) (2,485,240) (2,715,707)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME KEEZHEULALERE
FOR THE YEAR 1,488,406 2,581,444
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: FEAE SR :
Equity holders of the Company FREIE@mFAA 1,421,527 2,182,638
Holders of perpetual capital KEEATIEFAEA
instruments 190,939 226,563
Non-controlling interests JEITERG HE a (124,060) 172,243
1,488,406 2,581,444
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMFEIRRR

31 December 2024 —ZEZNF+_"F=+—H

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5 BT T BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investment properties KEYE 14 177,013 169,940
Property, plant and equipment Y RE KR E 15 7,948,751 8,772,807
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 713,746 807,201
8,839,510 9,749,948
Goodwill BmE 17 1,448,432 1,535,542
Intangible assets EBEEE 18 29,839,065 30,975,754
Interests in joint ventures HEbEER 19 1,021,899 1,055,810
Interests in associates BE NG Em 20 564,715 598,650
Contract assets BHNEE 23 93,292,211 94,892,432
Finance lease receivables FEHEE WS 24 11,262 12,263
Other financial assets HMAHEE 21 137,910 150,164
Other receivables, deposits and HEWRIE BT Rk
prepayments FA(T I8 25 1,911,331 2,445,301
Deferred tax assets RIETRIEE B 33 1,186,237 613,814
Total non-current assets JEMBNE EARRE 138,252,572 142,029,678
CURRENT ASSETS TMENE E
Inventories F& 22 987,966 894,628
Contract assets BHEE 23 13,989,666 13,078,653
Finance lease receivables EMREE R 24 805 771
Other financial assets HtA B EE 21 32,928 121,148
Debtors, other receivables, deposits ~ FEURBRZr ~ ELfth fE Ug =R IE ~
and prepayments BE RTENRIE 25 24,713,884 24,419,721
Tax recoverable ENEE | 7,207 5,485
Pledged bank deposits BIERIRITER 26 106,165 176,680
Deposits with banks with maturity ERHEB=EAZ
period over three months RITIFER 26 40,209 20,844
Cash and cash equivalents HBEMREEEY 27 7,895,622 8,433,216
Total current assets BB EAELE 47,774,452 47,153,146

Annual Report 2024 —Z[IFEER

155



156

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

= .AH
I

MAFSIA R

31 December 2024 —EZNE+_"F=+—H

2024 2023
“EIME —_E_=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M5 BT BT
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEE
Creditors, other payables and FEAT AR =N~ E MBI 7B
accrued expenses K EsTE B 28 16,372,025 17,527,132
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 29
— Secured kit 4,374,110 3,716,573
— Unsecured —miE 14,329,956 19,401,845
18,704,066 23,118,418
Tax payable eI IE 655,747 539,330
Total current liabilities MENBEAERE 35,731,838 41,184,880
NET CURRENT ASSETS MBEEFLE 12,042,614 5,968,266
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBER
LIABILITIES 150,295,186 147,997,944
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERsHas
Other payables H eI I8 28 724,213 468,945
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 29
— Secured —BiEHR 35,903,145 36,609,182
— Unsecured — ER I 37,062,228 34,896,544
72,965,373 71,505,726
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEE R 33 10,189,024 10,500,052
Total non-current liabilities FEREE[E4ERE 83,878,610 82,474,723
NET ASSETS B E G 66,416,576 65,523,221

China Everbright Environment Group Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEMFERRE

31 December 2024 —ZEZNF+_"F=+—H

2024 2023
—ETME —_EBE=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M =% BB BETIT
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to equity holders of ZRA B #EFFHF A
the Company P& 1 =
Share capital &N 34 17,329,537 17,329,537
Reserves (G4 35 30,881,423 30,811,351
48,210,960 48,140,888
Non-controlling interests JEER R 11,403,285 11,673,720
Perpetual capital instruments KEBEATHR 36 6,802,331 5,708,613
TOTAL EQUITY R m A2 KA 66,416,576 65,523,221
Wang Silian Luan Zusheng
T B Hk 5440 %
Director Director
EE EBEE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EERBEBR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_WE+"HA=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the

Company
RAREGRA B
Goodwill
Share arising on
capital consolidation
GakEEE
Bz g
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mgk BETT BT
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=%-F—-R 17,329,637 (986)
Profit for the year KEERA - -
Other comprehensive income for the year: FEEEMREHRA -
Changes in fair value of other financial assets measured BAREGARMEANAGEZHMHABEEL
at fair value through other comprehensive income, net of nil tax AnELE ENRTRE) - =
Changes in fair value of debt instruments at fair value through BAREGFARMEARAZBEIAZ AREES
other comprehensive income, net of tax (BMkiE) - -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net of tax BEENEBEEZERER CNBRRE) - -
Total comprehensive income for the year KEERARALE - -
Issuance of perpetual capital instruments BTKEELTR 36 - -
Dividend approved in respect of the previous year BREEEEZRS 12 - -
Transfer to reserve fund BRTHES - -
Capital contributions received by non wholly-owned subsidiaries from FREMBAINFERRENBFIEZHESR
non-controlling shareholders - -
Acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary WE-RREAREERER 39 - -
Dividend declared to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries EENBARFERRRERZKRE - -
Interim 2023 dividend “RICFPERE 12 - -
Distributions payable to holders of perpetual capital instruments ENXEEXTAREAZDR 36 = =
At 31 December 2023 ZE-=#+2B=+-8 17,329,537 (086"
At 1 January 2024 RIBZME-A—-AH 17,329,537 (986)
Profit for the year KEERA - -
Other comprehensive income for the year: FEEHMPEHRA
Changes in fair value of other financial assets measured BAREGAEMEANASEZEMHBEEL
at fair value through other comprehensive income, net of nil tax AREED BMRIRE) - -
Changes in fair value of debt instruments at fair value through BARESARMEARAZBETAZ AREES
other comprehensive income, net of tax (BkH#IE) - -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net of tax BEENEREEZEREE BNRRE) - -
Total comprehensive income for the year AEERERALE - -
Issuance of perpetual capital instruments RTKEELTIR 36 - -
Dividend approved in respect of the previous year BREEEEZRE 12 - -
Transfer to reserve fund BEERES - -
Capital contributions received by non wholly-owned subsidiaries from FRENBADMIFERRRRRA Sz HER
non-controlling shareholders - -
Dividend declared to non-controling shareholders of subsidiaries EENBAREERRRERZEE - -
Interim 2024 dividend “RTMERHRE 12 - -
Distributions payable to holders of perpetual capital instruments EfXEEATIAREEAZDR 36 - -
At 31 December 2024 RIE-ME+ZE=1+—-H 17,329,537 (986)*

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERERBEGEEVBRRERRAITEG R

HK$30,881,423,000 (2023: HK$30,811,351,000) in the consolidated EA130,881,423,000c (Z2 =4 : B

statement of financial position.

30,811,351,0007T) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e EmEER

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_—Z_UF+_F=+—HI-FE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RATEERE B
Other financial
assets and debt
instruments
measured
at fair value
Property through other Non- Perpetual
revaluation Exchange comprehensive Other Reserve Retained controlling capital Total
reserve reserve income reserve reserves fund profits Total interests instruments equity
BARBIAEM
2EBAGEZ
HitmBEE XE
MESHREE ERMHE REEIARE HinfEs e REBRF anm FERER BAIR EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BlETr BETT BET BETT BT BT BETT BETT
90,512 (3,967,127) (57,994) 3,295,127 3,553,505 27,121,534 47,374,108 11,769,351 3,455,434 62,598,893
- - - - - 4,429,160 4,429,160 641,428 226,563 5,297,151
- - (23,913) - - - (23,913 - - (23,913)
- - (205,059) - - - (205,059) (87,995) - (293,054)
- (2,017,550) - - - - (2,017,550) (381,190) - (2,398,740
- (2,017,550) (228,972) - - 4,429,160 2,182,638 172,243 226,563 2,581,444
- - - - - - - - 2,263,179 2,253,179
- - - - - (552,868) (552,868) - - (552,868)
- - - - 611,197 (611,197) - - - -
- - - - - - - 63,947 - 63,947
- - - (2,979) - - (2,973 (19,613) - (22,586)
- - - - - - - (312,208) - (312,208)
- - - - - (860,017) (860,017) - - (860,017)
- - - - - - - - (226,563) (226,563)
90,512 (6,974,677)" (286,966) 3,292,154 4,164,702 29,526,612 48,140,888 11,673,720 5,708,613 65,523,221
90,512 (5,974,677) (286,966) 3,292,154 4,164,702 29,526,612 48,140,888 11,673,720 5,708,613 65,523,221
- - - - - 3,377,200 3,377,200 405,507 190,939 3,973,646
- - (1,176) - - - (1,176) - - (1,176)
- - (730,971) - - - (730,971) (290,373) - (1,021,344)
- (1,223,526) - - - - (1,223,526) (239,194) - (1,462,720)
- (1,223,526) (732,147) - - 3,377,200 1,421,527 (124,060) 190,939 1,488,406
- - - - - - - - 1,084,935 1,084,935
- - - - - (491,438) (491,438) - - (491,438)
- - - - 648,936 (648,936) - - - -
- - - - - - - 49,295 - 49,295
- - - - - - - (195,670) - (195,670)
- - - - - (860,017) (860,017) - - (860,017)
- - - - - - - - (182,156) (182,156)
90,512 (7,198,203)* (1,019,113)* 3,292,154 4,813,638 30,903,421* 48,210,960 11,403,285 6,802,331 66,416,576
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
:\\TEIEEE/)ILE‘?E

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_WE+"HA=+—HILFE

2024 2023
“EIUE .
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B =E AETT BT T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 4 S B
Profit before tax K$$ﬁﬁlJm$'J 4,867,141 7,124,484
Adjustments for: KB
Depreciation of property, plant and ME--BEKRKREITE
equipment 8 668,991 657,564
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 8 75,986 74,013
Amortisation of intangible assets m B EHE 8 1,455,659 1,444,112
Write-down of inventories to net FEMRETEIRFE
realisable value 8 - 35,405
Finance costs T ER 7 3,006,954 3,527,788
Dividend income % B U A 6 - (857)
Interest income F B U A 6 (87,187) (119,464)
Share of losses/(profits) of FrihaEtEEsE
joint ventures (B F) 13,140 (113,439)
Share of profits of associates FﬁfﬁﬂﬁzM/\T%ﬂ (393) (22,518)
Fair value (gains)/losses, net: ARE Wm) B8
FER 1
Other financial assets HtHBEE
— unlisted equity investment —FLHRAKE 6 (464) 1,586
Other financial assets HMMBEE
— unlisted investments —JELmKE 6 (670) 51,343
Fair value gain on investment KEMEAREWE
properties 6 (1,060) (1,383)
Expected credit losses on debtors,  EUWERFFERAEE 18
net TR 2B 6 439,103 572,172
Expected credit losses on other H e R IE
receivables, net TEHAE BEE1RF 58 6 117,790 21,599
Reversal of expected credit losses EHNEERHEEBR
on contract assets, net P EERE O] 6 (12,835) (91,022)
Impairment of goodwill EEFER 6 63,697 -
Impairment of property, MR EKREHEER
plant and equipment 6 600,124 380,086
Impairment of intangible assets mILEEFER 6 696,868 210,144
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREESERE 6 82,825 65,423
Loss on disposal and write-off of HE RS2 BB
property, plant and equipment, net BB BB 6 4,506 30
Loss on disposal and write-off of HERMERTLEE .
intangible assets, net B8 2R 6 443 2,852
Effect of foreign exchange rates EXEE 2 B
changes, net (332,052) (711,502)
Operating cash flows before working &1 & & & &) A1 19
capital changes REPEME 11,665,566 13,108,416
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 75 (gm R (109,046) 57,527
Increase in contract assets BHEEEN (1,038,496) (1,097,470)
Increase in debtors, other receivables, F&UER R~ H fth F& I =R IE
deposits and prepayments & R AN RIBIE N (2,235,952) (4,638,183)
Decrease in creditors, other payables FE{tBR=x ~ E{th fE (T R IE K
and accrued expenses FEsH & AR D (528,986) (4,462,878)

China Everbright Environment Group Limited FEIY}AIRE: (M) BRAF



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
nv'R EE%/)IL%%E

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_WE+"H=+—HILFEE

2024 2023
“EmF ===
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M =E BT T BT T
Cash generated from operations KERE RS 7,753,086 2,967,412
Interest received BlFHR 87,187 119,464
People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”)  BAYHZE A RHA
and overseas income taxes paid (Teh[EDy) K289 1SHR (1,058,003) (591,802)
Net cash generated from operating KEEBFTIS 2
activities fﬁié‘j‘ %8 6,782,270 2,495,074
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEEH
Dividend received BWRE - 857
Purchase of items of property, BEYE -BENEZE
plant and equipment (717,947) (1,083,796)
Proceeds from disposal of items of ~ HEYE -BELZE
property, plant and equipment FRi§= 18 88,252 56,686
Proceed from disposal of items of HEBFEEZMERIE
intangible assets 1,663 -
Additions of prepaid land lease mEEM T HIAERE
payments 16 - (17,675)
Additions of intangible assets WEBETEE (1,648,476) (2,658,198)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U EKT B A B 38 - (86,037)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RBRBAR - -
Capital contributions to joint ventures FTB & &% (16,193) (33,717)
Capital contribution to an associate Iﬁﬂ%ﬁ%’& - (443)
Dividend received from joint ventures W&=TEWEZ KRR 20,106 27,660
Dividend income received from %WM’\TWHEZH WA
an associate 23,768 -
Decrease in amounts & W Bt ' A B IR R D
due from an associate 9,012 2,836
Increase in non-current portion FE{T R IEIERN EA 14 18 0
of prepayments - (61,269)
Repayment from finance R ETHE R KNERIEENR
lease receivables - 729
Purchase of other financial assets BEHMTBEEE - (1,569
Proceeds from disposal and HE K ER E A 75
redemption of other financial assets & EFT1E A 95,082 10,690
(Increase)/decrease in deposits FRHABB=EAE
with banks with maturity period RITER (L) R
over three months (17,961) 4,075
Net cash used in KREEHMEEZ
investing activities H4 B H (2,162,694) (3,839,171)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
:\\TEIEEE/)IL%;E

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_WE+"HA=+—HILFE

2024 2023
“EmE —E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B =E BETT BT T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ME R
Proceeds from issue of perpetual BIOKEEATEMEHA
capital instruments 36 1,088,200 2,258,600
Payment of transaction cost on issue XA TKEBSARTE
of perpetual capital instruments M= (3,265) (5,421)
Proceeds from issue of medium TR E (TRHAERE))
term notes (“MTN”), asset-backed BESFRES
securities (“ABS”), and super and (MEEXFRS) &
short-term commercial papers B AR E 5 (B2
(“SCP”) RMEF) PTERIB 11,806,574 11,650,084
Payment of transaction cost on issue Sz A RIEETHHIZ 45
of MTN, ABS and SCP BEEXIFE S MBREH
MBS (20,589) (19,608)
Repayment of corporate bond, MTN, {EEASES  PHEE
ABS and SCP BEXRRS RBREH
MES (4,390,118) (5,233,595)
New bank and other loans IZIRITREMER 22,691,805 30,565,748
Repayment of bank and other loans  BERITREMERR (31,533,573)  (35,397,323)
Capital contributions received by E2EN B AR NIEER
non wholly-owned subsidiaries from  ARERUKERFF1S 2~ HE B
non-controlling shareholders 49,295 26,760
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U 88 JE1%= B 1 4 39 - (22,586)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to FE{THI B A BT FEFERE RS R
non-controlling shareholders FIEB, R
of subsidiaries 1,283 (1,118)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits B EHIR{TERUR L 68,568 956,340
Interest paid BAFE 40 (3,005,203) (3,470,406)
Interest portion of lease payments HERBZF EEMH (6,215) (6,854)
Principal portion of lease payments ~ FAENIE Z A& (1D (49,500) (53,002)
Dividend paid to equity holders of ENEARBERFTEAZ
the Company Be (1,351,455)  (1,412,885)
Dividend paid to non-controlling BB RABIFERRKRE
shareholders of subsidiaries LA (195,670) (275,021)
Distribution to holders of perpetual ,\ﬁﬁzliiﬁhﬁ)\zﬁﬁ
capital instruments (182,719) (109,091)
Net cash used in financing activites B E EBIFFENAH
R B (5,032,582) (549,378)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND BERIBEEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS T B (413,006) (1,893,475)
Cash and cash equivalents FVRERIREEEBY
at the beginning of the year 8,433,216 10,591,242
Effect of foreign exchange PEREH) 2 o &35
rates changes, net (124,588) (264,551)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREEREEEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 27 7,895,622 8,433,216

China Everbright Environment Group Limited Bl AR &EE) BRAE



Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H

. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Everbright Environment Group Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Hong Kong. The registered office of the Company
is located at Room 2703, 27th Floor, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

1.

NEREBER

PECARERE (EE) ARAR (TARQ
A1) A —XRNEAEMRILZBERA
Blo RABZEMMERUNEBER
BTARERERFAL T LR -LE

=
==
=F°

During the year, the principal activities of the Company FROARBRENBAR (KfETAE
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) IJ) TEXFARS IRFEERER
are construction, environmental energy project operation (i_L I 2% TR~ éJ:EzF R 1IN R
(waste-to-energy plants, food and kitchen waste treatment fi IE E-STRERREEREEEE - 2ERKE
projects, sludge treatment and disposal projects, leachate EEE - AREEM EFEREER

treatment projects, methane-to-energy plants, fecal
treatment projects, fly ash landfill projects, medical waste
treatment projects and solid waste treatment projects,
and provision of waste sorting, renewable resources
utilisation and sanitation operation services), environmental
water project operation (waste water treatment plants,
water supply, reusable water treatment plants, sludge
treatment and disposal projects, sponge city construction,
river-basin ecological restoration, waste water source
heat pump projects, leachate treatment, research and
development of water environment technologies and

RRIEIBIZIEE BEREEYRIEEAS
BEEEEEUKRRERNKEDE -BE
BRNARBEEEERS) IRRAKF
HEES C5KEER- Hk - KE A
BER - SEEEREEEE - BHEMN
MERNMEAEE NS KEARIER
2R R BE I8 DA R IR 1R K 5 4% 1T B 2 e
ITHREREE) #RERREEES (&
MBS AEE CEKEEEREER
B-AERESEERRHDZEEER XU
RIEHIREEER)  ETRERKIM

engineering projects), greentech project operation ey IRHIRIE AR MAR « 25T IR
(integrated biomass utilisation projects, hazardous and FREE - IRHEFREEBEEREATZE
solid waste treatment projects, solar energy projects RBRIHERMEREURKEEZER -

and wind power projects, and provision of environmental
remediation services), conduct of environmental protection
technology research and development, provision of
environmental-related technological services, design
of environmental protection projects, provision of
environmental protection project equipment construction
and installation services and sales of related equipment,
and investment holding.

The immediate holding company of the Company is
Guildford Limited, a limited liability company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. In the opinion of the directors,
the ultimate holding entity of the Company is China
Investment Corporation, an entity established in the PRC.

KRNBI2BEZEZER AR AGuildford

Limited» EA N A BHET R B S

UZEREEAB - EFRAARA

ZE’E%@?’“HRE EATEKREEFRETA
T HARPEMRIIZERE-
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited FEIY}AIRE: (M) BRAF
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 0. BEHEE (8)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2ARNEE (&)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
exchange reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

e EE (E)
MEBARZMBREEALEHEE
ZHREHBER B ZE5tBRE
R-WBRARAZEBBRAERINRF
EREEHEGRS AR I—HR
GAR EEABEMBERLLEZAR
ke

BmkHMEE WA ZEHNE D
BERAEESLAERE AKRIFE
REm BIELEEETEHRIFERE
mHIRGEHERT R -PMAEEER
AREZzZEERGRE #m s WA
SXHUMREEEBRKRE AT ZEH
REERNREEREINGEGRE
By S B B o

WEBRBRER LM =BT #
AEHER-—ERZTHEEE  BRALX
EEESEMTLERSNHARES
MERERF - WBADEAEES
288 (LEXEEGE) KN ARE
SIEREIIZ 5 ©

HWAEAEBRE—KNBLAT ZES
BoEERILESEFNEE (BEB
B BR - EZAFEREDZRESR
#E, RERBERNDAREZREA
ZARERBmRAIERNEILE
ErBBFNBEAM REBGRE
REMEEBRAESRS Z B0 DR
EAEEERLERBEENER
MAKBEZRA-—EEZEMDEER
ERIAREEN RAEBER) °
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATSER R MIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKASs and HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these
financial statements for the current accounting period:

e Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements - Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current (“2020 amendments”) and
amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Non-current liabilities with covenants
(“2022 amendments”)

e Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases - Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

e Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash
flows and amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures — Supplier finance
arrangements

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the
amended HKASs and HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements (the 2020 and 2022
amendments, collectively the “HKAS 1
amendments”)

The HKAS 1 amendments impact the classification
of a liability as current or non-current, and have been
applied retrospectively as a package.

The 2020 amendments primarily clarify the
classification of a liability that can be settled in its
own equity instruments. If the terms of a liability
could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’'s own equity
instruments and that conversion option is accounted
for as an equity instrument, these terms do not affect
the classification of the liability as current or non-
current. Otherwise, the transfer of equity instruments
would constitute settlement of the liability and impact
classification.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited Bl AR &EE) BRAE
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Notes to Financial Statements
HATS ¥R IR MIEE

31 December 2024 — 2 HE+"H=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BETR (B

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22FHERZ2EE (&)

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements (the 2020 and 2022
amendments, collectively the “HKAS 1
amendments”) (continued)

The 2022 amendments specify that conditions with
which an entity must comply after the reporting date
do not affect the classification of a liability as current or
non-current. However, the entity is required to disclose
information about non-current liabilities subject to such
conditions.

The HKAS 1 amendments do not have a material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases - Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

The amendments clarify how an entity accounts for a
sale and leaseback after the date of the transaction.
The amendments require the seller-lessee to apply the
general requirements for subsequent accounting of the
lease liability in such a way that it does not recognise
any gain or loss relating to the right of use it retains.
A seller-lessee is required to apply the amendments
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application. The
amendments do not have a material impact on these
financial statements as the Group has not entered into
any sale and leaseback transactions.

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash
flows and amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures - Supplier finance
arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure
requirements to enhance transparency of supplier
finance arrangements and their effects on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. The
amendments do not have a material impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

ERTHENF1HE BT %
BEHNZEFN (CE_ZEER_F
—EEI RBATEEGE
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATSER R MIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENT, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
standards, which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group:

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21,
The effects of changes in
foreign exchange rates — Lack
of exchangeability
Amendments to HKFRS 9,
Financial instruments and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
disclosures — Amendments
to the classification and
measurement of financial
instruments
Annual improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 11
HKFRS 18, Presentation
and disclosure in financial
Statements
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries
without public
accountability: disclosures

1 January 2025

1 January 2026

1 January 2026

1 January 2027

1 January 2027

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 0. BEHEE (8)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 T EZHHBR

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures is included in the consolidated
income statement and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates or joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments
in the associates or joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or
joint ventures.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATSER R MIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate
or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of
significant influence or joint control and the fair value of
the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 0. BHE (#)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24X E TR (&

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwiill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, certain
equity investments and wealth management products,
and certain debt instruments at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BEHIE (8)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 T EZT K (B)

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation technigues for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation technigues for which the
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For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 0. BEINE (B)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEFHHEK (&)

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax
assets, financial assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the income statement
in the period in which it arises. An impairment loss in
respect of goodwill is not reversed.
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Notes to Financial Statements

AA TS ER R MY EE

31 December 2024 —Z2_WFE+"A=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Related parties

(@)

or

A person or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

() the entity and the Group are members of the
same group.

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viijthe entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
income statement in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Buildings Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 2% to 5%
Leasehold Over the shorter of the lease
improvements terms and 10%

4% to 20%
10% to 20%
8'/3% to 33"/5%

Plant and machinery

Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles, electronic
equipment and others

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) TR (&)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEFGEHE (&)

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the income
statement in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including right-of-use assets) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the income
statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the income
statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATSER R MIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

The following intangible assets are amortised from
the date they are available for use and their estimated
useful lives are as follows:

Environmental energy project operating rights 7 to 35 years
Environmental water project operating rights 20 to 32 years
Greentech project operating rights 6 to 50 years
Patents, trademarks and licences 6 to 20 years

Computer software 5 years
Backlog contracts 2 to 30 years
Technology 8 to 10 years
Customer relations 5to 7 years
Trade contracts 4 years

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in
the year the intangible asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant intangible asset.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —Z2_WFE+"A=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 0. BHBUE (8B)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEFGEHE (&)

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use
the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract
that contains a lease component and non-lease
component(s), the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate non-lease component(s)
and to account for the lease component and the
associated non-lease component(s) (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a
single lease component.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 10 to 50 years

Buildings 2 to 30 years

Plant and machinery 3 to 17 years

Motor vehicles, electronic 1 to 17 years
equipment and others

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset
is initially measured at cost, and subsequently
measured at fair value, in accordance with the
Group’s policy for “Investment properties”.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in
interest-bearing borrowings.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 0. BEHEE (8)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 X E TR (&)

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and
is included in other revenue in the income statement
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
other revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
At the commencement date, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the lease
payments and related payments (including the initial
direct costs), and presented as a receivable at an
amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The
finance income on the net investment in the lease is
recognised in the income statement so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of return over the lease terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the
exception of debtors that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus,
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Debtors that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 0. BHE (#)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEFGEHE (&)

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt investments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the income statement
and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair
value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
change recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to the income statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATSER R MIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the income statement. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the income statement
when the right of payment has been established,
except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset,
in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income are
not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
income statement.

This category includes derivative instruments and
investments which the Group had not irrevocably
elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in
the income statement when the right of payment has
been established.
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Notes to Financial Statements

TS ERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial

position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset

have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continueq)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for
credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost, contract assets
and lease receivables are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for debtors and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For debtors and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 0. BHE (#)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEFGEHE (&)

(continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses, and interest-bearing
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subseqguent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (creditors and
other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, creditors and other payables,
and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the income
statement when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in the income statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATSER R MIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of
the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contracts
at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in
accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 0. BEHEE (8)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHEK (&)

(continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at
fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair
value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of derivatives are taken directly to the income
statement, except for the effective portion of cash flow
hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive
income and later reclassified to profit or loss when the
hedged item affects profit or loss.

Perpetual capital instruments

Perpetual capital instruments with no contractual
obligation to repay the principal or to pay any
distribution are classified as part of the equity. Fees,
commissions and other transaction costs of the
issuance of instruments are deducted from equity. The
distributions on the instruments are accrued as profit
distribution.

Inventories

Inventories, mainly comprise construction materials,
biomass fuel, spare parts and consumables used in
the repairs and maintenance of the environmental
energy projects, environmental water projects and
greentech projects, and are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on
the weighted average basis. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal. When
inventories are consumed, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATSER R MIEE

31 December 2024 —ZE_WF+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits
as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in the
income statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BATEERRMIEE

31 December 2024 —E_F+_"F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor ta